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Audi torsod6 Report to the Shareholders of Discount I nvest ment

We have audited the attached consolidated statements of financial position of Discount Investment Corpordtiereiafter: the

fiCompany s at December 31, 2021 and 2020, as well as the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive incernmegghiynge

and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021. These financial statements arebttiy fsfhensi
Companyodés Board of Directors and management alst@enents; base¢ponoausauditi | i ty i s

We have not audited the financial statements of consolidated companies, including companies whose operations wereldisubmntirose
assets as included in the consolidation constituted approximately 9&pprukimately 9% of total consolidated assets as at December 31,
2021 and 2020, respectively, and whose income, including from discontinued operations, as included in the consolidéttibed cons
approximately 28%, approximately 28% and approximatelyo#%tal consolidated income for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020
and 2019, respectively. We have also not audited the financial statements of investee companies accounted by the dgintiutdiiyo
companies whose operations were discontinthedinvestment in which amounted to approximately NIS 282 million and approximately NIS
283 million as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and where the C@ngbang in their net losses amounted to approximately
NIS 32 million, approximately I 33 million and approximately NIS 46 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. The financial statements of those companies were audited by other auditors, whose reports were presadtedtopisjon,
insofar astirefers to the amounts included for those companies, is based on the reports provided by the other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel, including standards sktdorthArutd i t or s 6
RegulationfAudi t or 6 s Mo d g 57831973 Accofdimg tonthesecseandards, we are required to plan theaadgierform it in

order to obtain a reasonable measure of assurance about whether the financial statements are free of any materightnsrepesfarming

an audit includes testing, on a sample basis, the evidence provided to support the ardaofoisraation presented in the financial statements.

An audit also includes performing an evaluation of the accounting principles used and of the significant estimates madeChy thp any 6 s
management, as well as an evaluation of the overall adequaogsehfation in the financial statements. We believe that our audit, and the
reports provided by the other auditors, provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audit and on the reports provided by other auditors, the dexsitidacial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company and of its consolidated companies as at Dece@#ieasd 2020, as

well as their operating results, changes in equity and caels fior each of the three years in the period ended on December 31, 2021, in
accordance with international financial reporting stand4RS) and the provisions of the Securities Regulati¢¥isarly Financial
Statements 57762010.

We have also audie t he Companyds pro forma consolidated statements of finas
consolidated statements of income, for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, in connectimanséttitire

involving the acquisition of GaYam, which are included in Note 33 to the consolidated reffueteinafter: théiPro Forma Reports.)These

pro forma reports are the responsibility of the &uespaaopinidonon Boar d of
these pro forma reports, based on our audit.

We have not audited the financial statements of consolidated subsidiaries, whose assets as included in the consolidatézh cons
approximately 7% of total pro forma consolidated asastat December 31, 2021, and whose income as included in the consolidation
constituted approximately 21%, approximately 27% and approximately 4% of total pro forma consolidated income for thelg@ars en
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectivelyh&Ve also not audited the financial statements of equity accounted investee companies,
where the Companyds share in their | osses, as incl udpprdximately t he pr o
NIS 43 million for the yearended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectiVély financial statements of those companies were audited by

other auditors, whose reports were presented to us, and our opinion, insofar as it refers to the amounts included ttthosspemmpanies,

is based on the reports provided by the other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel, including standards sktdorthArutd i t or s 6
RegulationfAudi t or 6 s Mo d g 5783fl197F Accofding tonthesecsendards, we are required to plan the audit and perform it in

order to obtain a reasonable measure of assurance about whether the financial statements are free of any materigbtmsrepesfkaming

an audit includessting, on a sample basis, the evidence provided to support the amounts and information presented in the financial statements
An audit also includes performing an evaluation of the accounting principles used and of the significant estimates ma@enlgyy ¢hn y 6 s
management, as well as an evaluation of the overall adequacy of presentation in the financial statements. We belieuslithanouthe

reports provided by the other auditors, provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, basedn our audit and on the reports provided by other auditors, the pro forma reports referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the pro forma financial position of the Company and of its consolidated companies as at Decembeis3te kR their

pro forma operating results in each of the three years during the period ended December 31, 2021, in accordance wiioriseoprov
Regulation 9A of the Securities Regulatig¢ivearly Financial Statement$7301970, based on the assumptigpscified in Note 33.B.

We have also audited, in accordance with Auditing Standsirake) 911 of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Israaldit of
Internal Controls over Financial Report@dnternal controls over financial reportimgthe Company as at December 31, 2021, and our report
dated March 22, 2022 includes an unqualified opinion regarding the effective existence of those controls.

Tel Aviv, Kesselman & Kesselman
March 22, 2022 Certified Public Accountants
A member firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited

Keséelman & Kesselman, 146 Menachem Begin Rd., Tel Aviv 6492103, Israel | P.O. Box 7187, Tel Aviv 6107120
Telephone: +97-3-7954555 | Fax: +9%3-7954556 | www.pwc.com/il



DIC

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

As at December 31

2021 20209
Note NIS millions
Non-current assets
Investments in investee companies accounted b
the equity method 3 3,167 1,918
Financial assets measuredait value through
profit or loss 194 124
Loans, deposits, restricted deposits and debit
balances 117 220
Right-of-use assets 7 869 882
Fixed assets 5 1,729 1,760
Investment property 6 23 2,926
Long term trade receivables 8 158 176
Inventory of real estate 24 69
Deferred expenses 423 414
Deferred tax assets 30.B. 6 5
Intangible assets 9 2,640 2,693
9,350 11,187
Current assets
Financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss 4 399 296
Deposits and pledged and restricted deposits 10 300 558
Other receivables and debit balances 327 366
Current tax assets 20 16
Trade receivables and other incoreeeivable 8 1,082 1,103
Inventory 11 240 219
Inventory of buildings for sale 11 65 50
Assets of disposal groups held for sale 12 3,695 1,268
Cash and cash equivalents 13 2,740 3,921
8,868 7,797
Total assets 18,218 18,984

(1) Includingoperations of disposal groups held for sale, which are presented in 2021 as assets of disposal groups under current
assets, see Note 12.BhElow.

The accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated interim financial statemenistageadmpart hereof.
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Consolidated Statements of Financial PositiofCont.)

As at December 31

2021 20209
Note NIS millions
Capital
Share capital 14 810 810
Capital reserves 4,029 4,075
Accumulated losses (3,32) (3,659
Capital attributable to owners of the Company 1,518 1,231
Non-controlling interests 3.E. 2,856 2,079
4,374 3,310
Non-current liabilities
Debentures 15 7,534 8,741
Loans from banks and other financial liabilities 15 147 1,448
Lease liabilities 7 589 576
Derivatives - 3
Provisions 16 40 92
Deferred tax liabilities 30.B. 566 477
Employee benefits 17 24 23
Other nonfinancial liabilities 13 15
8,913 11,375
Current liabilities
Current maturities of debentures 15 1,422 1,489
Credit from banking corporations and current
maturities of loans from banks and others 15 268 380
Current maturities of lease liabilities 7 208 240
Other payables and credit balances 18 654 649
Trade payables 19 838 875
Derivatives 4 10
Current tax liabilities 33 9
Provisions 16 116 191
Liabilities of disposal groups held for sale 12 1,388 456
4,931 4,299
Total capital and liabilities 18,218 18,984
Tzachi Nachmias Doron Cohen Baruch ltzchak
Chairman of the Boarc General Manager CFO

(1) Including operations of disposal groups held for sale, which are presented in 2i@diliiss of disposal groups held for
sale, under current liabilities, see Note 12.Bdlow.

Approval date of the financial statements: March 22, 2022

The accompaying notes to the condensed consolidated interim financial statements are an integral part hereof.



DIC

Consolidated Statements of Income

For the year ended December 31

2021 202032 20199@
Note NIS millions
Income
Sales and services 23 5,378 4,840 4,351

The Grouds share in the net profit of

investee companies accounted by the

equity method, net 339 - -
Profit from realization and increase in the

value of investments and assets, and

dividends 25.A 186 64 108

Increase in fair value of investment
property, net 6.C 585 2 67
Other income 25.C 241 41 25
Financing income 26.A 116 28 234
6,845 4,975 4,785

Expenses

Cost of sales and services 27 4,049 3,792 3,137
Research andevelopment expenses 4 13 32
Selling and marketing expenses 28 689 600 669
General and administrative expenses 29 467 553 490

The Groujgs share in the loss of investee
companies accounted by the equity

method, net 24 - 15 19
Loss fromrealization, impairment, and
write-down of investments and assets 25.B 41 113 735
Other expenses 33 5 6
Financing expenses 26.B 643 714 679
5,926 5,805 5,767
Profit (los9 before taxes on income 919 (830 (982
Income(expensesfrom taxes on income 30 (156) 20 (27)
Profit (los9 from continuing operations 763 (810 (1,009
Profit (los9 from discontinued operations,
after tax 12 (96) 13 1,326
Net profit (los9 for the year 667 (797 317
Net profit (los9 attributable to:
The Companybs owner ¢ 266 (559 14
Non-controlling interests 401 (242 303
667 (797 317
NIS NIS NIS

Basic and diluted earningkss per share
attributed to the C 14.G

From continuing operations 2.3 (4.9 (5.3
From discontinued operations (0.9 0.2 5.4
1.9 (3.9 0.1

@ Not including the results of Mehadrin and Golan, which were initially consolidsgihning on March 9, 2020 and August 26,
2020, respectively.
@ Adjusted retrospectively due to the presentation of the HSBC Tower activity under discontinued operations, see Nb&d®.B.1.
The accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated interim financial statements are an integral part hereof.
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Consolidated Statements of Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended December 31
2021 2020 2019
NIS millions

Netincome (los9 for the year 667 (797 317

Other comprehensive incomélosg items which will not
be transferred to profit and loss, net of tax
Actuarial gainglosse$ in defined benefit plan 2 2 4
The Groujds share in other comprehensive incqoss
with respect to investee companies accounted by the
equity method - - (8)

Total other comprehensive incomélosg which will not
be transferred to profit and loss (2 2 (12

Other comprehensive incomdlosg items after initial
recognition under comprehensive income which have
been transferred or will be transferred to profit and
loss, net of tax
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign

operations (58) (1049 (165
Net change in th&air value of cash flow hedging that wa

charged to profit or loss 2 - -
Net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging whict

was carried to the cost of the hedged item - 2 -

The Grouds share in other comprehensive incqioss
with respect to investee companies accounted by the
equity method 5 (17) (30

Total other comprehensive loss after initial recognition
under comprehensive income which has been

transferred or will be transferred to profit and loss (51 (123 (199
Total other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (53 (123 (207)
Total net income(losg for the year 614 (918 110
Attributable to:

The Company6s owners 239 (639 (125

Non-controlling interests 375 (279 235
Net income(loss for the year 614 (918 110

Net comprehensiveincome (losg for the year attributed
to owners of the Company, due to:

Continuing operations 319 W (607) @ (788)
Discontinued operations (80 M (32 W63
239 (639 (125

@ Adjustedretrospectively due to the presentation of the HSBC Tower activity under discontinued operations, see Note 12.B.1.
below.

The accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated interim financial statements are an integral part hereof.



DIC

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

@

For the year ended December

31, 2021

Balance as at January 1, 2021

Net income for the year

Other comprehensive loss for

the year

Transactions with owners
carried directly to equity,
investments of owners and

distributions to owners

Dividend to norcontrolling

interests

Deconsolidation of Ispr(see

Note 12.A.1below)
Changes in interests in

consolidated compani@s(see

Note 3.G. beloyw

Sharebased payments given by
consolidated companies

Balance as at December 31,

2021

Attributable to the Companyds owners
Reserves with
respect to
Reserves with available-for-
respect to sale financial Total capital
transactions Reserve: assets through attributable
with non- from other Revaluati Controlling Accumu to the Non-
Premium controlling translatior Hedging comprehensive on shareholdel Treasury lated Companyés | controlling  Total
on shares interests difference reserves income reserves reserve shares loss owners | interests  capital
NIS millions
4,449 69 (397 (D] ()] 68 4 (119 (3,659 1,231 2,079 3,310
- - - - - - - - 266 266 401 667
- - (27) 1 - - - - D (27) (26) (53
- - - - - - - - - - (13 (13
- - - - - (698) - - 68 - - -
- 41 7 - - - - - - 48 395 443
- - - - - - - - - - 20 20
4,449 110 (417 - ()] - 4 (115 (3,32) 1,518 2,856 4,374

includes, inter alia, an issuance of shares teauomrolling interests in a consolidated company, and an acquisition as part of an issuance in a consolidated company.



DIC

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equit§Cont.)

Attributable

t

he

Companyds

owner s

Reserves with
respect to
transactions

with non-

Share Premium controlling

capital on shares interests

Reserve:

from

translatior Hedging
difference reserves

Reserves with

respect to

available-for-
sale financial
assets through

other

income

Controlling
comprehensive Revaluatichareholder

reserves reserve

Treasury
shares

Accumu

lated
loss

Total capital
attributable
to the
Companyss
owners

Non-
controlling
interests

Total
capital

NIS millions

For the year ended December 31,
2020

Balance as at January 1, 2020 810 4,449
Loss for the year - -

Other comprehensive income
(losg for the year - -

Transactions with owners carried

directly to equity, investments

of owners and distributions to

owners
Dividend to norcontrolling

interests - -
Deconsolidation of Pocared due tc

loss of control - -
Consolidation of Mehadrin due to

rise to control - -
Changes in interests in consolidate

companie® - -
Sharebased payments given by th

Company - -
Sharebased payments given by

consolidated companies - -
Reserve from transactions with

controlling shareholders - -

15

(293

(86)

@)

@)

63

(119

(3,109
(559

1,824
(559

(84)

1

2,067
(242)

(37

(52
13
387

(59

24

3,891
(797)

(121)

(52
13
387

(14)

24

Balance as at December 31, 2020 810 4,449

69

(399

©0)

2

68

S

(119

(3,654

1,231

2,079

3,310

@ Includes, inter alia, effects due to the exercise of options by the Company aad-dmntrolling interests in a consolidated company, issuances of options-tmnialling interests in a consolidated company, and effects due
to the expiration and exercise of shbesed payment instruments in consolidated companies.

The accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated interim financial statements are an integral part hereof.



DIC

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equit§Cont.)

Attributable to the Companyds owher s
Reserves with
respect to
Reserves with available-for - Total
respect to sale financial Controlli capital
transactions Reserves assets through ng attributable Non-
with non- from other Revalua  sharehol to the controllin
Share Premium controlling translatior Hedging comprehensive tion ders Treasury Accumul  Company&s g Total
capital on shares interests difference resaves income reserves  reserve shares  ated loss owners interests capital
NIS millions

For the year ended December 31,

2019
Balance as at January 1, 2019 810 4,449 9 (162 - 2 88 3 (29 (2,859 2,317 4,024 6,341
Initial adoption of the amendment to

IAS 28 - - - - - - - - - a7y a7y (83 (259
Net income for the year - - - - - - - - - 14 14 303 317
Other comprehensive loss for the

year - - - (127 ) - - - - (20 (239 (68) (207
Transactions with owners carried

directly to equity, investments of

owners and distributions to

owners
Dividend paid to

owners - - - - - - - - - (104 (209 - (109
Dividend to norcontrolling interests - - - - - - - - - - - (201 (201
Acquisition of treasury shares - - - - - - - - (96) - (96) - (96)
Consolidation of Mehadrin due to rise

to control - - - - - - - - - - - 278 278
Deconsolidation of GaYam and

Mehadrin due to loss of control - - 4) - - - 27 - - 27 4 (2,329 (2,333
Changes in interests in consolidated

companie® - - 10 (4) - - 2 - - - 8 132 140
Sharebased payments given by the

Company - - - - - - - - - (1) @) - (@)
Sharebased payments given by

consolidated companies - - - - - - - - - - - 11 11
Balance as at December 31, 2019 810 4,449 15 (293 2 2 63 3 (115 (3,109 1,824 2,067 3,891

@ Includes, inter alia, an acquisition as part of an issuance in a consolidated company, and effects due to the expaalimatiancf sharbased payment instruments in consolidated companies.

The accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated interim financial statements are an integral part hereof.
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DIC

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31

Cash flows fromoperating activities

Net profit (losg for the year

Profit (losg from discontinued operations, after tax

Profit (losg from continuing operations

Adjustments:

The Groufds share in the logprofit) of investee companies accounted by t
equity method, net

Received dividendéncluding from other investments

Realization lossefrofits), decreaséincreasg and writedowns, net, of
investments, assets and dividends

Profit from sale of land option

Increase in fair value of investment property, net

Depreciation and amortization

Financing costs, net

Expensegincome of tax on income, net

Income tax paid, net

Payments with respect to the settlement of derivatives

Sharebased payment expenses

Changes in other balance sheet items

Decreasdincreasgin other receivables and debit balan@iesluding long
term amounts

Decrease in trade receivabl@gcluding long term amounks

Decreaséincreasgin inventory(including long term amounks

Change in benefits to employees

Decrease in trade payables

Decrease in other payables and credit balances, provisions and other
liabilities (including long term amourits

Net cash from continuing operating activities
Net cash from discontinued operating activities
Net cash from operating activities

Cash flows for investing activities

Long term deposits loans which were given

Consideration from the realization of loans which were given and long te
deposits

Decreasdincreasgin pledged and restricted deposits, net

Currentinvestments, loans and short term deposits, net

Investments and loans, net, in investee companies accounted by the eq
method

Noncurrent investments

Investments in investment property andixed assets

Investments in intangible and other assets

Receiptgpaymentywith respect to the settlement of derivatives, net

Change in cash due to the initial consolidation of subsidiaries

Consideration from the realization of consolidated companies, net of cas
spent within the framework of their deconsolidation

Receipts from realization of nezurrent investments, including dividend
from the realization

Receipts from realization of investment property, sale of land options, fix
assets and other assets

Taxes paid, net, withespect to investment property, fixed assets and othe
assets

Interest received

Net cashused ir) from continuing investing activities

Net cashused i) from discontinued investing activities

Net cashused ir) from investing activities

2021 20202 2019Y@
NIS millions
667 (797 317
96 13 (1,329
763 (810 (1,009
(339 15 19
82 85 7
(145 49 627
(179 - -
(589 (2 (67
958 981 915
527 686 445
156 (20) 27
9) (33 (23
(5) (3) (10
20 28 9
489 1,786 1,949
(70 (49 6
11 202 215
(16) 13 142
2 (8) (1)
27 (3 (53
(32) (89 (52
(139 67 257
1,121 1,043 1,197
153 182 443
1,274 1,225 1,640
(29 (4 -
9 10 -
(94) 21 9
293 1,145 (244
@ (1,009 42 (191
17 (12 (1)
(382 (320 (365
(252 (215 (233
2 1 9
4) (507) -
@658 3) -
126 371 27
329 173 720
(50 (26) (53
16 26 50
(408 618 272
(33 1,446 (56)
(441 2,064 (329

Not including the liabilities of Mehadrin and Golan, which were initially consolidated beginning on March 9, 2020 anchegifuigust

26, 2020, respectively.

@ Adjusted retrospectively due to the presentation of the HSBC Tower activity under discontinued operations, see Ndteld®.B.1.
of Coelow Yamds issued
® Including consideration with respect to the realization of Ispro, see Note 1Befofu.

The accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated interim financial statements are an integral part hereof.

@ Jncluding the purchase of 14.7%

share

capit



DIC

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow€ont.)

For the year ended December 31

2021 20202 20199@
NIS millions

Cash flows for financing activities
Non-current financial liabilities received 63 661 665
Repayment of nowurrent financial liabilities (1,690 (1,657 (2,439
Interest paid (449 (529 (599
Repayment of lease liabilities (286 277 (289
Acquisition of treasury shares - - (96)
Early redemption of debentures - (110 -
Issuance of interests in consolidated companies te

controlling interests 398 5 166
Current financial liabilities, net 45 3 (37)
Receipts, including exercised share options, from n

controlling interests in consolidated companies 27 74 4
Acquigtion of shares in consolidated companies froi

non-controlling interests 3 (90) (30)
Dividend paid to the Co - - (40)
Dividend to norcontrolling interests in consolidated

companies (16) (50) (42
Receiptgpaymentswith respect to the settlement of

derivatives 2 (6) 2
Net cash used in continuing financing activities (1,909 (1,971 (2,730
Net cash used in discontinued financing activities (81) (85 (581
Net cash used in financing activities (1,989 (2,059 (3,31
Decrease in cash and casfuivalents from continuing

operations (1,192 (310 (1,805
Increasddecreasgin cash and cash equivalents fron

discontinued operations 39 1,543 (199
Increasddecreasgin cash and cash equivalents fron

continuing operations and discontinued operation (1,153 1,233 (1,999
Balance of cash and cash equivalents at start of yei 3,921 2,812 4,890
Effects of fluctuations in exchange rates on balance

cash and cash equivalent (20) (998 (60)
Change in the balance of cash and cash equivalent

presented under held for sale assets (8) (26) (19
Balance of cash and cash equivalents at end of yes 2,740 3,921 2,812

@ Not including the liabilities of Mehadrin and Golan, which wieigally consolidated beginning on March 9, 2020 and beginning
on August 26, 2020, respectively.

@ Adjusted retrospectively due to the presentation of the HSBC Tower activity under discontinued operations, see Note 12.B.1.
below.

Theaccompanying notes to the condensed consolidated interim financial statements are an integral part hereof.

10



DIC

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 1- General

A.

Discount Investment Corporation Ltd.BICO )is a company registered in Israel and
incorporated in Israel, whose address is the ToHa Building, 114 Yigal Alon St., 27th floor, Tel
Aviv. The Company is a holding company which invests, independently andjthioeestee
companies, in companies which are engaged in various segments of the Israeli edGdreomy.
Company generally invests in investee companies at a scope which gives it influence over their
direction and management.

In March 2022, after the date tfie statement of financial position, Property & Building
completed a special tender offer which was published, for the acquisition of the controt of Gav
Yam, such that Property & Buildingbé&asmtoake
issued capdl, and Property & Building is continuing to work on completing the transaction
involving the acquisition of GaYam shares which constitute approximately 37.22% of-Gav
Yamds issued capital belows stated in Note 3. C
The Company 6 sentsrbsare ésted farnrabingdoa the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange
Ltd.t he AStock Exchangebo

Further to that stated in Note 1.A. to the financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2020t he AFi nanci al )Sdgading tmeprotess offrecaiverghlp Yith despect

to DIC shares, and regarding the approval which was given by the District Court of Tel Aviv
Yafo for the sale of the CompdMeygdamdsadgraup es t
of investors led byt, in accordance withits offel$ he A Company Sharn,es Sa
and regarding the Competition Commissioner ¢
Mega Or and the Company, on March 25, 2021 the first stage of the Company shares sale
transation was completed, which included the transfer of Company shares which constitute
approxi mately 24. 9 %umchpitaDtd IBe@yas Or,iarsd DfCentpang shdresp a i
which constitute appr oxi maupeapital toadditirald%uyers. DI C

On April 13, 2021, the Company received notice from the Competition Commissioner
announcing the cancellation of the conditions for the merger, and on April 202l Or
compl eted an acquisition of anpsuch that,iatter then a |
completion of the aforementioned additional acquisition, Mega Or holds 29.9% of the
Companyo6s i OmsApel @1, 2021pElco kBtd(ii E | )crex@ived a decision of the
Competition Commissioner which approved the merger betdam and the Companyn

June 2021, approval was received from the Ministry of Communication for the purchase of
Company shares by Elco, and Elco completed the acquisition of Company shares which
constitute approximately 29.8% of its issued capf@ed.Mach 15, 2021, approval was given

by the Ministry of Communication for the transfer of the means of control of Cellcom and of
additional companies from Cellcom Group, in a manner whereby Mega Or will hold up to
29. 9% of t he Co mp a rAgcording tm ¢ha approval,f Mega @On will be |
considered an Al sraeli enti t (foddetails egadiagitien e d
obligation of Israeli holding of Cellcom, see Note 3.b&ow).

Following the completion of the transfer of the Compa6s shares to Mega O
and from that date onwards, the Company is a company without a controlling shareholder
(@according to the definition of -1968eandignotm 0 C ¢
consi der ed a yhighsithisgerm id defmed inche brapy dorPromote Competition

and Reduce Concentration, 572813 (t he f Co n c e nN)t and accoodmgly Lthew 0O
companies under its control which are reporting corporations according to the Securities Law
are no longer dyject to restrictions by virtue of the Concentration Law, in connection with the
ability of the aforementioned companies to directly hold control of other tier companies.
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DIC

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 1- General (Cont.)

B.

Impact of the coronavirus pandemic

The novel coronavirugCOVID-19), which began spreading around the world in the first
guarter of 2020, has been declared a global pandemic by the World Health Organization, and
is considered an event with extensive maatonomic consequences, includingisequences
affecting the business continuity of many businesses, declines in consumption, dismissal of
employees, volatility in exchange rates and in stock exchange indices in various countries, and
other economic effects. Israel faced two difficult wawdsinfection in 2021, due to the
emergence of the Alpha variant in the first quarter of the year, and the Delta variant at the end
of the second quarter of the yeBowards the end of the year, another wave of infections began
due to the Omicron variardnd as at the publication date of the financial statements, this wave
of infections currently appears to be decreasing, and the rate of infections are decreasing.
Despite hundreds of thousands of new cases of Omicron infections, most were not severe, and
the government imposed insignificant restrictions to contain it. During the year the state worked
on vaccinating the entire populatigages five and oldglagainst the virus, including a third

(A b o o kshog and even a fourth sh@tespite the high ratef vaccination, and due to the
spread of different variants of the coronavirus, infection rates were high, as statedTéleove.
Israeli economy presented a trend of recovery in 2021, relative to the previous year; however,
as at the publication date oktiheport, it is not possible to predict the duration of the crisis, nor

its full impact on business activity in Isradlhe current profit forecast indicates continued
recovery of the economy during 2022; however, it is not possible to predict if ancotieen
variants of the coronavirus will develop, and whether economically significant restrictions will
be imposed due to their spread.

Following instructions issued by the Ministry of Health and government authorities in the
United States, which changeuently, the Group is continuing to closely monitor the effects

of the coronavirus crisis on its business activities, and is continuously evaluating the effects of
the crisis on its activities and results.

The coronavirus pandemic hasignificant effect on volatility in capital marketSor details
regarding the mar ket value of the Companyods

Described below are the effects on the Comp

Cellcom - In 2021, Cellcom continuetb experience a significant decline in revenue from
roaming services of outbound tourism and inbound tourism, relative to the period before the
coronavirus crisis; however, due to partial resumption of outbound tourism, Cellcom recorded
growth relative t02020. Cellcom estimates that the significantly negative effect caused by
roaming services on its operating results is expected to lessen, insofar as the restrictions on
inbound and outbound traffic to and from Israel continue.

Regarding the restrictioran commerce and the closing of shopping malls, in light of the re
opening of the Israeli economy, the impact on Cell@mperating results in 2021 was
immaterial.

Cellcom has evaluated its sources of financing and liquidity, and believes that it has the
financial strength needed to deal with the effects of the coronavirus crisis, due, inter alia, to the
diversification of its operating segments, and the scope of its liquid balances.
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DIC

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 1- General (Cont.)

B. Impact of the coronavirus pandemic(Cont.)
Property & Building- Property & Building believes that its financial strength and the status of
its properties, cash balances, and the current cash flows which it is generating, will allow it to
continue financing its activities and sewiits liabilities For details regarding the impact of the
coronavirus pandemic on Property & Buildin
below.

GavYam - GawvYam is continuing its operating activities, subject to all of the government
issued restrictions and guidelines, including continued initiation, planning, construction,
marketing and maintenancghile balancing Gaf¥ a més commi t ment t o pr ¢
of all of its employees and the employees of the lessees of its propertiebgameed for
business continuity.

The management of Gaxam believes, in light of its financial strength, as reflected, inter alia,

in its high balances of available cash and cash equivalents, its low leverage ratio, the average
lifetime and distribution of its debt, the fact that alltsfproperties are unpledged, and in light

of the geographical and sectoral diversification of Saa més properti es, a
positions, locations, and occupancy rates, and the fact that the vast majority of the properties
are used for kiech, office, industrial and logistical purpos@sd not for commercial or retail
purpose} as well as the quality of its lessees, that all of the above factors reduce the exposure
ofGarYamdés businesses to the cri sithastoolgatitsr t o
disposal in order to appropriately respond to the coronavirus crisis.

Mehadrin- In the 2021/2022 season, which began in the third quarter of 2021, Mehadrin was
able to prepare with workforce for its needs, and even used externagpagcklants, due to

the isolation of the some of the employees, and the discontinuation of work at some of
Me h adr i n 0As atfthe daitelofithe stagesnent of financial position, there was no decline
observed in the quality or quantity of fruit, amol change is expected in the foreseeable future;
however, t he effect of t he pandemi co0s co
international economic pressures, which led to an increase in oil prices, a shortage of boats and
containers and supply digptions, which led to a significant increase in transportation prices,

and an increase in packaging prices. In light of the activities performed by Mehadrin to reduce
the exposure to changes in costs, thlsinabove
2021.The coronavirus c¢crisis has had, and may ¢
fields of activity, and as a result, on its business resugtigsequences which cannot currently

be estimateddowever, as at the approval date of tmaficial statements, in accordance with
current information it has, Mehadrin does not expect any significant impact due to the above
also on the first quarter for the first quarter of 2022.

It is noted that due to the fact that the event is outsidelofe Gr oup6s contr ol
nature of the crisis, which involves uncertainty, as at the publication date of the report there is
no certainty regarding the extent of the future impact on the economy, including, inter alia, the
state of the marketgconomic conditions in Israel and abroad, the scopes of unemployment,
the scopes of private consumption, the concern regarding the development of a local or global
recession, or another wave of the virlisese broad effects, if and insofar as they mdizsgia

in whole or in part, could adversely affect the Gr@upusiness affairs and results.
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DIC

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 1- General (Cont.)

C.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial

Reporting StandardsIfFRS0 .)

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Securities
RegulationfAnnual Financial Statemés), 57762010.

These financial statements were approved by

2022.

D)

2

3

(4)

(5)
(6)

(7)

(8)
(9)

(10
(11

Main Definitions

Consolidated companiesEntities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the
Group is exposed to, or haghts to, the variable returns from its involvement in the
investee company, and when it has the ability to affect those returns through its influence
over the investee company. The evaluation of control includes taking into account real
rights which aréneld by the Group and by othe8ee also Note 2.A. below.

Associate CompaniesCompaniegincluding participation units in venture capital fupds
which are held by the Company or its consolidated companies, directly or indirectly, and
in which it ha significant influence over their monetary and operational policy, and
which are not consolidated companies. The aforementioned investments are presented
according to the equity method.

Joint Arrangement An arrangement in which the Group has joiabizol over another

party or parties, which was obtained through an agreement which requires the unanimous
consent of al/l parties regarding the act
returns.

Joint Venture- A joint arrangement in whichhe parties have rights to the net assets
attributed to the arrangement.

Investee CompanieConsolidated companies, associate companies and joint ventures.
Significant Influence Voting rights of twenty percent or more, or the right to appoint
twenty percent or more of the Board members, unless it is clearly apparent that significant
influence does not exist. Such rights in lower rates may also be considered as conferring
significant influence in cases where the influence is clearly apparent.

The functional currency and presentation currency in these financial statements is the
New | srael. Shekel, which is the Company
included herein are rounded to the nearest million, except as specified othdivase
New | sraeld@ Shekel i's the currency that
economic environment.

Financial Statements Regulationsthe Securities RegulationfAnnual Financial
Statements 57762010.

Periodic and Immediate Reports Rigions- the Securities RegulatiorfReriodic and
Immediate Reporjs57331970.

Companies Law the Companies Law, 5758999.

IFRS- International Financial Reporting Standards.
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DIC

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 1- General (Cont.)
D. Main Definitions (Cont.)
(12 In these financial statemer{tgereinbefore and hereinafter

The Company and/or DIC Discount Investment Corporation Ltd. and/or its wholly
owned headquarter companies, as applicable.
The Group- DIC and its consolidated companies;
IDB Development IDB Development Corporation Ltd.;
Property & Building- Property & Building Corp. Ltd.;
Cellcom- Cellcom lIsrael Ltd.;
Golan- Golan Telecom Ltd.;
Shufersal Shufersal Ltd.;
Elron- Elron Ventures Ltd.;
Epsilon- Epsilon Investment House Ltd.;
GawvYam- GavYam Bayside Land Corporation Ltd.;
Ispro- Ispro The Israeli Properties Rental Corporation Ltd.;
Koor - Koor Industries Ltd(a wholly owned subsidiary of D)C
Mehadrin- Mehadrin Ltd.;
IDBG - IDB Group USA Investments Inc.

E. Basis forpreparation of the financial statements
(1) Measurement basis

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with the historical cost of assets
and liabilities, except with respect to the following derivative financial instruments:
financial instruments, derivatives and others which were measured at fair value through
profit and lossfinancial instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income; liabilities with respect to shafteased payment to be settled in caskestment
property; inventory; noncurrent assets andisposal groups helfor sale; assets and
liabilities with respect to employee benefileferred tax assets and liabilities; provisions
and investments in investee companies accounted by the eagtitgdn
For details regarding the measurement of these assets and liabilities, see Note 2 below
regarding significant accounting policies.
Presented below are details regarding the CPI and the USD exchange rate, and the rates of
change therein:

CPI
Known indeXx?  Index in lieu® USD exchange rate

Points NIS
As at
December 31, 2021 102.3 102.6 3.110
December 31, 2020 99.9 99.8 3.215
December 31, 2019 100.5 100.5 3.456
Changes during the year ende
December 31, 2021 2.4% 2.8% (3.3%
December 31, 2020 (0.6% (0.7% (7.0%
December 31, 2019 0.3% 0.6% (7.8%

@) According to the base average for 2020.
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DIC

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 1- General (Cont.)
E. Basis for preparation of the financial statementgCont.)
(2) The operating cycle period and the expense analysis framework which were recognized in

the statement of income

The Group has two operating cycles. With reference to the activities of Propguijoing

Group in connection with the construction of buildings for sale, the operating cycle may

continue for up to three years. With reference to the Gsoofher activities, the operating

cycle is one yeaDue to the foregoing, current assets andeurliabilities include items

which are designated and expected to be realized within the operating cycle period, as stated

above. The analysis framework of expenses which were recognized in the statement of

income is in accordance with a classificatioethod which is based on the activity

characteristic of the expens&dditional information regarding the characteristics of the

expense is included, as relevant, in the notes to the financial statements.

(3) A. Use of estimates and judgment

In their preparation of the Grogpfinancial statements in accordance with IFRS, the
managements of the Company and of the investee companies are required to use
judgment in estimates, approximations and assumptions, including actuarial estimates
and assmptions, which affect the implementation of the accounting policy and the
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, as well as capital components. It
is hereby clarified that actual results, which are identified later, may differ from these

estimates.
During the formulation of the accounting estimates which are used in the preparation
of the Companydés financi al statement s,

required to make assumptions regarding circumstances and events which involve
significant uncertainty. In exercising judgment regarding the determination of the
estimates, managements rely on past experience, various facts, external factors and
reasonable assumptions, in accordance with the appropriate circumstances of each
estimate

The estimates and their underlying assumptions which were used in the preparation of
these reports are reviewed on a routine basis. Changes in accounting estimates are
recognized in the period when the estimates were corrected, and in any futurd affecte
period.

Presented below is a description of the critical accounting estimates and significant
judgments which were used in the preparation of these financial statements, regarding
which, at the time of their formulation, management of the Company aridvéstee
companies were required to make assumptions regarding circumstances and events
involving significant uncertainty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 1- General (Cont.)

E. Basis for preparation of the financial statementgCont.)
(3 A. Use of estimates and judgmé@iont)

Estimate / Possible
judgment Main assumptions implications Main references
Recoverable amount T Discount rate before tax and Change in Note 9.D. below regarding the

of cash generating
units (including those
which include
goodwill) of associate
companies and of
properties.

expected growth ratewith
reference to cash generating
units.

9 Discount rate after tax and
expected growth ratewith
reference to associate
companies.

9 The determination of cash flow
is based on past experience of
the asset or similar assets, anc
no the best estimate of the
Group regarding the economic
conditions which will prevail.

9 Valuationsof appraisers and
external valuers regarding thei
fair value, after deducting the
propertie$realization costs.

impairment loss.

impairment test of the goodwill and
brand which are attributed to
Cellcom, and the ethod used to
determine the recoverable value of
activity.

The fair value
measurement of
investment property

Expected rate of return on
investment property. The
capitalization rates which were

Profit or loss with
respect to change
in the fair value of

Note 2.F. below, and Note 6 below.

and investment used to measure fair value, and t| investment

property under expected rent with respect to the | property ad

construction, as investment property. investment

determined by property under

independent valuers construction.

with the appropriate

professional skills

Existence of control, | Judgment applied regarding the | Accounting Note 2.A.1.and Note 2.A.7below,

effective(de factQ
control or significant
influence.

method used to determine the
Groups stake in the shares of the
investee companigm
consideration of the existence an
influence of potential voting rights
which are significani in the rights
to appoint representatives for the
entity which manages the
companieggenerally the Board of
Directorg as a result of the bylaw
of the investee companies, and
agreements with other
shareholders of the investee
companies, in the composition an
distribution of the rights of the
other shareholders in the investeg
companies and voting patterns in
general meetings, and the holding
companyds abili
operational and financial policy of
the investee companies, or to tak
part in the determination of such

policy.

treatment of an
investee company
as a subsidiary, or
as a compan
accounted by the
equity method.

regarding the accounting treatment
subsidiaries and investee companie
accounted by the equity method.

Note 34.B below, in connection with
GavYam.Comment(1) in Note 3.E.
below, regeding the control of
Cellcom and Mehadrin.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 1- General (Cont.)

E. Basis for preparation of the financial statementgCont.)
(3 A. Use of estimates and judgmé€@nt)

Estimate / judgment

Main assumptions

Possible
implications

Main references

Qualitative
considerations for
determining whether
or not the replacemer
of the debt instrumen
involves significantly
different terms

The entire set of characteristics o

the exchanged debt instruments,

and the eanomic parameters

represented therein:

1 Average lifetime of the
exchanged liabilities;
Extent of effects of the debt
terms(linkage to indexforeign
currency; variable interesbn
the cash flows from the
instruments.

Classification of a
debt instrument in
a manner whereby
it will not reflect
the change in the
debt terms, which
will affect the
method of
accounting
recording.

Note 2.C.3. below, regarding
financial liabilities.

Determination of
method for fulfillment
of performance
obligation

For the purpose of determining
whether the control of goods or
services is transferred to the
customer over time, and as a res
that income should be recognizec
over time or at a single pt in
time (upon delivery, the Group
relies on legal opinions, the
provisions of the contract, and the
relevant provisions of the law, in
its determination regarding
whether the Group has a the righ
to enforce the fulfillment of
contract.

Change in the
timing of
recognition of
income from
apartment sales.

Note 2.U.5below.

Valuation and
estimated lifetimes of
intangible assets.

1 The estimated useful lifetime o
intangible assets and expectec
market developments.
Expected cash flows from
customer relations and other
intangible assets and
replacement value of brands.

9 Incorrect
allocation of the
acquisition cost
of investments
in investee
companies.
Recognition of
accelerated or
slow
depreciation
with respect to
acual data.

Note 2.E and Note 9 below,
regarding intangible assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 1- General (Cont.)
E. Basis for preparation of the financial statementgCont.)
(3 A. Use of estimates and judgmé€@nt)

Estimate / Main assumptions Possible implications Main references
judgment

1 The degree of uncertainty
regarding the acceptance of
the Groupobs t
the risk that it will bear
additional tax and interest Changes intte amounts of
expenses. The above is base| tax assets with respect to
onan analysis of several transferred losses for tax
factors, including purposes.
interpretations of tax laws ang
the Groupbs p
including regarding the
classification of transferred ta
losses.

An estimate of the amount of

transferred losses which could b

used, the expected taxable

income, the timing thereof and
the amount of deferred taxes
which are to be created.

Uncertain tax
positions

1 Recognition of additional| Note 30 below regarding taxe
expenses with respect to| on income.
taxes on income.

Estimated chances g Whether it is more likely than no| Cancellation or creation of ¢ Note 22 below regarding
contingent liabilities. | that economic resources will be | provision with respect to a | oustanding claims and
spent withrespect to legal claims claim. contingen liabilities.
which were filed against the
Company and its investee
companies, based on the opinio
of their legal advisors.

Unasserted claims | Reliance on internal estimates| In light of the preliminary | Note 22.C below regarding
of the handling entities and the stage of the investigation | claims against the Compgan
managements of companies. | of the legal claims, actual | and its investee companies
Consideration of the estimated results may differ from the
chance that a claim will be assessment which was
filed, and the clairds chances of prepared during the stage
success, if and insofar as it is | when the claim had not ye
filed. been filed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 1- General (Cont.)

E. Basis for preparation of the financial statementgCont.)
(3 A. Use of estimates and judgmé€@nt)

Estimate / Main assumptions Possible implications Main references
judgment
Assessment Whether the business model | insofar as the business and Note 2.A.5below

regarding whether
cash flows with
respect to financial
assets include
principal and
interest only(SPP)

assumes the collection of cash
flows of principal and interest
only, which will be paid on the
date specified ithe contractual
terms.

model is to hold the
financial assets in order ta
collect contractual cash
flows, and their contractuz
terms include entitlement,
on predefined dates, to
cash flows which
constitute only principal
and inteest with respect tg
the amount of unpaid
principal, then the
financial asset will be
measured according to its
amortized cost, and if not,
it will be measured at fair
value.

regarding loans which were
given to associate
companies.

Determination of
the lease period an(
appropriate rent

Exercise of extension options,
or nonexercise of cancellation
options.Extension options, or
periods after the deadline for
exercise of cancellation option
are included in the lease perio
only if is virtually certain that
the lease will be extendédr
not cancelel

Increase or decrease in th
initial measurement of a
rightof-use asset and leag
liability, and in
depreciation and financing
expenses in subsequent
periods.

Notes 2.G.2and 7 below
with respect to lease assets
and liabilities.

Determination of
the discount rate in
leases

In cases where the interest rat
implicit in the lease cannot be
easily determined, the Gro@yp
incremental interest rate is use

Increase or decrease in the
initial measurement of a right
of-use asset and lease
liability, and in depreciation
and financing expenses in
subsequent periods.

Notes 2.G.2and 7 below
with respect to lease assets
and liabilities.

Classification of
liabilities classified
as held for sale

Assessment that the sale is
expected as a transaction
completed within one year.

Insofar as the sale is not
expected to be executed as &
transaction which was
completed within one year,
the Company will not classify
the property / investment as
held for @le and as a
discontinued operation, and
the property / investment will
not be measured in
accordance with the
provisions of IFRS 5.

Notes 2.G. and 12 below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 1- General (Cont.)
E. Basis for preparation of the financial statementgCont.)
(3 B. Change in estimate

On June 27, 2021, the Ministry of Communication decided to close the networks still
operating on 2G and 3G technologyh e f Ol d T)ercCecembdern3d, 2025 0
(including an option to move that date forward, subject to certain conditions, to January
1, 2025, with the intention of promoting the mobile telecommunication infrastructure
in Israel, and to allocate radio frequencies in order to substantiate 4G and 5G
technologies.Further to that decision, the Ministry of Communication decided to
extend theperiod for allocation of frequencies which are used by Cellcom in the old
technologies, for uses which will also be facilitated in more advanced technologies,
until the end of 2030.
As a result, Cellcom changed the estimated useful lifetime of the equtipghred
Cell com uses to operate Cellcombébs 2G an
extended the amortization period of the
3G networks until the end of 2030.
The impact of these changes on the finand@allesnents in the current year and in
subsequent years is as follows:

For the year ended December 31

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 20262030
NIS millions

Decreasdincreasgin

depreciation expenses 12 12 3 ©) (10 (14
Income(expensesfrom

taxes on income (2 ©) (€] 1 2 4
Total 10 9 2 (2 (8) (10
The Company 4 4 1 1) 4 (4)

C. Determination of fair value
1. For the purpose of preparing the financial statements, the Group is required to
determine the fair value afertain assets and liabilities. Additional information
regarding the assumptions which were used in the determination of fair value is
included in the following notes:

Note 4 regarding financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss;

Note 5 regarding fixed assets purchased in a business combination;

Note 6 regarding investment property;

Note 9 regarding intangible assets;

Note 20 regarding financial instruments.

Annex B regarding shaifigased paymerarrangements.

2. When determining the fair value of assets or liabilities, the Group uses observable
market inputs as much as possible. Fair value measurements are divided into three
levels in the fair value hierarchy, based on the inputs which wereingbé
evaluation, as follows:

Level 1- Quoted(non-adjusted prices in an active market for identical assets or
liabilities;

Level 2- Directly or indirectly observable market inputs, which are not included
in Level 1 above;

Level 3- Fair value whichs not based on observable market inputs.

nmoow2>
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 1- General (Cont.)
E. Basis for preparation of the financial statementgCont.)

(4) Evaluation of the materiality of asset valuations for the purpose of their disclosure or
attachment
The Company evaluates the materiality of asset and liability valuations for the purpose of
providing disclosure regarding them or attaching them to annual financial statements and
interim statements, in accordance with Regulation 8B of the Periodic anddiatm
Reports Regulations and Regulation 49 of the Periodic and Immediate Reports Regulations,
respectively, and in accordance with legal position no-2%arameters for evaluating
the materiality of valuations, which was published by the Israel Biesukuthority in July
2014. In general, a valuation is considered highly material if the subject of the valuation
constitutes 10% or more of the Companyds
as at the last day of the reporting periodf tine impact of the change in value, as a result
of the valuation, on the net or comprehensive income attributed to the owners of the
Company, as applicable, constitutes at least 10% of the net or comprehensive income
attributed to the owners of the Compga respectively, for the reporting peridqthe
fiResultant Test,)provided that, with respect to the resultant test, the impact of the change
in value, as a result of the valuation of net or comprehensive income attributed to the owners
of the Company, aapplicable, constitutes at least 5% of capital attributed to the owners of
the Company. A valuation which is not highly material will be considered material if it
meets a quantitative threshold which constitutes half of the quantitative threshold which
corresponds to the classification of a valuation as highly material, as statediabatber
words, 5% instead of 10%, and 2.5% instead of.5%
The application of the resultant test to the materiality of a valuation in an interim period
will be performed with respect to the net or comprehensive income attributed to the owners
of the Company, which is expected for the current year, in its entirety.
If it is not possible to reasonably estimate the expected net income or comprehensive
income for the current year in its entirety, the resultant test will be applied with respect to
net or comprehensive income, as applicable, for the period of fouerpiprior to the last
day of the interim periodn case a valuation meets the resultant test for classification as
fihighly materiab ( very highly material valuation in accordance with the resultar fest
the Company evaluates whether, based on gueditatonsiderations, it would be
appropriate to determine that it is not highly material, and therefore, it will not be attached
to the financial statements.
In accordance with the aforementioned legal position, the Company applies, as part of the
above, a an additional test, th@normal earnings tedtwhich constitutes an accepted
indicator for evaluation of the redhelts c
normal earnings test is used by the Company in its evaluation of materiality and
insignificance in other contexts as wellccording to the aforementioned additional test, in
the absence of other special qualitative considerations, a very highly material valuation
according to the resultant test will not be considered highly material, ahchaotibe
attached to the financial statements, if the impact of the change on the value of the subject
of the valuation attributed to the owners of the Company is less than 10%/fahtngl
normal earningsattributed to the owners of the Compamich is earnings for the last
four quartery calculated based on an average of the absolute values of quarterly profit /
loss attributed to the owners of the Company, in each of the last 12 quarters.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 1- General (Cont.)

E. Basis for preparation of the financial statementgCont.)
Additionally, in the absence of special qualitative considerations, a very highly material
valuation according to the resultant test will not be considered highly material, and will not
be attachedio the financial statements, if the impact of the subject of the valuation on net
or comprehensive incom@ttributed to the owners of the Compgangs applicable, as
included in the financial statements for the reporting pefesthual or interijin the
current year, is less than 10% of net or comprehensive inaiributed to the owners of
the Company for the previous reporting year, and is not expected to exceed 10% of
expected net or comprehensive incofattributed to the owners of the Company the
next reporting yeatn cases where, as a result of the implementation of these tests, a very
highly material valuation is not attached according to the resultant test, disclosure is given
for the foregoing i n tragearediotlerafdrencehtioned lega c t o
position.
Qualitative considerations may lead to the attachment of a valuation, even if, in quantitative
terms, it does not meet the tests for definitiofitaghly materiab.

(5) Attachment of reports of material asste companies and joint ventures

In connection with the adoption of Regulation 44 of the Periodic and Immediate Reports
Regulations and Regulation 23 of the Financial Statements Regulations, regarding associate
companies and joint ventures whose repomtistne attache(ll) due to the fact that the
Companyo0s investment in the associate ¢
constitutes twenty percent or more of th
of financial position, or(2) due b the fact that the amount which was included in the

(0]
e

statement of income with respect to the C
or joint venture constitutes, i n absol ut e
profit or loss during the porting period, in absolute terms.

During the interim period, the Companyos

the associate company or joint venture, during the four quarters ending on the date of the

interim statement of financial positipconstitute twenty percent or more of the total profit

or loss, in absolute terms, of the corporation, throughout the four quarters ending on the

date of the statement of financial position.

According to the Comp anspetial qualitasve domsidarationd, n t

the financial statements of associate companies and joint ventures, in which the following

three ratios have been cumulatively met, will be considered as insignificant reports relative

to the Company o6ts and theredorecwilll adt be sittacheédeaortheinfinancial

statements, and summary information regarding them will not be given:

(A) The multiple of the total assets of the associate company or joint venture by the holding
rate therein, with respect to all asset
is lower than 0.5%;

(B) The multiple of the total income of the associebenpany or joint venture by the

hol ding rate therein, with respect to
statements of income for the reported quarter, is lower than 0.5%;

(©The Companyds share, net, in ttvepturafeas ul t
the 4 |l ast quarters, i n absolute values
earnings.
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Note 2- Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting principles specified below were applied consistently to all ppres#sited in these
consolidated financial statementhe accounting principles specified below refer, in the context of
the consolidated financial statements, both to the Groupember companies and to investee
companies accounted by the equity metHodthis note, issues presented in bold are those to
which the Company has chosen to apply accounting alternatives which are permitted under
accounting standards and/or issues regarding which no explicit provision exists in accounting
standards, or in case bthe early adoption of new accounting standardsSuch bold text serves
for identification purposes only of the aforementioned issues, and does not attribute any additional
importance to no#bold text.
A. Consolidated financial statements
The consolidatedinancial statements include the statements of companies over which the
Company holds contrgsubsidiaries Control exists when the Group is exposed, or holds rights,
to variable returns from its involvement in the acquired entity, and when it is affedbthose
returns through its influence over the acquired entity. The evaluation of control includes taking
into account real rights which are held by the Group and by offieesgroup assesses whether
it does or does not have control of a companyhich it holds less than the majority of voting
rights, inter alia, according to its share in the voting rights relative to the shares of other parties
with voting rights, and the manner of distribution of the other holdings, as well as the voting
patternsi n pr evi ous s h aThe toosblidation ®f&dhe fimareial stategnents is
performed beginning on the date when control is obtained, until the date when control is lost.
Balances, material interompany transactions and profit and loss dugasactions between
the Grou@Bs member companies were canceled in the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealized losses were canceled in the same manner which was used to cancel unrealized profits,
so long as there is no evidence of impairment.
Businesscombinations and transactions with norcontrolling interests
1. Business combinations
A business combination is a transaction or another event in which the buyer obtains control
over one business or several businesses.
A business is aimtegrated system of operations and assets which can be operated and
managed in order to achieve returns in the form of dividends, reduced costs or other
economic benefits directly for investors or other owners, members or participants.
A business is comged of an input and a substantive process which together contribute
significantly to the ability to produce outputs.
The acquisition date is the date when the buyer obtained control of the acquired entity. The
Company exercises judgment in determining tlvee it qualifies as a business, in
determining the acquisition date, and in determining whether control has been obtained.
Subsidiaries
The financi al statements of subsidiaries
financial statements beginning dme date when control is obtained, until the date when
control is discontinuedl'he accounting policy of subsidiaries was changed if needed in
order to adjust it to the accounting policy which was adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 2- Significant Accounting Policies(Cont.)

A. Consolidated financial statementgCont.)
1. Business combinationgCont.)

T

The Group recognizes goodwill on the acquisition date according to the fair value of
the consideration which was transferred, including amounts which were recognized
with respect to any necontrolling interests in the acquired entity, and in consideration

of the fair value as at the acquisition date of any capital interest in the acquired entity
which was previously held by the Group, after deducting the net amount attributed in
the acquisition to identifiable assets which were acquired and to liabatties were
accepted. The transferred consideration includes the fair value of the assets which were
transferred to the previous owner of the acquired entity, liabilities which materialized
for the buyer towards the previous owner of the acquired entidycaypital interests

which were issued by the Group.

If the Group performs a bargain purchase purchase which includes negative
goodwill), it recognizes the profit which was created as a result in the statement of
income on the acquisition date. Additadly, goodwill is not updated in subsequent
periods with respect to the use of transferred losses for tax purposes which existed on
the date of the business combination. The update to losses, as stated above, is applied
to the statement of income.

The buye recognizes, on the acquisition date, the contingent liability which was
accepted in a business combination, if there is a commitment in the present which is
due to past events, and whose fair value is reliably measurable.

In a business combination which is realized in stapesjifference between the fair

value as at the acquisition date of the capital interests in the acquired entity which

were previously held by the Group and their book value as at that date is applied

to the statement of income under the item forfiprofit from realization and

i ncrease in value of investments and as
investment was classified under the category of fair value through other
comprehensiveincome. In this situation, a resultant effect is not recognizedrair

value, for this purpose, in case of a marketable asset, is its market value, except in
cases where there is evidence which clearly indicates that the fair value the
aforementioned assmstdifferent from its market value.

Acquisitionrelated costs which materialized for the buyer with respect to a business
combination, such as agency fees, consulting fees, legal costs, valuations and other
costs with respect to professional services ansalting services, excluding those
associated with the issuance of debt or equity instruments in connection with the
business combination, are recognized as an expense in the period when the services
are received.

Update to excess cost:

If the preliminay accounting treatment in a business combination has not been
completed by the end of the reporting period when the business combination occurred,
the Group reports provisional amounts with respect to the items whose accounting
treatment has not been comi@d.During the measurement period, which will not
exceed one year after the acquisition date, the Group retroactively adjusts the
provisional amounts which were recognized on the acquisition date, in order to reflect
new information which has been obtihregarding the facts and circumstances which
applies on the acquisition date, and which, had they been known, would have affected
the measurement of the amounts which were recognized on that date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 2- Significant Accounting Policies(Cont.)

A. Consolidated financial statementgCont.)

2.

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests, both in the capital of a subsidiary which is not attributable,
directly or indirectly, to the parent company, and which include additional components,
such & sharebased payment to be settled with capital instruments of subsidiaries, and
share options of subsidiaries.

Measurement of neoontrolling interests on the date of the business combination
Non-controlling interests which are instruments which comemnership rights in the
present, and provide their holders with a share in net assets in case of liqudation
example: ordinary shargsare measured on the date of the business combination at fair
value, or according to their relative share in theogeized assets and liabilities of the
acquired entity, based on each transaction separately. Selection of this accounting policy
IS not permitted for other instruments which meet the definition ofooortrolling interests

(for example, ordinary share optig. These instruments are measured at fair value, or in
accordance with the provisions of other relevant IFRS.

Allocation of profit or loss and other comprehensive income among shareholders

Profit or loss, and any component of other comprehensive incanaettributed to the
owners of the Company and to rRoontrolling interests. The total profit or loss and other
comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the Company and¢omtoniling
interests, even if, balance of the balance oftcmmtolling interests is negative.
Transactions with neoontrolling interests, while retaining control

Transactions with neoontrolling interests while retaining control are treated as capital
transactions. Any difference between the consideration which was paid or received, and
the change in nenontrolling interests, is applied to thapital reserve wih respect to
transactions with non-controlling interests, under the capital attributed to owners of

the Company. The capital reserve with respect to transactions with-cootrolling
interests is not applied to the statement of income or to comprehemsived(including

not upon realization of the subsidiary for which the reserve was cyeated

In case of changes to the holding rate of a subsidiary, while retaining control, the Company
re-attributes the cumulative amounts which were recognized wtkder comprehensive
income between the owners of the Company andcootrolling interests. The amount at
which noncontrolling interests are calculated is as follows:

In an increase in the holding raéecording to the relative share of the acquired erty

out of the balance of norcontrolling interests in the consolidated financial statements
before the transaction, including noncontrolling interests which were attributed to
originally attributed differences and to goodwill, with no changes to their vales.

In a decrease in the holding raaecording to the relative share which was realized by

the owner of the subsidiary in the net assets of the subsidiary, including goodwill and
original attributed differences, if any, with no change to their value Cash flows from
transactions with nceoontrolling interests while retaining control are classified under
financing activities in the statement of cash flows.

Inter -company transactions which are attributed to the transfer of shares of
subsidiaries (regardless of whether such transactions are performed in cash or
through a share exchanggin which a change has occurred in the rate of nen
controlling interests, are treated as transactions with nostontrolling interests.
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Note 2- Significant Accounting Policies(Cont.)

A. Consolidated financial statementgCont.)

3.

Transactions resulting in the deconsolidation of financial statements

Loss of control

Upon loss of control, the Group writes off the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any
noncontrolling interests, and amounts which were recognized in capital reserves through
other comprehensive income, with reference to that subsidiary. If thep Gtidithas any
remaining investment in the former subsidiary, the balance of the investment is measured
at fair value on the date of loss of control. The difference between the consideration and
the fair value of the balance of the investment, and tlebas which were written off, is
recognized under profit and lossthe item for fiprofit from realization and increase in

value of investments and assets, and dividemasor in the item for filoss from
realization, impairment and write-down of investments ad assets, as applicable.

From that date onwards, the remaining investment is accounted by the equity method or as
a financial asset, in accordance with the text of the Grouluence on the relevant
investee company.

The amounts which were recogrizen capital reserves through other comprehensive
income with reference to that subsidiary are reclassified to profit or loss or to retained
earnings, in the same manner which would have been required had the subsidiary
independently realized the applicalassets or liabilities.

Cancellation of inter-company transactions

Unrealized profits due to transactions with associate companies and with joint
ventures were canceled against the asset involved in the transaction, in accordance
with the Groupd&s rights in those investmentsUnrealized losses were canceled in the
same manner which was used to cancel unrealized profits, so long as there is no evidence
of impairment.

Investment in associate companies and joint ventures

In the evaluationregarding the existence of significant influence over an associate
company, potential voting rights are taken into account which are exercisable or
convertible immediately into its shar@he investment in associate companies and joint
ventures is accouad by the equity method and is recognized for the first time at cost. The
cost of the investment includes transaction costs.

Transaction costs which are directly attributed to the expected acquisition of an associate
company or joint venture are recogrizas an asset under the item for deferred expenses
in the statement of financial position. These costs are added to the cost of the investment
on the acquisition date.

These financial statements include the Gosughare in the profit and loss of assaxiat
companies and joint ventur@acluding recognition of profit or loss with respect to the

capital reserve in the capital reserve which was recorded by the associate companies
and joint ventures with respect to transactions with norcontrolling interests) and

under their other comprehensive incofiess, following the required adjustments in order

to adjust their accounting policy to that of the Group, from the date when significant
influence or joint control materialized, until the date when significafience or joint
control was discontinuedintil January 1, 2016see beloy, When the Groujs share in

the losses exceeds the value of the Gimuights in a company accounted by the equity
method, the book value of those rigfitecluding long term lans, which constitute a part

of the account with respect to the investment in the investa® amortized to zero.
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Note 2- Significant Accounting Policies(Cont.)

A. Consolidated financial statementgCont.)

5.

Investment in associate companies and joint venturg€ont.)

In cases where the Graipshare in long term loans, which constitutes a part of the
investment in the investee, is different from its share in the capital of the investee, the
Group continuesat recognize its shares in the losses of the investee, after amortizing to
zero the capital investment, in accordance with the rate of its economic entitlement to the
investment over the long term at that time. The Group does not recognize additional losses
of the investee company, except insofar as the Group has an obligation to support the
investee company, or if the Group has paid amounts for it, or has given loans to it.

In accordance with the amendment to IAS 28, the Group has been adopting, siacg Janu
2019, the provisions of IFRS 9 with respect to long term loans, the settlement of which is
not planned, and which is unlikely to occur in the foreseeable future, which essentially
constitute a part of the entdy net investment in the associate ornfoventure.
Accordingly, the provisions regarding classification and measurefmeiuding the
recognition of impairment of a loan according to IFR&r@ applied for those loans before
taking into account the share in the losses of that associate company or joint venture.
Loans which were given to investee companies, as stated above, are classified as financial
assets which are presented at fair valweugh profit or loss, since they do not meet the
definition provided in IFRS 9 for classification at amortized cbisese foreign currency
differences are applied to other comprehensive income.

Excess cost in associate companies and joint venturgsesented as part of the
investment. The excess acquisition cost of the investment in an associate company or joint
venture beyond the Groépshare in the fair value of the identifiable assets of the investee
company(including intangible assétsafter a&educting the fair value of the identifiable
liabilities of the investee compar{gfter attribution of taxg@son the acquisition date is
attributed to goodwill.

If the Group performs a bargain purché&eurchase which includes negative goodwiill

it recoqnizes the profit which was created as a result in the statement of income on the
acquisition date. Additionally, goodwill is not updated in subsequent periods with respect
to the use of transferred losses for tax purposes which existed on the dateusfribesh
combination. The update to losses, as stated above, is applied to the statement of income.
The excess cost which was attributed in the associate company or joint venture to
identifiable assets and identifiable liabilities with a defined usefuirtife are amortized

in accordance with the aforementioned useful lifetime. Goodwill and intangible assets with
an undefined useful lifetime are not systematically amortized. For details regarding the
impairment test of goodwill and intangible assets, asd@bove, see sectionif&low.

For details regarding the attribution of with respect to investment in associate companies
and joint ventures, see sectionb&low.

For details regarding adjustments due to the translation of financial statementsiat@sso
companies and joint ventures, see section B. below.

Loans with characteristics of long term investments, which are intended to finance losses
due to a capital deficit of those companies, which are provided by the Group to associate
companies, constitute a part of the investment in investee companies an are presented under
the item for investee companies accounted by the equity method.

In parallel, the financing income with respect to these loans is presented under the
itemforthe Gr oupd6s share in the net profit of e
net, instead of presentation under separate items.
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A. Consolidated financial statementgCont.)
6. Change in holding rates inassociate companies and joint ventures accounted by the

equity method, while retaining significant influence or joint control
In case of an increase of the stake in an associate company or joint venture accounted by
the equity method, while retaining si§oant influence, the Group applies the acquisition
method only with respect to the additional holding rates, whereas the previous holding
remains unchanged.
In case of a decrease in the holding rate of an equity accounted associate company or joint
venture, while retaining significant influence or joint control, the Group derecognizes the
proportional part of its investment, and recognizes the profit or foss the sale under

the item for fAprofit from the realizati ot
and dividends o, nfossfrommedligation,timtparment aadmvrdéven r
of i nvestments and assetso, as applicabl e

The cost of the rights which were sold, with respect to purchases which were executed
in stages in the past, for the purpose of calculating profit or loss from the sale is
determined according to a weighted average.
Additionally, the relative share of the amounts whigre recognized in capital reserves
through other comprehensive income, with reference to that associate company or joint
venture accounted by the equity method, or entity under joint control, is applied to the
statement of income or to retained earnings.

7.  Loss of significant influence or joint control
The Group discontinues the application of the equity method beginning on the date when
it lost significant influence over the associate company or the joint control over the joint
venture, and accountsrfthe remaining investment as a financial asset, and in case of rise
to control- as a subsidiary, as applicable.
On the date of loss of significant influence or joint control, the Group measures the fair
value of any remaining investment in the formeyagsate company or joint venturehe
Company recognizes in the statement of income in the itefiprofit from realization and
increase in value of investments and assets, and dividlesrds the item foifloss from
realization, impairment and wrigown of investments and assgt®s applicable, any
difference between the fair value of any remaining investment and any consideration from
the realization of part of the investment in the associate company or joint venture, an the
book value of the investemt on that date.
The amounts which were recognized through other comprehensive income, with reference
to that associate company or joint venture, are reclassified to profit and loss or to retained
earnings in the same manner as would have tepnred, had the associate company or
joint venture independently realized the applicable assets or liabilities.
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B.

Foreign currency
The functional currency is determined separately for each investeeanpmpcluding an
associate company presented in accordance with the equity method, and this currency is used to
measure its financial position and operating results. When the functional currency of an investee
company is different from that of the Comparlye investee company constitutes a foreign
operation whose financial statements data are translated for the purpose of including them in the
Companyo6s financial statements.
1. Transactions in foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currency are traredato the relevant functional currencies of the
Groups member companies according to the exchange rate transactions as at the dates of
the transactions, and for transactions which are distributed equally throughout the period
according to the averagedaange rate during the period. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currency, which exist as at the reporting date, are translated to the
functional currency according to the exchange rate which is in effect as at that date. Non
monetaryassets and liabilities which are measured at historical cost in the foreign currency
are translated according to the exchange rate on the transaction dateoietary assets
and liabilities, which are denominated in foreign currencies and measuradvatuaj are
translated to the functional currency according to the exchange rate which is in effect on
the date when the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences due to the
functional currency are generally recognized in profit and losaeher, such foreign
currency differences are recognized under other comprehensive iflcsgievhen they
are due to the translation of derivatives which are used in cash flow hedging, with respect
to the effective part of the hedge, and with respect titye§inancial instruments which
were designated to fair value through other comprehensive income.
2. Foreign operations
Assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and adjustments to fair
value which were created in the acquisition, were translated to NIS according to the
exchange rate which was in effect as at the reporting date. Income and expé&rssgof
operations were translated to NIS according to the exchange rates which were in effect on
the dates of the transactions.
Foreign currency differences with respect to the translation are recognized under other
comprehensive incom#osg and are pesented under capital in the translation reserve for
foreign operationg, Translation Reserve)
When a foreign operation is a subsidiary which is not wholly owned by the Group, the
proportional part of the foreign currency differences with respecttéotteign operation
is allocated to notwontrolling interests.
The financial statements of a foreign operation which is not directly held are
translated to NIS in accordance with the consolidation in stages method, according to
which the financial statemens of the foreign operation are first translated to the
functional currency of the direct parent company, and are later translated to the
functional currency of the ultimate parent company.
Therefore, upon realization of a foreign operation which is not gtectly held, the
Group reclassifies to profit and loss the cumulative amount in the cumulative amount
translation reserve in the direct parent company that holds the foreign operation.
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Note 2- Significant Accounting Policies(Cont.)

B. Foreign currency (Cont.)
If the functional currency of the directly held operation and the functional currency
of the direct parent company are identical, the Grougs policy is not to classify under
profit and loss foreign currency differences which accrued in théranslation reserve
of the ultimate parent company with respect to the realization of the foreign operation
which is indirectly held, as stated above.
Upon realization of a directly held foreign operation, which results in loss of control, or to
loss ofjoint control or loss of significant influence, the cumulative amount in the translation
reserve which is due to the foreign operation is reclassified to profit and loss as part of the
profit or loss from the realization.
Additionally, in case of changde the Groups stake in a subsidiary which includes a
foreign operation, while retaining control of the subsidiary, a proportional part of the
cumulative total of the foreign currency differences which were recognized under other
comprehensive inconm@ossy is re-attributed to norcontrolling interests.
When the Group realizes part of an investment which is a associate company or joint
venture that includes a foreign operation, while retaining significant influence or joint
control, the proportional partf the cumulative amount of foreign currency differences is
reclassified under profit and loss.
In general, foreign currency differences with respect to loans which were received or
provided to foreign operations, including foreign operations which aredsatss, are
recognized under profit and loss in the consolidated reports.
When the settlement of loans which the Group received from a foreign operation, or
provided to it, is not planned and not expected in the foreseeable future, profit and loss
from foreign currency differences which are due to those monetary items aresthelsid
part of the investment in the foreign operation, net, and are recognized under other
comprehensive incom(#osy, and are presented in capital, as part of the translation reserve.
The settlement of these loans is not considered realization of thevestment, net, in
the foreign operation and therefore, upon realization of the loans, as stated above, the
foreign currency differences which were recognized with respect to other comprehensive
income are not applied to profit and loss.
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C. Financial instruments

1. Non-derivative financial assets . _
A. Initial recognition and measurement of financial assets

The Group initially recognizes trade receivables and debt instruments which were
issued on the date of their creation. Other financial assets are initially recognized on
the trade date.

A financial asset is initially measured at fair value plus transactists, with respect

to all financial assets which are not measured at fair value through profit or loss,
excluding trade receivableBinancial assets measured at fair value through profit or
loss are initially recognized at fair value, and the transaakpenses are applied to

the statement of income. Trade receivables which do not include significant financing
components are initially measured according to the transaction price. Receivables
originating from contractual assets are initially measuredraing to the book value

of the contractual assets on the date of change of classification from contractual assets

to receivables.
B. Write -off of financial assets

Financial assets are written off when the Gi@umntractual rights to the cash flows
which are due to the financial asset expire, or when the Group transfers the rights to
receive the cash flows which are due to the financial asset in a transaction wherein all
risks and benefits from the ownership of the financial asset have been effectively
transferred.

If the Group essentially remains with all of the risks and benefits due to the ownership

of the financial asset, the Group continues recognizing the financial asset.
C. Classification of financial assets into groups

On the date oihitial recognition, financial assets are classified to one of the following
measurement categories: amortized cdait; value through other comprehensive
income - investments in debt instrumentsir value through other comprehensive
income- investmens in equity instrumentgyr fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are not reclassified in subsequent periods, except if, and only if, the
Group has changed its business model for the management of financial debt assets, in
which case the afé@ed financial debt assets are reclassified at the start of the first
reporting period after the change in the business model.
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it fulfills the following two
cumulative conditions, and if it is not intert®r measurement at fair value through
profit and loss:
1 Held within the framework of a business model whose aim is to hold assets in order
to collect the contractual cash floves)d
1 The contractual terms of the financial asset grant entitlement, orfipestidates,
to cash flows which constitute only principal and interest payments with respect to
the unpaid principal.
A debt instrument is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income only
if it fulfills the following two cumulative conditiog, and if it is not designated for
measurement at fair value through profit and loss:
1 Held within the framework of a business model whose purpose is fulfilled both by
collecting contractual cash flows and by selling financial asaets;
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Note 2- Significant Accounting Policies(Cont.)

C. Financial instruments (Cont.)

1. Non-derivative financial assetqCont.)
C. Classification of financial assets into groupgCont.)

1 The contractual terms of the debt instrument grant entitlemeptedefined dates,
to cash flows which constitute only the principal and interest payments with respect
to the unpaid principal amount.

In certain cases, on the date of initial recognition of an investment in-bhetdrior

trading equity instrument, the Group chooses, irrevocably, to present subsequent

changes in the fair value of the instrument under other comprehensive income. This

choice is made based for each investment separately.

All financial assets which are not classified for measurement at amortized cost or at

fair value through other comprehensive income, as described above, as well as financial

assets designated to fair valtreough profit and loss, are measured at fair value
through profit and loss. On the date of initial recognition, the Group designates
financial assets fair value through profit and loss when the aforementioned designation
significantly cancels or reduces accounting mismatch.

The Group has balances of trade receivables and other receivables, and deposits which

are held within the framework of a business model which is intended for the collection

of contractual cash flows'he contractual cash flows witlespect to these financial
assets include only principal and interest payments which reflect a consideration for
the time value of money and the credit risk. Accordingly, these financial assets are
measured at amortized cost.

Assessment of thieusiness model for debt assets

The Group assesses the purpose of the business model for which the financial asset is

held on the level of the portfolio, since this best reflects the way in which the business

is managed and information is provided to manag@&. In the determination of the

Groupb6bs business model, the following c«

1 The declared policies and goals with respect to the portfolio, and the actual
implementation of the policy, including whether the strategy of agament
focuses on the receipt of contractual interest@intaininga certain interest
profile, on adjusting the lifetime of the financial assets to the lifetime of any related
liabilities or projected cash flows, or the realization of cash flows Hingehe
assets;

1 The way in which the performance of the business model, and of the financial assets
which are held according to that model
key management personnel,

1 The risks which affect the performance of the business nfadeélof the financial
assets which are held according to that business ma®l the method for
management of those risks;

T The way in which the busi(forexxante svhethere c ut
the compensation is based on the fair value of the managed assets, or on the
contractual cash flows which were collegtezhd

1 The frequency, value and timing of sales of financial assets in previous periods, the
reasons for the sales, and éhgectations regarding future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions which do not qualify for

derecognition are not considered sales for the purpose of the assessment of the business

model, consistently throughoute Groujds recognition of those financial assets.
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Note 2- Significant Accounting Policies(Cont.)

C. Financial instruments (Cont.)

1. Non-derivative financial assetqCont.)
C. Classification of financial assets into groupgCont.)

Financial assets which are held for trading or are managed, and whose performance is

estimated based on fair value, are measured at fair value through profit and loss.

Assessment regardimghether cash flows include principal and interest only

For the purpose of evaluating whether the cash flows include principal and interest

onl vy, the Aprincipal o means the fair va

recogni t i onamprisdd oftcansideratipnofor thestime value of money, for

the credit risk attributed to the unredeemed principal amount during a certain period of

time, and for other basic risks and costs of the loan, as well as a profit margin.

In the evaluation reganay whether contractual cash flows constitute flows of principal

and interest only, the Group evaluates the contractual terms of the instrument, and as

part of the above, evaluates whether the financial asset includes a contractual condition

which may chang the timing or amount of the contractual cash flows, such that it does

not fulfill the aforementioned condition. The Group takes into account the following

considerations in its performance of this evaluation:

1 Any conditional events which could change the timing or amount of the cash
flows;

1 Conditions which may change the stated interest rate, including variable interest;

1 Characteristics of extension or prepaymant]

T Terms which r esghtrto cagh flaw$ feom Gefired gesétsr r |
example, nosrecourse financial assgts

A prepayment characteristic is consistent with the principal and interest only criterion

if the prepayment amount essentially represents unpaid amounts of principal and

interest with respect to the unpaid amount of principal, which may include reasonable

compensation, which is received or paid, with respect to the early termination of the

contract.

Additionally, with respect to a financial asset which was purchased gn#icsint

premium or discount relative to its contractual par value, a characteristic which permits

or requires prepayment, in an amount which essentially represents the contractual par

value and the contractual interest which has accrued but has neeyepdéidwhich

may include reasonable compensation which is received or paid with respect to early

terminatior) is consistent with the principal and interest only criterion, if the fair value

of the prepayment term is immaterial at the time of initiabgadtion.
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Note 2- Significant Accounting Policies (Cont.)

C. Financial instruments (Cont.)
1. Non-derivative financial assetqCont.)

D.

Subsequent measurement and profit and loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

In subsequent periods, these assets are measured at fair value. Net profit and loss,
including interest or dividend income, are recognized under profit andelodsiding

certain derivative instruments, which are designated as hedging instruments
Investments in equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income

These assets are measured in subsequent periods at fair value. Dividends are recognized
as income under profit or loss, unless the dividend clearly represents returmtaifa pa
the cost of an investment. Other net profit and loss are recognized in other

comprehensive income, and are not reclassified to the statement of income.
Financial assets at amortized cost

These assets are measured in subsequent periods at amodtzesirgpthe effective
interest method, and after deducting impairment loss. Interest income, profit or loss
from foreign currency differences and impairment are recognized under profit and loss.

Any profit or loss due to derecognition is also recognizeteu profit and loss.
Investments in debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income

These assets are measured in subsequent periods at fair value. Interest income
calculated using the effective interest method, profit or loss from foraigrency
differences, and impairment, are recognized under profit and loss. Other net profit and
loss are recognized under other comprehensive income. On the date of derecognition,
profit and loss which have accrued under other comprehensive inconeelassified

in the statement of income.

2. CPI-linked assets and liabilities which are not measured at fair value
The value of CPHinked financial assets and liabilities which are not measured at fair
value is revalued in each period in accordance with & actual rate of increase /
decrease of the CPI.

3. Financial liabilities
The Group has nederivative financial liabilities, such as overdraft from banks, debentures
issued by the Group, loans and credit from banking corporation and othepcosdiers,
liabilities with respect to leases, trade payables and other payables.

A.

Initial recognition of financial liabilities

The Group recognizes for the first time issued debt instruments on the date of their
creation, according to their fair value on the trade date.

Financial liabilities are recognized for the first time at fair value plus attributable
transaction costs. FolMving initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Transaction costs which are directly attributed to an expected issuance of an instrument
which will be classified as a financial liabilitgre recognized as an asset in the
statement of financial position. These transaction costs are deducted from the financial
liabilities upon initial recognition, or are amortized as financing expenses in the
issuance when the issuance is no longer expéctedcur.Upon an extension of a
debenture series for cash, the debentures are measured for the first time according

to their fair value, which is consideration which was received in the issuan¢gince

this is the best market to which the issuer has imnutate accespg without any
recognition of profit or loss with respect to the difference between the issuance
consideration and the market value of the marketable debentures proximate to

their issuance.
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Note 2- Significant Accounting Policies (Cont.)

C. Financial instruments (Cont.)
3. Financial liabilities (Cont.)

B.

Write -off of financial liabilities:

Financial liabilities are written off when the Grdapiabilities, as specified in the
agreement, expire, or when they have been settled or canceled.

Changes to terms of debt instruments

An exchange of debt instruments with materially different terms, between an existing
borrower and a lender, is treated as settlement of the original financial liability and
recognition of a new financial liability at faialue, while the difference is applied to

the statement of income in the item for financing income or expenses. Additionally,
significant changes in the terms of a current financial liability, or a part thereof, are
treated as a settlement of the originahhcial liability and as recognition of a new
financial liability.

The terms are significantly different even if the discounted present value of the cash
flows, according to the new terms, including any fees which were paid, after deducting
any fees whiclwere received, and is discounted using the original effective interest
rate, is different by at least ten percent than the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.

In addition to the quantitative test, as stated above, the Group also evaluates qualitative
considerations in order to determine whether it involves an exchange of conditions with
materially different terms, and as part of the above, an evaluation ifrpexdo
regarding the entire set of characteristics of the exchanged debt instruments and the
economic parameters embodied therein, which, if they are indeed significantly different
from one another, may create a different economic risk for the holder afetite
instruments upon their exchange. These economic parameters include, inter alia, the
average lifetime of the exchanged debt instruments and the extent of impact of the debt
terms(such as linkage to the CPI, linkage to foreign currency, variable stjterethe

cash flows from the instruments.

Immaterial changes to terms of debt instrument

In case of a change in terrf exchanggof an immaterial debt instrument, the new
cash flows are discounted by the original effective interest rate, wherdftérercte
between the present value of the financial liability with the new terms, and the present
value of the original financial liability, are recognized under profit and loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

A financial asset and financial lialtiliare offset, and the amounts are presented net in
the statement of financial position, when the Group has an immediately legally
enforceable right to offset the amounts which were recognized, and an intent to settle
the asset and liability on a net basis to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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Note 2- Significant Accounting Policies (Cont.)
C. Financial instruments (Cont.)
4. Issuance of securities as a package
Upon the issuance of securities as a package, the issuance consideration is initially
attributed to financial liabilities which are measured periodically in fair value through profit
and loss, and subsequently, to financial liabilities which are measuitbé date of initial
recognition only at fair value, and the value attributed to the equity component is calculated
as residual value.
Direct issuance costs are specifically attributed to the securities with which they are
identified. The common issuancests are attributed to the securities on a proportionate
basis, based on the method for attribution of the consideration from the issuance of the
package, as described above.
5. Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting

The Group holdderivative financial instruments for the purpose of hedging against foreign
currency risks and interest rate risks, as well as derivatives which are not used for hedging
purposes.
Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments, in order to hedge against
changes in cash flows which are due to highly probable transactions, and which are due to
changes in exchange rates and changes to the composition of the indeastarfidws
with respect to CPRlinked loans.
On the date when the hedge relationship is created, the group documents its risk
management purpose and strategy for executing the heddiegsroup also documents
the economic link between the hedged itemtaechedging instrument, including whether
the changes in the cash flows of the hedged item and of the hedging instrument are offset
one another.
Measurement of derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair valugtributable transaction costs are carried
to the statement of income upon their materialization. After initial recognition, derivatives
are measured at fair valuéhanges in fair value are accounted for as described below:
Fair value hedge
Changes in the fair We of a derivative financial instrument which is used as a fair value
hedge are carried to the statement of incoAudditionally, changes in fair value with
respect to the hedged item, with reference to the hedged risks, are also carried in parallel
to the statement of income, including an adjustment to the book value of the hedged item.
Cash flow hedging
When a derivative instrument is designated as a hedging instrument in cash flow hedging,
t he effective part of t h e uecié eamrigdets othern t h
comprehensive income, directly to a hedging resérire.effective part of the changes in
a derivativebs fair value, which is carri
cumulative change in the fair value of the hedgenh (according to its present valye
since the date when the hedge was creAtédth respect to the neeffective part, the
change in fair value is immediately carried to the item for financing income and expenses
in the statement of income.
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Note 2- Significant Accounting Policies (Cont.)

C. Financial instruments (Cont.)

5.

Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accountingCont.)

When the expected transaction results in the recognition of dimaorcial item (for
example, inventory the amounts which accumulated in the hedging reserve and in the
hedging cost reserve are included under the initial cost of théimancial item, @ the

date of its recognitiorf-or all hedges of other probably transactions, the amounts which
ave accumulated in the hedging reserve and in the hedging cost reserve are reclassified to
the statement of income in that period, or in those periods, duhimipwhe hedged future

cash flows affect profit and loss.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, or the hedging instrument
has been sold, expired, canceled, or exercised, then treatment according to hedge
accounting is canceled gspectively.When treatment according to hedge accounting is
discontinued, the amounts which accumulated in the past in the hedging reserve and in the
hedging cost reserve remain in the reserve, until the date when they are included in the
initial cost ofthe nonfinancial item(for transactions hedges which result in the recognition

of a nonfinancial iten), or until the date when they are reclassified to the statement of
income in the period, or in the periods, during which the hedged probable futufl®@waash

affect profit and losg§for hedges of other cash floys

Economic hedge

Hedge accounting is not applied to derivative instruments which are used for economic
hedging of financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currericjked to the
consumer price indexChanges in the fair value of those derivatives are carried to the
statement of income as financing income or expenses.

Derivatives which are not used for hedging purposes

Changes in the fair value of derivatives which not used for hedging purposes are carried

to the statement of income as financing income or expenses.
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D. Fixed assets

1.

Recognition and measurement

Fixed asset items are measured at cost aieucting accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of fixed assets includes costs which are directly attributed to the acquisition of the
asset. The cost of independently created assets includes the cost of materials and direct
work salary, as well as any additional cost which is directly attributed to the process of
introducing bringing the asset to the location and condition which are required in order to
for it to operate in the manner intended by management, as well astithatesf
decommissioning costs and removal of the items and restoration of the site where the item
is located(when there is an obligation to dismantle and vacate, or to restore hasite

well as discounted borrowing costs. Acquisition costs of sofwehich constitutes an
inseparable part of the operation of the associated equipment is recognized as part of the
cost of such equipmerReplacement parts, auxiliary equipment and backup equipment are
classified as fixed assets when they meet the defingf fixed assets in accordance with

IAS 16 otherwise, they are classified as inventory.

When significant parts of fixed assétscluding costs of significant periodic testsuch

as communication networks, have a different lifetime, they are tresgedeparate
componentgsignificant componenjof the fixed assets, and in the foregoing case, each
component is amortized according to its useful lifetime.

Changes in the obligation to dismantle and vacate items and to restore the site where they
are loated, excluding changes which are due to the passage of time, are added or deducted,
as applicable from the cost of the asset, in the period when they dheuamount which

is deducted from the cost of the asset will not exceed its book value, anthtieder, if

any, is applied immediately to the statement of income.

Subsequent costs

The cost to exchange a part of a fixed asset item and other subsequent costs are recognized
as part of the book value of fixed assets if it is expected thdttine economic benefit
embodied therein will flow to the Group and if its cost is reliably measurable. The book
value of a part of the replaced part of the fixed asset item is written off. Current
maintenance costs of fixed asset items are applied tstdtement of income upon their
materialization.

Depreciation

Depreciation is the systematic allocation of the recoverable value of an asset throughout its
useful lifetime. An asset is depreciated when it is available for use, i.e., when it has reached
the location and condition which are required in order for it to operate in the manner
intended by management.

Depreciation is applied to the statement of incqumess it is included in the book value

of another assptising the straight line method, throughout the estimated useful lifetime of
each part among the items of the fixed asset, since this method best reflects the projected
consumption pattern of the future economic benefits embodied in the/ssdts leagk

through leases, including lands and leasehold improvements, are depreciated over the
shortest period among the lease period and the useful lifetime of the assets, unless it is
reasonably expected that the Group will receive ownership of the asseteattbéthe

lease period. Owned lands are not depreciated.

Costs of general economic renovati¢ogerhau) are amortized throughout the remaining
useful lifetime of the relevant asset, or until the date of the next overhaul, whichever is

earlier.
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D. Fixed assetgCont.)
3. Depreciation (Cont.)
The estimated useful lifetime for the current reporting period and for the comparison
periods are as follows:

Years
Buildings 5-50 (mostly 20 years
Machines, facilities and equipmen 3-20 (mostly 15 years
Computers, office furniture,

equipment and other 3-17 (mostly 15 years
Telecommunication network 4-20 (mostly 12 years
Television equipment and

infrastructure 3-6
Packaging plants 20-33 (mostly 25 years
Installations and leasehold

improvements 3-17 (mostly 15 years

Estimates with respect to the depreciation method, useful lifetime and residual value are
re-evaluated at least at the end of each reporting year, and are adjusted when required.

40



DIC

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 2- Significant Accounting Policies (Cont.)

E. Intangible assets

1. Goodwill
Goodwill which was created as a result of the acquisiticub$idiaries and the acquisition
of activities as part of business combinations is presented under intangible assets. For
details regarding the measurement of goodwill upon initial recognition, see section A.1.
above.
Subsequent measurement
Goodwill is measured at cost, after deducting accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Goodwill with respect to investments accounted by the equity method accounted by the
equity method in the book value of the investment.

2. Research and development
Expenses associatedth research activities operations in order to acquire scientific or
technical knowledge and understanding are applied to the statement of income upon their
materialization.
Development activities are activities associated with plans to produce new tgroduc
processes, or to implement a significant improvement of existing products or processes.
Costs with respect to development activities are recognized as an intangible asset if and
only if all of the following are fulfilled: the development costs at@abty measurablehe
product or process are applicable in technical and commercial terfugjre economic
benefit is expected to arise from the prodaat] the Group has the intention and sufficient
sources to complete the development and to usdl theasset.
Costs which were recognized as an intangible asset with respect to development activities
include the cost of materials, direct labor costs, overhead costs which are directly attributed
to preparation of the asset for its intended use, stoduhted borrowing costs. Other costs
with respect to development activities are applied to the statement of income upon their
materialization.
Direct and indirect development costs which are due to the development of information
system software for selfise, and labor costs to employees who are engaged in the
development of software programs during the development stage, and overhead costs
which are directly attributable to the preparation of the asset for its intended use, are
discounted and recognize@ an intangible asset. These costs are amortized using the
straight line method, beginning on the date when the asset becomes ready Ydéithuse.
respect to these assets, impairment is evaluated once per year, until the date when they
become available fouse. Development costs which were previously recognized as an
expense are not recognized as an asset in subsequent peéapialized development
costs are amortized from the point in time when the asset became available for use, i.e.,
when it entered #arequired location and condition in order for it to operate in the manner
intended by management, throughout its useful lifetime.
In subsequent periods, development costs which were recognized as an intangible asset are
measured at cost leascumulated amortization and impairment losses.
Development assets which are not yet available for use are tested for impairment once per
year, in accordance with the provisions of International Accounting Staidesy 36,
Impairment of Assets.
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Note 2- Significant Accounting Policies (Cont.)

E. Intangible assetgCont.)

3.

Incremental costs to obtain contract

Incremental costs to obtain contracts with customers are capitalized to an asset when it is

expected that the Group will recoup thasests.Costs to obtain contracts which would

have materialized regardless of whether or not the contract is obtained are recognized as

an expense upon their materialization.

Costs which have materialized to fulfill a contract with a customer are recdgaszan

asset when they: are directly attributed to a contract which the Group is able to specifically

identify; create or improve the Groégpresources which will serve to fulfill a performance

obligation in the futureand when the costs are expectetdldoecoupedn any other case,

these costs are recognized as an expense upon their materialization.

Accordingly, incentives and incremental commissions which are paid to the &Group

employees and to marketers with respect to the realization of comttittsistomers are

recognized as intangible assets. In subsequent periods, costs to obtain contracts are
measured at cost less amortization in accordance with the expected service period with
respect to those contracts, and accumulated impairment loss.

Other intangible assets

A. Intangible assets which were acquired in a business combination are recognized at
fair value on the acquisition date. After initial recognition, intangible assets which
were acquired by the Group are measured at(ocodtiding direct costs which are
required in order to prepare the assets for opefatadter deducting accumulated
amortization(except with respect to intangible assets with an undefined lifgtame
after deducting impairment loss.

B. Subsequent costs are ogoized as an intangible asset only when they increase the
future economic benefit embodied in the asset with respect to which they were spent.
All other costs, including costs associated with goodwill or independently developed
brands, are applied to tetatement of income upon their materialization.

C. Customer relationsexcess cost attributed in subsidiaries to customer relations. These
customer relations have a defined lifetime.

D. Brand- excess cost attributed in subsidiaries to a br&nthebrands have a defined
undefined lifetime, while others have an undefined lifetime.

E. Except for goodwill, and for some of the brands, which have an undefined lifetime,
amortization is calculated in accordance with the economic benefit which is expected
to arise from the assets in each period, based on the estimated useful lifetime of each
group of assets, from the date when the assets are available {oaeysee in the
location and condition required for them to opexatean intangible asset incled
several components with different estimated useful lifetimes, the significant
components are amortized based on their estimated useful lifetimes. Intangible assets
which are created in the GraBpmember companies are not systematically amortized
so lorg as they are not available for use. Therefore, with respect to intangible assets
which are not available for use, such as development costs, impairment is tested at
least once per year, until the date when they become available for use.
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Note 2- Significant Accounting Policies (Cont.)
E. Intangible assetgCont.)
4. Other intangible assetqCont.)
The estimated useful lifetimes for the current reporting period and for the comparative
periods of the main intangible assets are as follows:

Years

Customer relations 5-15 (mostly 9 yearp
Licenses and frequencies 14-25 (mostly 20 years
Information systems and software

programs 35
Technology, development in process,

franchises and other 0-33 (mostly noramortized
Contract obtaining costs 2-3
Brands and trade names 0-10 (mostly noramortized

The systematic amortization of development in process, which was acquired in a
business combination, begins at the start of sales due to the deviglopedlogy.

The amortization period reflects the future useful lifetime, in accordance with the
estimate of the period when sales will result from the developed technology.
Estimates regarding the amortization method, useful lifetime and residual value ar
re-evaluated at least at the end of each fiscal year, and are adjusted as required.
Goodwill, brands with undefined lifetimes and development in process with an
undefined lifetime are not systematically amortized, but rather are evaluated at least
onceper year for impairment.

The estimated useful lifetime of intangible assets which are not amortized is evaluated
by the Group at least once per year in order to determine whether the events and
circumstances continue to support the determination thantdregible asset has an
undefined lifetime.
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F.

Investment property
Investment property is propertand or building or part of a building or both which is held
by the Group, as the owner or as a Hghtise asset, for the purpose of generating rental income,
or for capital appreciation, or both, and not for any of the following purposes:
(1) Use in the production or provision of goods or servioe$pr administrative purposes: or
(2) Sale in the ordinary course of business.
Investment property is measured for the first time at cost, including discounted borrowing costs.
Cost includes expenses which are directly attributed to the acquisitionestriment property.
The cost of investment property under self construction includes the cost of materials and direct
labor and other costs which are directly attributed to bringing the asset to the location in order
for it to operate in the manner intendayl managementn subsequent periods, investment
property is measured at fair value, and changes in fair value are applied to the statement
of income.
Investment property under construction is measured by the Group as follows:
(1) At fair value(without dscounting borrowing costswhen the fair value of the investment
property under construction is reliably measurahlg] -
(2) When the fair value is not reliably measurable, according to the fair value of the land, plus
cost during the construction ped until the earlier of either the construction end date and
the date when they fair value is reliably measurable.
When a property used by the owner becomes investment property, to be measured at fair value,
the property is réneasured at fair value, aml classified as investment property. Any profit
created from the remeasurement is applied to other comprehensive iflosgieand is
presented under the revaluation reserve, unless the profit cancels a previous impairment loss of
the property, in whicltase the profit is first applied to profit and Igap to the amount of the
previous impairment lo3sAny loss is directly attributed to profit and loss. When investment
property which was classified in the past as fixed assets is sold, the revalestiome which is
included in capital with respect to the investment property is transferred directly to retained
earnings.
Upon transition from investment property measured at fair value to fixed gssgisrty used
by ownej, or to inventory, itost for the purpose of the subsequent accounting treatment is
determined according to the fair value on the date of the aforementioned transition. In case of a
transition from inventory to investment property, which will be measured at fair value, any
difference between the fair value of the property on the same date and its previous book value is
applied directly to profit and loss.
The Group estimates the value of the investment property at least once per year, and when there
are indications of changes its value(whichever is earligr The liability with respect to the
payment of land betterment levies for investment property is recognized on the exercise date of
the rights Accordingly, as part of the measurement of fair value for investment prdysfore
the recognition of liabilities to pay land betterment levies, the negative cash flows attributed to
the levies are included.
Rightof-use assets which meet the definition of investment property are presented in the
statement of financial positiors anvestment property.
The Group applies the fair value model set forth in IAS 40 with respect to its investment
property, and accordingly, the Group applies the fair value model also teofighé assets
which meet the definition of investment propdrnyAS 40.
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G. Leases
The group leases lands, telecommunication sites, buildings, machines, equipment and vehicles.
The lease agreements are in force for various periods, and may include extension options.
The Group assesses, when engaging in the contract, whether the contract is a lease or includes &
lease A contract is a lease or includes a lease if the contraifénas the right to control the use
of an identifiable asset for a certain period of time, with respect to considefldt®&roup re
assesses whether a contract is a lease or includes a lease only if the contract terms have changec
With respect tdease contracts in the mobile segment, in the group of telecommunication sites
which include nodease components, such as services or maintenance, which are associated
with a lease component, the Group chose to treat the contract as a single lease m@pmpone
without separating the components.
With respect to lease contracts in groups of office buildings, warehouses, service centers and
vehicles which include nelease components, such as services or maintenance, which are
associated with a lease componéing Group chose to separate the lease components, and to
treat the lease component separately.
On the date of initial recognition, the Group recognizes a lease liability in the amount of the
present value of the future lease payments, including, interthe price of exercising the
extension options which are reasonably certain to be exercised.
In parallel, the Company recognizes a rightuse asset in the amount of the lease liability,
adjusted for any lease payments which have been paid on oe bleéocommencement date,
less any lease incentives which have been received, and plus any initial direct costs which have
materialized for the Group.
Variable lease payments which are linked to the consumer price index are initially measured
using the indx which applies as at the lease commencement date, and are included in the
calculation of the lease liability. When changes occur in the cash flows of the lease due to
changes to the index, the Group remeasures the lease liability according to the updated
contractual cash flows, as an adjustment to the-oflase asset.
Variable lease payments which are not linked to an index or foreign currency are not included
in the calculation of the lease liability, and are recognized in the statement of inctimee in
period when the event occurred, or when the condition which activated those payments was
fulfilled.
In cases where the interest rate implicit in the lease can be easily determined, th@ Group
incremental interest rate is used. This interest rateeisate which the Group would have been
required to pay in order to borrow, for a similar period, and with similar collateral, the amounts
which are required in order to obtain an asset with a similar value to that of thefrigia
assets in a similacenomic environment.
The lease period is the period during which the lease isancelable, including periods which
are covered by an option to extend the lease, if it is reasonably certain that the Group will
exercise the option, as well as periodsahihare covered by an option to cancel the lease, if it
reasonably certain that the Group will not exercise that option.
After the lease commencement date, the Group measuresfHgée assets which do not meet
the definition of investment property atstpless accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment loss, adjusted with respect to any remeasurement of the lease liability.
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G. LeasegqCont.)
The amortization of righof-use assetsvhich are not investment property is calculated
according to the straight line method, throughout the estimated useful lifetime of the leased asset
or of the lease period, whichever is shorter.

Years
Telecommunication sites 1-15 (mostly 5 yearks
Buildings 3-18 (mostly 10 years
Vehicles 3
Land for orchards 25-39 (mostly 30 years

As stated above, rigitf-use assets which meet the definition of investment property are
presented in the statement of financial position as investment property.
The interest on lease liabilities is recognized in the statement of income in each perigd du
the lease period, in an amount which generates a fixed periodic interest rate on the remaining
balance of the lease liability.
Payments with respect to shtetm leases of equipment and vehicles, and payments with
respect to leases in which the urigieg asset is of a low value, are recognized according to the
straight line method throughout the lease period, as an expense in the statement oSincame.
term leases are leases in which the lease period is 12 months or less.
In leases where the group slélases the asset, the Group classifies the sublease with respect to
the rightof-use asset which is due to the primary lease, and not with respect to the underlying
asset.

H. Deferred expenses
Investments in holding orchards
The Groupds 1 nvest megwhicts also imclude drtigdtiom systejparec h a r d
attributed to customer orchards which are ¢t
as part of a mulyear agreement between the partiesonsiderdon of the turnover from the
fruit, the Group covers the operating expenses of those orchalditonally, if the agreement
so prescribesan agreedipon additional sum is paid to the customer.
Orchard processing agreementre amortized from the tiaof their creation throughout the
remaining period of the agreement, up to 23 years, at variable rates of approximately 0.7% to
6% per year.
Transactions for the acquisition of irrevocable rights of use with respect to the capacity of
submarine communication cables
Transactions involving the acquisition of irrevocable rights of use with respect to the capacity
of submarine communication cables are treated as service receipt transactions. The amount
which was paid with respect to the udeghe communication cables is recognized as a deferred
expense, and is amortized in a straight line over the period specified in the agreement, which
constitutes the estimated useful lifetime of those capacities.

I.  Expenses associated with processimgchards in advance
Orchard processing expenses which are used in order to bring the fruit to its current location and
condition, with respect to unharvested fruit until the cutoff date, are recorded@®pessing
expenses, and are carried to theestesnt of income based on the amount of fruit which was
harvested until the cutoff date, which constitutes an approximation of the fruit saleéixate.
expenses are carried to the statement of income at the beginning of each season, while direct and
variable expenses are carried to the statement of income according to the progress on harvesting
the fruit during the season.
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J.

Inventory

Inventory is measured as the lower of either cost and theealtable valueThe cost of
inventory includes costs to acquire inventory and to bring it to its current location and condition.
In case of irprocess inventory, and finished goods inventory, cost includes the part attributed
to manufacturing overheadased on normal capacity.

The net realizable valug sections J to M belojs the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, after deducting the estimated cost to completion and the estimated costs
required to perform the sale. Net ieable value, as stated above, is evaluated on a routine basis,
while taking into account the product type and age, in accordance with past experience which
accumulated with respect to the lifetime of the product.

The cost of inventory is determined as fédws: inventory of goods in stores and warehouses

- according to the moving average methodinventory of raw materials and packaging-
according to an moving average, or on #first in - first outo basis, in accordance with the
characteristics of the raw materials; Finished goods inventory and irprocess inventory-

at standard cost which reflects the average production cost for the period, or based on
production expenses, where the raw materials and auxiliary component and is determined

on a fifirst in - first outo basis, and the labor component and indirect expenses are
determined based on a weighted average, or based on a moving average, in accordance
with the characteristics of the finished product; Purchased products and replacement

parts - on afifirst i n - first outo basis, or based on a moving average.

Inventory of cellphones and inventory used for landline communication

The inventory of cellphones, associated devices and replacement parts is presented at cost or at
net realizable value, whichevearlower.Cost is determined according to the moving average
method, and includes costs to acquire inventory and to bring it to its current location and
condition.

The Group periodically evaluates the condition and age of inventory, and rpoovigsons for
impairment of inventory as needed.

Inventory of real estate and residential apartments

Inventory of real estate and residential apartments is measured as the lower of either cost and
the net realizable value€ost of inventory includesosts required to acquire the inventory
(including prepared lease fgesd to bring it to its current location and condition. In case-of in
process inventory and inventory of completed buildings, cost includes the attributed part of
construction overhead.

In subsequent periods, with respect to apartments which have been sold, the inventory of

real estate and residential apartments is applied to the cost of sales, in accordance with the

rate of progress.

Real estate inventory which is acquired by the Giliaugp combination transaction in exchange

for the provision of construction services to the seller of the land is recognized according to its
fair value on the date when the terms of the agreement allow the Group to receive possession of
the land, in paradll with the recognition of the undertaking to provide construction services.
cases where the value of the land is not reliably measurable, the Group estimates the fair value
of the construction services which are given to the land owner.

In subsequemeriods, the aforementioned liability is adjusted in order to reflect the significant
financing component which is represented in the transathenundertaking to provide
construction services and real estate inventory are applied to income and cost ales,
respectively, in accordance with the rate of progress on the building in its entirety.
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L.

Inventory of real estate and residential apartments (Cont.)

Real estate inventory whichpsirchased by the Group in a receipts combination transaction, in

which the Group undertakes to transfer cash according to the sale price of the apartments which

will be built on the land, is measured according to the value of the financial liability wagh
created with respect to the expected future payments.

In subsequent periods, the financial liability is remeasured in accordance with the cash

flows which are expected to be paid, discounted periodically by the original effective

interest rate of the lability, and the change is recognized in the statement of income.

Method for allocation of costs to inventory of apartments in the entrepreneurial real estate

segment

The Group attributes the costs to each sale agreement separately, as deslowed

1 Identifiable direct costs are allocated specifically to each apartment.

1 Land costs(including fees, levies and finance with respect to landre attributed to
each contract according to the selling price less construction costs with respect to the
price of all apartments in the building, less construction costs.

1 The other shared construction costs which are not attributable to a specific apartment
are allocated according to the apartment area and the construction cost per square
meter with respect o the building in its entirety.

Inventory of fruit, pest control materials and packaging materials

The inventory of fruit, packaging materials and pest control materials is measured as the lower

of either cost or the net realizable vallibe cosbf inventory is determined as follows:

(1) Inventory offruitr-according to the fruitds purchase
growing items which were transferred from biological assets, which reflect the fair value
net of selling costs on the dediry date, plus other direct expenses.

(2) Inventory of packaging and pest control materalscording to the first infirst out(FIFO)
approach.
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O.

Discounting of borrowing costs

A qualifying asset isin asset regarding which a significant period of time is necessary in order
to prepare it for its intended use, or for its sale.

Specific and nosspecific borrowing costs were discounted for qualifying assets during the
period required focompletion and construction, until the date they are ready for their intended
use or for their sale. Other borrowing costs are charged, upon their materialization, to financing
expenses in the statement of income.

In the real estate segment, specific batng costs and nespecific borrowing costs were
discounted for qualifying assets during the period required for completion and construction, until
the date they are ready for their intended use.-$p@tific borrowing costs are discounted in

the same maran for the same investment in qualifying assets, or for that part thereof which is
not financed with specific credit, using a rate which is the weighted average of the cost rates
with respect to those credit sources whose costs were not specifically ntiéstoEoreign
currency differences due to credit in foreign currency are discounted if they are considered
adjustments to the interest cost. Other borrowing costs are applied to the statement of income
upon their materialization.

In case the development afqualifying asset is suspended, the discounting of borrowing costs
is suspended during that period.

In inventory of buildings for sale, wherein the control of the sold apartments is transferred over
time, the Group stops discounting borrowing costs erdtie when the construction and sale of

the project effectively began, which constitutes the date when the activities required for the sale
effectively concluded.

49



DIC

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 2- Significant Accounting Policies(Cont.)

P. Impairment

1.

Non-derivative financial assets

The Group recognizes a loss provision with respect to expected credit losses for financial
assets which constitute debt instruments measured at amortized cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, lease nemiglies and assets with respect to contracts with
customers due to transactions which fall under the scope of IFRS 15.

Impairment of a financial asset which constitutes a debt instrument at fair value through
other comprehensive income is recognized in stegement of income against other
comprehensive i ncome, and does not reduc
statement of financial position.

The Group evaluates, on each date of the statement of financial position, whether a
significant increaselsa occurred in the financial asse
recognition, on an individual basis or on a collective basis. For this purpose, the Group
compares the risk of default in the financial instrument on the reporting date, to tbe risk

a default in the financial instrument on the date of initial recognition, while taking into
account any reasonable information which can be substantiated, including forward looking
information.

With respect to financial assets whose credit risk hasased significantly, on their date

of initial recognition, the Group measures the loss provision in an amount equal to the
expected credit | oss throughout the 1inst
provision will be measured in an amount edoahe expected credit losses in a 12 month
period. The amount(or cancellatiop of projected credit differences is carried to the
statement of income.

With respect to financial instruments with a low credit risk, the Group assumes that the
credit risk ha not increased significantly since the date of initial recognition.

Notwithstanding the foregoindghe Group always measures the loss provision in an
amount equal to the expected credit | oss
for trade receivables or assets with respect to contracts with customers which are due

to transactions covered under IFRS 15, and for lease receivables arising from
transactions covered under IFRS 16
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P. Impairment (Cont.)
2. Non-financial assets

A. Timing of impairment test
The book value of nefinancial assets in the Group m which are not investment
property, inventory and deferred tax assets, is evaluated on each reporting date in
order todetermine whether indicators of impairment exist. The aforementioned
indicators which are evaluated by the Group with respect to the value of the
investments include a decrease in prices on the stock exchange, ongoing losses in its
investments, the branalthere it performs its investing activities, the excess cost
included in the investments, ndulfillment of research and development goals or of
the business plans of investee companies, and additional parameters.
If indicators of impairment exist, thestimated recoverable value of the asset is
calculated.The Group estimates the recoverable value of goodwill and intangible
assets with an undefined lifetime or which are not yet available for use, once per year,
on a fixed date for each cash generating, or more frequently, if indicators of
impairment exist.

B. Determination of cash generating units
For the purpose of implementing the impairment test, assets which cannot be
specifically evaluated are joined together into the smallest possible gi@sseais
which generate cash flows from ongoing use, which are primarily independent of
other assets and other groups of ags@ash Generating Urit)

C. Measurement of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating urthggtrer of either its
value in use or its fair value, after deducting selling expenses. In the determination of
value in use, the Group discounts the projected future cash flows which reflect the
current condition of the asset, and represent the bestagstiwith respect to the
economic conditions which will prevail during the aéseemaining useful lifetime.
The discounting of cash flows with respect to a cash generating unit is performed
according to the discount rate before taxes, whéflects the estimate of market
participants with respect to the time value of money and the specific risks attributed
to the asset or cash generating unit, for which the future cash flows which are expected
to arise from the asset or cash generatingwert not adjustedn the impairment
test of associate companies and joint ventures, cash flows are discounted according to
the appropriate discount rate after tax.
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P.

Impairment (Cont.)
Non-financial assetgCont.)

2.

D.

Recognition of impairment loss

Impairment losses are recognized when the book value of the asset, or of the cash
generating unit with which the asset is associated, exceeds the recoverable amount,
and are carried to the statement of income. Impairment loss of an asset which was
revaluedin the past, with the revaluation carried to a capital reserve, are carried to
other comprehensive income until the principal has been repaid, while the remainder
is carried to the statement of income.

Goodwill purchased within the framework of a busgmesmbination is allocated for

the impairment test of cash generating units, including those which existed in the
Group also before the business combination, which are expected to create benefits
from the synergy of the combination.

Each unit or group of nits to which the aforementioned goodwill was allocated
represents the lowest level in the Group at which goodwill is monitored for the
purpose of reporting to internal management, and is no greater than an operating
segmen{according to the group of sitar segmenis

In cases where goodwill is not monitored for the purpose of internal reporting, the
goodwill is allocated to operating segme(iisfore grouping similar segmeptand

not to a cash generating ufar group of cash generating unitghich is lower than

the operating segments.Impairment loss, if any, is allocated to decrease the book value
of the assets of the urfdr group of unitsin the following order: first, to decrease the
book value of any goodwilwhich was allocated to the cash generating (@migroup

of unitg), and then to the other assets of the (oritgroup of unity proportionately
according to the book value of each asset in the(angroup of units

For the purpose of applying the mpairment test of goodwill attributed to cash
generating units which are also held by nosontrolling interests, which were
measured for the first time according to the proportional part of those interests

in the net assets of the acquired entity, the bookalue of the goodwill and the

other excess costs which were allocated to the aforementioned cash generating
unit are grossed up in order to include the goodwill and other excess costs which

are attributed to the non-controlling interests. Subsequently, acomparison is
performed between the aforementioned adjusted book value and the recoverable
value of that unit, in order to determine whether its value has been impaired.

Goodwill and other excess costs are represented according to the stake in the
entity to which they are attributed on January 1, 2010, or on the original date of
recognition, whichever is later, and without taking into account control
premiums, insofar as any are included in the balances of goodwill.
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2. Non-financial assetqgCont.)
D. Recognition of impairment loss(Cont.)
Allocation of impairment loss to necontrolling interests
If impairment loss has been identified in a cash generating unit, as stated above,
the impairment loss is allocated between the owners of the Company and ron
controlling interests according to their relative shares in the goodwill and the
other excess costs to which the impairment loss is attributed, before
representation, as stated above. élvever, if impairment loss attributed to non
controlling interests refers to goodwill or to other excess costs which were not
recognized in the consolidated financial statements of the parent company, the
aforementioned impairment is not recognized as impganent loss. In such cases,
only impairment loss pertaining to goodwill and other excess costs which were
recognized in the Company6s financi al
loss.
Reversal of impairment loss
Impairment loss of goodwill is naeversed. With respect to other assets, for which
impairment losses were recognized in previous periods, on each financial reporting
date, a test is performed regarding whether indicators exist that such losses have
decreased, or no longer exishpairmer loss is reversed if changes have occurred in
the estimates which were used in the determination of the recoverable amount, only if
the assetds book value, after reversal
value, after deducting depreciatioor amortization, which would have been
determined had impairment loss not been recognized.
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P. Impairment (Cont.)

3.

Investments in associate companies and joint ventures

An impairment test with respect to an investment in an associate company or joint venture
is performed only where there is objective evidence indicating impairment. Such objective
evidence includes genal information regarding the market, decline in stock exchange
prices, ongoing losses in its investments the branch in which its investing activities take
place, norfulfilment of research and development goals of investee companies,
significant deviaton from the business plan of the investee companies, efforts to raise
capital at a lower price than the value of the investment in the financial statements, and
additional parameters.

Goodwill which constitutes a part of the account of the investmen¢ iagsociate company

or joint venture is not recognized as a separate asset, and therefore, impairment is not
evaluated separately for it.

If objective evidence exists indicating impairment of the value of the investment, the Group
estimates the recoveldabamount of the investment which is the higher of either its value

in use or its net selling price.

In its determination of the investmémtvalue in use, the Group estimates its share in the
present value of the estimated future cash flows, which aex&gto be generated by the
associate company or joint venture, including cash flows from its activities, and the
consideration from the ultimate realization of the investment, or estimates the present value
of the estimated future cash flows which arpeoted to result from the dividends which

will be received, and from the final realization.

Impairment loss is recognized when the book value of the investment, after application of
the equity method, exceeds the recoverable amandtjs applied to the iem for the
Group&s share in the loss of investee companies accounted by the equity method, net,

in the statement of income.

Impairment loss is not allocated to any asset, including to goodwill which constitutes a part
of the account of the investmenttire associate company or joint venture.

Impairment loss is canceled only if changes have occurred in the estimates which were
used in the determination of the recoverable amount of the investment, from the date when
the impairment loss was mastcently recognized. The book value of the investment, after
cancellation of impairment loss, will not exceed the book value of the investment which
would have been determined according to the equity method had impairment loss not been
recognized.

If exces costs are attributed to assets in the associate company or to assets in the joint
venture, and the aforementioned company performs an amortization for impairment with
respect to such assets, the Company amortizes the aforementioned attributed excess cost
and applies the amortization to the statement of income.

Q. Non-current assets anddisposal groups heldor sale

Non-current assetgor realization groups which are comprised of assets and liabildies
classified as assets held for sale if it is highly probable that the recoupment of their amount will
be implemented primarily through a sale transaction or a distribution to owners, and through
ongoing use. When a company is committed to a sale giahwnvolves loss of control of a
subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities which are attributed to the subsidiary are classified as
held for sale, will bear the Company will remain with any-gontrolling interests in the former
subsidiary after theale.
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Q.

Non-current assets andlisposal groups heldor sale (Cont.)

Immediately before their classification as held for sale, the agsetee components of the
disposal groupare measured accorditg the Grougs accounting policy. Subsequently, the
assets, the components of the realization gfoughe Group which is intended for realizafion

are measured according to the lower of either book value or fair value, net of selling costs.

Any impairment loss of a group designated for realization is initially attributed to goodwill, and
later, proportionately, to the remaining assets and liabilities, except that loss is not attributed to
assets which are not covered under the measuremetgipns of IFRS 5, such as: inventory,
financial assets, deferred tax assets, employee benefit plan assets, investment property measurec
at fair value. Impairment losses which are recognized upon initial classification of an asset held
for sale, as well asubsequent profit or loss due to the remeasurement, are applied to the
statement of income. Profit is recognized up to the cumulative amount of the impairment loss
which was recorded in the past.

In subsequent periods, depreciable assets classified |édsfdnesale are not periodically
depreciated, and investments in associate companies and joint ventures which are classified as
held for sale are not accounted by the equity method.

Discontinued operations

Discontinued operations are a component of thei@sobusiness operations which constitutes

an operation which was realized or which is classified as held for sale, as stated above, and
represents a significant separate business line, or a geographical area of an activity which is
significant and sepamt The classification as a discontinued operation is implemented on the
date when the operation was realized, or when it meets the criteria for classification as held for
sale, if this occurred previously.

Operating results which refer to discontinued apens are presented separately in the
statement of income after deducting the tax impact, and also with respect to comparative figures
which were restated for this purpose, as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of
the earliest comparisgeriod. Additionally, the Company presents the cash flows which are
attributed to a discontinued operation separately in the statements of cash flows, including
reclassification of the comparative figuresOn this matter, see Note 12 below.

Share captal

Ordinary shares

Costs which are directly attributed to an issuance of ordinary shares and share warrants are
presented as an amortization of capital.

Treasury shares

When share capital which was recognized under equity-psineghased by th€ompany, the
amount of consideration which was paid, including direct costs, is deducted from &baeity.
repurchased shares are classified as treasury sharédhen treasury shares are sold ofr re
issued, the difference between the consideration whicheeas/ed and the cost of the shares

is carried to equity, after deducting incremental costs which are directly attributable to the
transaction.
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S. Employee benefits

1. Postemployment benefits

The Group has several pasnployment benefit plans for employe@he plans are

generally financed by deposits to insurance companies or pension funds, and are classified

as defined deposit plans and as defined benefit plans.

A. Defined deposit plans
A defined deposit plan is a pesinployment plan according to which the Group pays
fixed payments to a separate entity without having a legal or implicit obligation to pay
additional payments. The Graipobligations to deposit indefined deposit plan are
applied as an expense to profit and loss on the date when the obligation to deposit
materializes.

B. Defined benefit plan
A defined benefit plan is a pesmployment benefit plan which is not a defined
deposit plan. A net obligatioof the Group which pertains to a defined benefit plan
with respect to postmployment benefits, with respect to each plan separately,
according to an estimate of the future amount of the benefit which will be owed to an
employee in consideration of theservices, in the current period and in previous
periods. This benefit is presented according to present value, after deducting the fair
value of the plan assets.
The Group determines the net interest on the lial(ssel, net, with respect to a
defined benefit, by multiplying the liabilityasse}, bet, with respect to that defined
benefit, by the discount rate which was used in the measurement of the liability with
respect to that defined benefit, as both were determined at the start of the annual
reporting period.
The discount rate is determined according to the yield, as at the reporting date, of high
quality CPtHlinked corporate debentures whose currency is the NIS, and whose
repayment dates are similar to the terms of the @solighilities on he same date.
The calculations are conducted each year by a licensed actuary, according to the
projected unit credit method.
When the results of the calculation indicate the creation of a net asset for the Group,
an asset is recognized up to the net amotifte present value of available economic
benefits in the form of reimbursement from the plan or reduction in future deposits to
the plan.An economic benefit in the form of reimbursements or reduction of future
deposits will be considered available ke tGroup when it is realizable during the
plands lifetime, or after the liability has been settled.
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Remeasurement of the liabili(gsse), net, with respect to a defined benefit, includes
actuarial profit and loss, return on plan as¢etsluding interedt and any change in

the impact on the asset ceilif@s relevant, excluding intergsRe-measurements

are applied immediately through dher comprehensive income directly to
retained earnings.

Interest costs with respect to a defined benefit liability, interest income with
respect to plan assets and interest with respect to the impact of the asset ceiling
which were applied to the statemenof income are presented under the items for
financing income and expenses, respectively.

If an improvement or decrease has occurred in the benefits provided by the Group to
employees, that part of the increased benefits pertaining to the past serthiee of
employees, or profit or loss from the reduction, are immediately recognized in profit
or loss when the amendment or reduction of the plan occurs.

The Group recognizes profit or loss from the settlement of a defined benefit plan when
the settlement oces. Profit or loss, as stated above, constitutes the difference
between the settled part of the present value of the defined benefit liability on the
settlement date, and the settlement price, including plan assets which were transferred.
The Group hasnanager8insurance policies which were issued before 2004, and in
accordance with the policy terms, the real balance of profit which accrued on the
severance pay component will be paid to the employee on the date of retiidfient.
respect to such polies, the plan assets include both the balance of the severance pay
component and the real balance of profit which accriifedny) on deposits to
severance pay, until the date of the statement of financial position, and they are
presented at fair value.

These plan assets are used for a defined benefit plan which includes two liability
components: the defined benefit plan component with respect to the severance pay,
which is calculated on an actuarial basis, as stated above, and an additional component
whichis the undertaking to pay the real balance of profit which has ac(ifued)

on the date of the employ@eretirementThis component is measured in the amount

of the real balance of profit which has actually accrued as at the reporting date.
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S. Employee benefitCont.)

2.

Other long term employee benefits

The Groupbs net l iability with respect t
attributed to posemployment benefit plans, is in taenount of the future benefit owed to

the employees with respect to services which were provided in the current period and in
previous periods. The amount of these benefits is capitalized to its present value, less the
fair value of the assets attributedtat liability.

The discount rate is determined according to the yield, as at the reporting date, of high
quality CPHinked corporate debentures whose currency is the NIS, and whose repayment
dates are similar to the terms of the Gi@upabilities onthe same date. The calculation is
performed using the projected unit credit method. Actuarial profit and loss are applied to
the statement of income for the period when they were created.

Severance benefits

Severance benefits are recognized as an eep@hen the Group has clearly committed,
with no real possibility of cancellation, to the dismissal of employees, before they have
reached the conventional retirement date in accordance with a detailed formal plan, or to
provide severance benefits as auliesf an offer which was made to encourage voluntary
retirement. Benefits which were given to employees with respect to voluntary retirement
are applied as an expense when the Group has offered to employees a plan which
encourages voluntary retirementdamnhen it is expected that the offer will be accepted
and when the number of employees accepting the offer is reliably measurable.

Short term employee benefits

Liabilities with respect to short term employee benefits are measured ordéssnounted

basis, and the expense is applied upon provision of the relevant service, or in case of non
accumulated absencgsich as maternity leayein case of actual absence

A provision with respect to short term employee benefits due to a cash bonus or a profit
sharing plan is recognized according to the amount which is expected to be paid when the
Group has a current legal or implicit liability to pay the aforementioneduatmwith
respect to service which was given by the employee in the past, and when the liability is
reliably measurable. The classification of employee benefits for purposes of measurement
as short term benefits, or as other long term benefits, is detatiaicording to the Grotp
forecast regarding the full settlement of the benefits.

Share-based payment transactions

The fair value on the grant date of shbhesed payments to employees is carried as a
payroll expensdn parallel the increase in retaned earningsduring the vesting period,

the period in which a requirement applies to fulfill all of the defined conditions for the
vesting of the sharbased payment arrangement.

The amount which was applied as an expense with respect tebstsaedpaynrd bonuses,

which are conditional upon vesting terms which constitute service terms, was adjusted in
order to reflect the number of bonuses which are expected to vest.
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T.

Provisions
A provision isrecognized when the Group has a current legal or implicit liability, as a result of
an event which occurred in the past, and which is reliably measurable, and when it is more likely
than not that resources will be required in order to settle the liabilitg. provisions were
determined by discounting future the cash fldnyshe interest rate before tax which reflects
the current market estimates regarding the time value of money and the specific risks of
the liability, without taking into account the credit risk of the debtor company. The book
value of the provision is adjusted in each period in order to reflect the passage of time. The
amount of the adjustment is recognized as financing expenses.
The Group recognizes an indemnification asset if and bntyis virtually certain that the
indemnification will be received if the Company settles the liabillige amount which is
recognized with respect to the indemnification does not exceed the amount of the provision.
1. Warranty
The provision for warrdy is recognized when the products or service, with respect to
which the warranty was given, are soldhe provision is based on historical data and on
the weighing of all possible results, including their probabilities.
2. Onerous contracts
When theunavoidable costs with respect to the contract are expected to exceed the
expected benefits from the contract, an onerous contract provision is recodrized.
provision is measured according to the lower of either the present value of the projected
cost to terminate the agreement, and the present value of the unavoidabl@eatosts
incomg to continue fulfilling the agreementinavoidable costs are costsvhich the
Company cannot avoid, since it is bound by a contract.
When the total contract costs are expected to exceed the total contract income, the expected
loss should be recognized as an expense immediately.
The amount of such loss is determined withtaking into account the following factors:
(A) Whether work in connection with the agreement has commenced,;
(B) The completion stage of the activities in connection with the agreement;
(C) The amount of profits which are expected to be created wipleceto other contracts
which are not treated as a single construction contract.
Expected contract losses are identified with respect to expected contract costs, i.e., the total
contract completion cos{scluding loading indirect costs
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3. Contingent liabilities and legal claims

Legal claims with unique characteristics are not joined together, and the need for

recognition of provisions with respect to them is evaluated sehara

A claims is recognized when group the Group has a legal obligation in the present, or an

implicit liability as a result of an event which occurred in the past, when it is more likely

than not that the Group will require its economic resources irr todeettle the liability,

and when it is reliably measurable.

When the impact of the value of time is significant, the provision is measured in accordance

with its present value. The amount of the provisions which were performed is based on an

estimate bthe degree of risk associated with each of the claims, when events which take
place during the litigation may require aeealuation of such risk.

In estimates regarding the chances of legal claims which were filed against the Company

and its investeeompanies, the companies rely on the opinions of their legal advisors.

These opinions of the legal advisors are based on their best professional judgment, in

consideration of the stage of the proceedings, and on their accumulated legal experience

on the vaious issues. The results of the claims will be determined in the courts.

The Group is involved in legal proceedings which were recently filed, although at this stage

it is not possible to estimate their chan(se also Note 22.C. belpw

A provision with respect to unasserted claims is recognized in accordance with tlie claim

overall chances of success, if filed, against the Gromgmber companig¢a/hich is based

on the probability of the filing of the claim and the cl@mhances of saes3.

4. Expenses payable with respect to fruit purchases

Once the fruit is accepted for packaging, an advance is paid to Migdal with respect to the

fruit, dependi ng on tAddtionally,laiptovis®n iy made te t y

supplement the price according to costing data which are available to the Group as at the

cutoff date These provisions, which were paid after the reporting date, are recorded if they
have already been paid under trade payables, and if the provisidndeohander the item

for payables with respect to fruit purchases, under the payables section.

U. Revenue
1. Identification of contract

The Group handles a customer contract only upon fulfillment of all of the following

conditions:

(A) The parties to the contract have approved the confiractriting, verbally or in
accordance with other standard business pragtie@sl are obligated to fulfill the
undertakings which have been assigned to them;

(B) The Group is able to identify theghts of each party, with respect to the products or
services which will be transferred;

(C) The Group is able to identify the payment terms with respect to the goods or services
which will be transferred;

(D) The contract is of a commercial natgire other words, the risk, timing and amount of
the entityds future cash fl ows are; expe
and

(E) The Group is expected to collect the consideration which it is entitled to receive with
respect to the goods or sexs which will be transferred to the customer.
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For the purpose of determining the fulfillment of condit{&), the Group evaluates, inter

alia, the percentage of advanpayments which were received, and the method for

distribution of payments in the contract, prior experience with the customer, its situation,

and the existence of sufficient collateral.

When a customer contract does not meet the above criteria, any catmsde/hich has

been received from the customer is recognized as a liability until the foregoing conditions

have been met, or upon the occurrence of one of the following events: there are no

commitments left for the Group to transfer goods or servicdgetoustomer, and the entire

consideration which was guaranteed by the customer has been received, and cannot be

returned;or the contract was canceled, and the consideration which was received from the

customer cannot be returned.

2. Grouping of contracts

The Group groups two or more contracts which were entered into on the same date, or on a

proximate date, with the same custonjer with related parties of the custorjeand

handles them as a single contract, upon the fulfilment of one or ofidree following

criteria:

(A) Negotiations regarding the contracts are conducted as a single package, with a single
commercial purpose;

(B) The total consideration which will be paid in one contract depends on the price or
performance of the other coatt;or

(C) The goods or services which were guaranteed in the confmactertain goods or
services which were guaranteed in each of the contracsstitute a single
performance obligation.

3. Identification of performance obligations

The Groupestimates, on the date of entry into the agreement, the goods or services which

were guaranteed in a contract with the customer, and identifies as a performance obligation

any guarantee to transfer to the customer one of the following two things:

(A) Goodsor servicegor a package of goods or servicesich are separate; or

(B) A series of separate goods or services which are effectively identical, and which have
the same pattern of transfer to the customer.

The Group identifies goods or services whiclvehdeen guaranteed to the customer as

separate, when the customer is able to derive benefit from the goods or services themselves,

or along with other resources which are easily obtainable by the customer, and when the

Groups guarantee to transfer the gesmr services to the customer is identifiable separately

from the other guarantees in the contricarder to evaluate whether a guarantee to transfer

goods or services is separately identifiable, the Group evaluates whether a material service

is providced involving combining the goods or services with other goods or services which

were guaranteed in the contract, into a combined product for which the customer entered

into the contract.

Option to purchase additional goods or services

An option which gives a customer the right to purchase additional goods or services

constitutes a separate performance obligation in the contract only if the option gives the

customer a significant right which it would not have received had it not entered into the

original contract.
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3.

Identification of performance obligations (Cont.)

Determination of the transaction price

The transaction price is the total consideration which the Group expects to be entitled to
receive in consideration of the transfer of goods or services which have been guaranteed to
the customer, except for amounts which were collected in favor of taimtteg When
determining the transaction price, the Group takes into account the effects of all of the
following: variable consideration, the existence of a significant financing component in the
contract, norcash consideration and consideration payabtbd customer.

Variable consideration

The transaction price includes fixed amounts and amounts which may change as a result of
discounts, reimbursements, credits, price concessions, incentives, performance bonuses,
claims and disputes, as well asmhes to the contract, whose consideration has been agreed
upon by the patrties.

The Group includes, in the transaction price, all or part of the variable consideration, only
when it is highly probable that significant cancellation of the total cumulatbegna which

was recognized will not occur, when the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration will be found out later oAt the end of each reporting period, the Group
updates, if necessary, the estimated total of the varablgderation which was included

in the consideration for the transaction.

In the retail segment, variable consideration is primarily due to volume discounts

which the group offers to its customers. The Group estimates the amount of variable
consideration by using the most likely amount method, since this method best
describes the amount of consideration which it will be entitled to receive.

Existence of a significant financing component

For the purpose of measuring the transaction price, the Group ddpisisal consideration

which was guaranteed with respect to the effect of the time value of money, if the timing of
the payments, which was agreed upon between the parties, provides to the customer or the
Group a significant benefit in terms of financjrng which cases the contract includes a
significant financing componentn the assessment of whether a contract includes a
significant financing component, the Group evaluates, inter alia, the forecasted time
between the date when the Group transfergtioels or services which were guaranteed to

the customer, and the date when the customer pays for those goods or services, as well as
the difference, if any, between the total guaranteed consideration, and the selling price in
cash of the guaranteed goasservices.

When the contract includes a significant financing component, the Group recognizes the
total consideration using the discount rate which would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between it and the customer, on the date of teenagnt.The financing
component is recognized as interest income or expense during the period according to the
effective interest method.
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4.

Variable consideration (Cont.)

In cases where the difference between the date of receipt of payment, and the date
when the goods or service argansferred to the customer is one year or less, the Group
applies the practical expedient set forth in the standard, and does not separate a
significant financing component.

Non-cash consideration

Non-cash consideration is measured at fair value. When it is not possible to reasonably
measurable the fair considerationds value
with respect to theeparate selling price of the goods or services which were guaranteed to
the customer.

Date of revenue recognitior(fulfilment of performance obligation)

Income is recognized when the Group fulfills a performance obligation by transferring the
controlof goods or services which were guaranteed to the customer.

Measurement of progress on the fulfillment of a performance obligation

When measuring the progress of performance using a method which is based on inputs, cost
which has materialized and mot proportional to the progress on the fulfillment of the
performance obligation is not taken into account in the measurement of the completion rate.
In such cases, the Group recognizes revenue in an amount equal to the cost of goods which
were used to fiéill the performance obligatio(performance obligation, zero mar@jimpon

the fulfilment of the following conditions: the goods are not sepafite; customer is
expected to gain control of the goods a significant period of time before receiving the
relevant servicesThe cost of the goods is significant relative to the total expected contract
costs;And the Group acquires the goods from a third party, and is not significantly involved
in the production and manufacturing of the goods.

In the service mvision segment, the total consideration in certain contracts includes a
variable component and a variable compongnich as management fees which are
conditional upon incomeFixed amounts are recognized in a straight line over the period
when the sergies are provided/ariable amounts are for the period generally in the period
when the relevant services were provided, if they are attributable to the&Sestguts to

fulfill the performance obligation in that period, and if the method of recognamstated
above, reflects the amount which the Group is entitled to receive in consideration of the
provision of services to the customer.

Additionally, in cases where the Group is entitled to receive consideration from the
customer, in an amount whichréctly corresponds to the value for the customer of the
Groups performance, which was completed until that date, the Group adopts the practical
expedient prescribed in the standard, and recognizes income in the amount for which the
Group is entitled to amit an invoice.
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6. I n the Groupds real estate segment

The Group is required to estimate, with respect to each contract with a customer, whether it

is fulfilling the over time or at a single point in tinjgpon delivery, in order to determine

the appropriate method for recognition of income.

The Group fulfils the performance obligation and recognizes revenue over time if one of

the following criteria is fulfilled:

A. The customer receives and consumes simultaneously the benefits which are provided
by the Grougs performance, insofar as the Group is the performing entity.

B. The Grougs performance creates or improves a prop@dy example, work in
progres¥ which is controlled by the customer, during the creation or improvement
thereof.

C. The Grougs performance does not create an asset with alternative use for the Group,
and the Group has the right to enforceable payment with respect to performance which
was completed until that date.

Income from rent and management fees

Rent from investment progg and management fees for the routine operation of
properties are recognized under profit and loss using the straight line method
throughout the lease period. Lease incentives which were provided are recognized as
an inseparable part of the total incofrem rent throughout the lease period.

Services

Income is recognized over time in the reporting period when the services were
provided, since the customer receives and consumes simultaneously the benefits
which are provided by the Grotgperformance, whethe Group provides those
services.

Sale of inventory of real estate and residential apartments

The Group has reached the conclusion that its sale contracts with customers in the
entrepreneurial real estate segment in Israel, based on regulation tsepsoof the

law and the relevant regulations in Israel, and based on legal opinions which were
received, an asset has not been created with an alternative use for the Group, and it
has the right to enforce the fulfilment of the contrdotthese circuntances, the

Group recognizes revenue over time. When the aforementioned conditions have not
been met, the revenue is recognized at a single point in time.

The Company recognizes revenues with respect to each contract separately, provided
that the amounts kich were received, as at the reporting date, with respect to the
contract, represent 15% or more of the total contract amdbatGroup determines

the amount of revenue from each contract in accordance with the transaction price
with each customer sepéedy.
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6. I n the Groupds (Cema)l estate segment
C. (Cont.)
Recognition of revenue from combination transactions
Real estate inventory which is acquired by the Groupconabination transaction in
exchange for the provision of construction services to the seller of the land is
recognized according to its fair value on the date when the terms of the agreement
allow the Group to receive possession of the land, in paralieltixe recognition of
the undertaking to provide construction servitexases where the value of the land
IS not reliably measurable, the Group estimates the fair value of the construction
services which are given to the land owner.
In subsequent pemnis, the aforementioned liability is adjusted in order to reflect the
significant financing component which is represented in the transaction. The
undertaking to provide construction services and real estate inventory are applied to
income and cost of saleespectively, in accordance with the rate of progress on the
inventory in its entirety.
Measurement of performance progress
The Group determines the rate of progress according to which revenue is recognized
with respect to each sale contract as theafpeogress of the building in its entirety.
The rate of progress was determined in accordance with the ratio between the
construction costs which actually materializectcluding payments with respect to
land and financingand the scope of the contraétioe developing contractor at base
prices(not including land costs and financing csts
Method of presentation of income receivable and advance payments from
customers
Income receivable constitutes an asset which is recognized when the Grouped entitl
to receive consideration with respect to a real estate property which the Group has
transferred to the customer.
Advance payments from apartment buyers constitute liabilities with respect to
contracts, and represent the consideration which the Growgwvedcbefore it
transferred the real estate property to the customer.
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7.1l n the Groupods telecommunications segment
Income due to the provision of telecommunication services, which include mobile services,
internet services, international call services, landline telephony services, reciprocal
connectivity, roaming services, content and value added services, transisesgioes and
television over internet services, is recorded upon the provision of the services
proportionately until the transaction completion stage, when all of the criteria for the
recognition of revenue have been fulfilled.

The sale of equipment tbe customer is performed without a contractual obligation of the
customer to acquire services in a minimum amount for a predefined period. As a result, the
Group considers the equipment transaction as a separate transaction, and recognizes the
revenues from equipment in accordance with the value of the transaction on the date when
the equipment isransferredo the customer. Revenues from services are recognized and
recorded upon the provision of the services.

8. Incremental costs to obtain contract
Incremental costs to obtain contracts with customers are recognized as assets when it is
considered likely tat the Group will recoup those costs. Costs to obtain contracts which
would have materialized regardless of whether or not the contract is obtained are recognized
as an expense upon their materializafgse also section E.8bove.

Costs which have matialized to fulfill a contract with a customer, and which do not fall
under the scope of another standard, are recognized as an asset when they: are directly
attributed to a contract which the Group is able to specifically idemti&gte or improve
theGroups resources which will serve to fulfill a performance obligation in the futune;

when the costs are expected to be recoupeghy other case, these costs are recognized as

an expense upon their materialization.

Costs which have been discountsdha asset are depreciated to the statement of income on

a systematic basis which is consistent with the transfer of the goods or services to which the
asset is attributed.

I n each reporting period, t he Groulpwazsval u
recognized as stated above, exceeds the balance of the consideration which the entity
expects to receive in consideration of the goods or services to which the asset is attributed,
less the costs which are directly attributable to the provisionasetigoods or services,

which were not recognized as expenses, and if necessary, impairment loss is recognized in
the statement of income.
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8.

10.

Incremental costs to obtaincontract (Cont.)

In the real estate initiation segmentthe Group determines the cost attributed to each sale

contract separately in accordance with the following:

A. Land costgincluding fees, levies and land financjnghese costs will be attributed
to each agreement in accordance with the value of the unit which is the subject of that
agreement, relative to the value of the project in its entirety. The aforementioned value
is primarily affected by the location of tlwit in the building, the designation of the
unit and the area of the unit.

B. Construction costsin accordance with the size of the unit and the construction cost
per square meter, as arising from the Gosupgreements with its executing
contractors.

Incremental costs to obtain contracts with customers are recognized as assets when it is

considered likely that the Company will recoup those costs. Accordingly, commissions

which are paid to marketers and agents with respect to the sale of residantakafs are
recognized as an asset upon the signing of the sale contract, and are amortized as selling
expenses in accordance with the rate of progress, for apartments which were sold over time.

Warranty

For the purpose of assessing whether a warpaotvides a separate service to the customer,

and therefore constitutes a separate performance obligation, the Group evaluates, inter alia,

the following characteristics: whether the customer has the possibility to purchase a

warranty separately; Wheth#ve warranty is required by lawhe length of the liability

coverage period and the nature of the activities which the Group guarantees to perform
under the liability contract.

Within the framework of contracts with customers, the Group provides wasamniges to

customers in accordance with the contract, the provisions of the law or the standard practice

in the branch. The warranty services are given in order to guarantee the quality of work and
the fulfillment of the specification which was agreednpetween the parties, and do not
constitute an additional service which is given to the custolmesuch cases, the Group

does not identify the warranty as a separate performance obligation, but rather treats it in

accordance with the provisions of IA%/, and recognizes a provision for warranty,

according to the estimated cost of the aforementioned services.

Sales with right of recourse

For contracts which allow the customer to return purchased goods, income is recognized in

the amountregarding which it is highly probable that a significant cancellation of the

amount of accumulated income which were recognized will not odherefore, the
amount of recognized income is adjusted with respect to the expected returns, which have
been esmated based on historical data and past experience. Returned goods are only
replaced for new goodb such cases, a liability for returns, and an asset with respect to the
right to receive back the products, are recognized.
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11.

12.

13.

Contractual assets and contractual liabilities

A contractual asset is recognized when the Group has the right to receive consideration with
respect to goods or services which the Grouptlaassferred to the customer, while this

right is conditional upon a different entity than the passage of time, for example, thésGroup
future performance. The contractual assets are classified to the item for receivables when
the rights with respect theéoebecome unconditional.

Contractual liabilities are recognized when the Group is obligated to transfer goods or
services to the customer, for which it has not received considefation when t he ar
due date has arrivid

Offsetting of contractualssets and contractual liabilities

An asset and liability with respect to the same contract are presented net in the statement of
financial position. However, a contractual asset and liability arising from different contracts
are presented gross in the staént of financial position.

Primary supplier or agent

When the Group is the primary supplier, it recognizes the revenues according to the gross
total consideration, if the Group is obligated to arrange for another party to provide those
goods or serges, then the Group is an agent, and therefore recognizes the revenue
according to the net amount of the commission.

The Group is the primary supplier when it controls the guaranteed goods or service before
hey are transferred to the custonmedicators showing that the Group controlled the goods

or service before the transfer thereof to the customer include, inter alia, the following: the
Group is the main party responsible for fulfilling the contractual obligatibhe; Group

bears inventoryisk before the goods or services have been transferred to the cugtother;

the Group has discretion regarding the determination of prices for the goods or services.
Within the framework of contract projects in which the work is performed through
subcontractors, the Group serves as the primary supplier, while its obligation is to
provide the contract services itself, and therefore the income is recognized in the gross
amount of the consideration.

In the property rental and management segment, the Group mvides electricity and
management services for the lessees. In cases where the Group is unable to direct the
transferred service to the customer, and essentially serves as an agent, the revenue is
recognized on a net basidn other cases, the income is mgnized on a gross basis.
Recognition of revenue with respect to contracts which were signed following progress

on performance

In the real estate initiation segmentin cases where the Group begins performing actions

in connection with an expectedrdract before a binding contract has been signed with the
customer, when signing the contract, the Group recognizes the revenue on a cumulative
( datch up@ )basis which reflects the performance obligations which were partially
completed or completed as at the signing date of the agreement.
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V. Cost of Sales

1. Cost of sales in the Group tonnection with the provision of communication services
primarily includes end user equipment acquisition costs, payroll and associated expenses,
value added services expenses, royalties expenses, routine licensing fees, expenses with
respect to reciprocaind roaming connections, rental costs of mobile sites, depreciation and
amortization expenses and maintenance expenses, which are directly associated with the
provision of the services.

2. Discounts from suppliers the Group recognizes discounts whicle aeceived from its
suppliers as a reduction of the purchase cost. Therefore, part of the discounts with respect
to that part of the purchase which is added to the closing inventory is attributed to inventory,
and the remaining part of the discounts redube cost of sales.

Some of the discounts are discounts at a fixed rate which is not dependent upon the scope
of acquisitions, some in a variable amo(ihts discount is calculated as a fixed percentage

of total acquisitions from the suppljeland are recognized upon thefpemance of the

relative purchases which entitled the Group to the aforementioned discounts.

W. Financing income and expenses
Financing income includes interest income and linkage differentials with respect to financial
assets, dividend income and imstr with respect to marketable securit{egcluding from
associate companies and joint ventures, from financial assets presented at fair value through
profit and loss which do not constitute a part of the Giliguid resources, and excluding
dividendswhich clearly constitute recoupment of investmenicrease in the fair value of
financial assets presented at fair value through profit angidssh also include income from
dividends and interes), which constitute a part of the GraBsdiquid resouces, profits from
foreign currency differences and hedging instruments which are recognized in profit and loss,
profit from early redemption of debentures, decrease in the fair value of financial liabilities
measured at fair value through profit and l@ss] interest income from sales on credit.
Interest income is recognized upon accrual, using the effective interest method. Income from
dividends is recognized on the date when the Group obtains the right to receive payment. If the
dividend was received Wi respect to marketable shares, the Group recognizes the dividend
income on the ex date.
Interest income with respect to loans which have characteristics of long term capital investments
to investee companies accounted by the equity method are cancalest e Groufs share
in the(profit) loss of investee companies accounted by the equity method, net.
Financing expenses include interest expenses and linkage differentials on loans which were
received, changes with respect to the value of time in provisions and with respect to deferred
consideration, decrease in the fair value of financial assets prseridgr value through profit
and losswhich constitute a part of the Groups liquid resources,impairment losses of
financial assetgexcluding losses with respect to impairment of trade receivables, which are
presented under general and administratierse} losses from hedging instruments which
are recognized under profit and loss, increase in the fair value of financial liabilities measured
at fair value through profit and loss, and losses from foreign currency differences. Borrowing
costs which & not capitalized to qualifying assets are applied to the statement of income using
the effective interest method.
Changes in the fair value of financial assets presented at fair value through profit and loss also
include income from dividends and interes
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W. Financing income and expense&ont.)
Profit and loss from foreign currency differences with respect to financial assets and
liabilities and hedging instruments are reported net as financing income or financing
expenses, depending on the fluctuations in the exchange rate, and depending onrthei
position (profit or loss, net).
The statements of cash flows include the presentation of interest which was received within
the framework of cash flows from investing activities. Interest paid and dividends paid are
presented under cash flows from finaning activities Accordingly, borrowing costs
capitalized to qualifying assets are presented together with the interest which was paid
under cash flows from financing activities.

X. Taxes onincome
Taxes on income include current and deferred taxes. Current and deferred taxes are applied to
the statement of income, unless the tax is due to a business combination, or are applied directly
to capital or to other comprehensive incaofess if they are die to items which are recognized
directly under capital or other comprehensive incioss.
Current tax is the tax amount which is expected to be (paiteceivedl on he taxable income
for the year, calculated according to the tax rates which apply under the laws which were enacted
or effectively enacted as at the date of the statement of financial position. Current taxes also
include taxes with respect to previoresars.
The group offsets current tax assets and liabilities if a legally enforceable right exists to offset
current tax assets and liabilities, and if there is an intention to settle current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis, or if the current tssets and liabilities are settled simultaneously.
A provision with respect to uncertain tax positions, including additional tax expenses and
interest, is recognized when it is more likely than not that the Group will require economic
resources to setttée liability.
The recognition of deferred taxes applies with respect to temporary differences between the book
value of assets and liabilities for the purpose of financial reporting and their value for tax
purposes. The Group does not recognize defeéapaxs with respect to the following temporary
differences: initial recognition of goodwill, initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a
transaction which does not constitute a business combination, and which does not affect
accounting profit and pfib for tax purposes, and differences due to investment in subsidiaries,
in joint arrangements and in associate companies, if the Group controls the difference reversal
date, and if it is expected that they will not reverse in the foreseeable futureeminetihay of
realization of the investment or by way of a dividend distribution with respect to the investment.
The measurement of deferred taxes reflects the tax implications which will result from the way
in which the Group expects, upon conclusionréggorting period, to repay or settle the book
value of the assets and liabilities. With respect to investment property which is measured using
the fair value model, there is a refutable assumption according to which the book value of the
investment propeytwill be repaid by a sal®eferred taxes are measured according to the tax
rates which are expected to apply on the date when they are expected to be realized, based on
the laws which were enacted, or effectively reporting date, as at the reporting date.
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X. Taxes on incomgCont.)
A deferred tax asset is recognized in the books with respect to transferred losses, tax benefits
and deductible temporary differences, when it is expected that tarabtae will arise in the
future, against which it will be possible to use them, in consideration of the current tax losses
which are expected materialize during the tax year when the temporary differences will be used,
and against which they can be usbdferred tax assets are evaluated on each reporting date,
and if the attributed tax benefits are not expected to materialize, they are amortized.
Deferred tax assets which were not recognized aegakiated on each reporting date, and are
recognized if he expectation has changed such that taxable income is expected to arise in the
future, against which they can be used.
The Groupoffsets deferred tax assets and liabilities if a legally enforceable right exists to offset
current tax assets and liabilgieand if they are attributed to the same taxable income by the
same tax authority in the same assessee company, or in different companies, which intend to
settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, or if the deferred tax assets aied liabilit
are settled simultaneously.
The Group may be required to pay a tax addition in case of dividend distributions by thésGroup
member companies.
This tax addition is not included under deferred taxes, when the policy of thed&Smember
companies isa@t to cause, in the foreseeable future, a dividend distribution which involves a tax
addition for the receiving company. In cases where an investee company is expected to distribute
dividends from profits due to which the dividend involves a tax addibothie Company, the
Company creates a tax reserve with respect to the tax addition which the Company may be
required to pay with respect to the aforementioned dividend.
Additional taxes on income which are due to dividend distributions by the Grougmbe
companies are applied to the statement of income on the date when the liability to pay the
relevant dividend is recognizeldeferred taxes with respect to ii@mpany transactions in the
consolidated financial statements are tax rate according tat&axvhich applies to the buyer
entity.

Y. Segmental reporting
Operating segments are reported according to the same basis which is used for the purpose of
the internal reports which are submitted t
who is responsible for all oc atgments, andeassessingc e s
their performance.
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Z. New standards and amendments to existing standards which have not yet been adopted
1. APresentation of @ihreamAimeln d3némtte meontl AS 1
The amendment to IAS 1 clarifies the guidelines for the classification of liabilities as
current omon-current in the statement of financial positidhe amendment clarifies, inter
alia, that:
A. Liabilities will be classified as neaurrent if the entity has a substantive right to defer
the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after thegtie reporting period.
The amendment also clarifies that the e
is irrelevant for the purpose of classifying the liability, and cancels the reference to the
existence of an unconditional right.
B. Substantiverights, as stated above, exist only if the entity fulfills the relevant
conditions as at the balance sheet date.
C. The fisettlemento of the I|liability inclu
economic resources, or equity instruments of the emdibyvever, conversion rights
with respect to convertible instruments which have been classified to equity do not
affect the classification of the liability with respect to the instrument.
The amendment to IAS 1 will be adopted retrospectively with respeatriual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2023. In accordance with the provisions of the amendment,
early adoption is permitted. The Company is evaluating the implications of the standard
for the financial statements.
2.  Amendment to IAS 37, Provisims, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assetgthe
AAmendment )to | AS 370
| AS 37 defines an Aonerous contracto as a
to fulfill the contractual obligations exceed the economic benefits which are expebted t
received thereunder. The unavoidable costs under the contract reflect the smallest net cost
of leaving it, which is the lower of either the cost to fulfill the contract, and damages and
penalties for not fulfilling it.
The amendmentto IAS 37 clagfis t he signi ficance of the t
In accordance with the amendment, the cost of fulfilling a contract is comprised of the costs
which are directly attributable to the contract. Costs directly attributable to the contract
includethe combination of:
A. Incremental costs to fulfill the contra@uch as direct costs with respect to work and
material3;
B. Allocation of other costs directly associated with the fulfillment of the congsach
as the allocation of a proportional part of the depreciation of fixed assets which is used
to fulfill the contrac}.
The amendment also clarifies that, before reciggia provision with respect to an
onerous contract, the entity must test for and recognize impairment with respect to any
asset which is used in the fulfillment of the contract, and not only with respect to assets
which have been designated to the canttra
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Note 2- Significant Accounting Policies(Cont.)
Z. New standards and amendments to existing standards which have not yet been adopted

(Cont.)

2. (Cont.)
The amendment to IAS 37 will be adopted with respect to annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2022. In accordance with the provisions of the amendment, early adoption
is permitted. The amendment will be adopted retrospectively, only for coritragksch
the entity has not yet completed all of the applicable performance obligations on the date
of the amendmentdés initial adopti on, wh i
adoption to the opening balance of retained earnimgt anothe component of equity,
as relevanton the date of initial adoptiohe initial adoption of the amendment to IAS
37 is not expected to have a significant

3. Amendment to International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 3, Business
Combinations(t he O0Amendment to | FRS 30
The amendment updates IFRS 3 such that it refers to the conceptual framework of financial
reporting which was published in 2018, for the purpose of determining which acquired
assets anassumed liabilities fulfill the definitions of assets and liabilitiégor to the
amendment, reference was made to the conceptual framework of financial reporting which
was published in 2001.
The amendment also adds to IFRS 3 a demand stipulating that, with respect to events
covered under IAS 37 or IFRIC 21, a buyer will apply the provisions of IAS 37 in order to
determine whether, as at the acquisition date, there is a present obligatian mhst t
events, or the provisions of IFRIC 21 in order to determine whether the obligating event
which creates an undertaking to pay the fee occurred until the acquisition date
(respectivelyinstead of the provisions of the conceptual framework.
The amenthent also clarifies and adds to IFRS 3 an explicit statement that a buyer may
not recognized contingent assets, as defined in IAS 37, on the acquisition date.
The amendment to IFRS 3 will be adopted with respect to annual periods beginning on or
after Jamary 1, 2022. The standard will be adopted for business combinations whose
acquisition dates were in annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. In
accordance with the provisions of the amendment, early adoption is permitted, provided
that the etity has adopted, on the date of initial adoption of the amendment, or previously,
all other amendments to International Financial Reporting Standards regarding references
to the conceptual framework, according to the 2018 ver3iba.initial adoption othe
amendment to I'FRS 3 is not expected to h
financial statements.

4. Amendment to International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 9, Financial
Instruments(t he O0Amendment to | FRS 90
The amendment to IFRS 9 deten@s which grounds are included in the 10% test for the
purpose of writing off a financial liability, as stated in Note 2.@#ve. In accordance
with the provisions of the amendment to IFRS 9, costs and fees which are paid to third
parties(and not to tk lendey are not included in the 10% te$he amendment to IFRS 9
will be adopted with respect to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. In
accordance with the provisions of the amendment, early adoption is permitted. The
amendment will bapplied to changes or amendments which have been made to financial
liabilities at the beginning of the annual period when the amendment was first applied, or
afterwards.
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Z. New standards and amendments to existing standards which have not yet been adopted
(Cont.)

5. Amendmentto IAS 12, Income Taxe¢t he A Amendment to | AS 12
The amendment to IAS 12 clarifies that the exemption from the creation of deferred taxes
due to the nitial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which does not
constitute a business combination, does not affect accounting gains at the time of the
transaction, and also does not affect the taxable income or tax loss at the time of the
transction(exemption from initial recognition cannot be applied to transactions which,
upon their initial recognition, create taxable temporary differences and deductible
temporary differences in identical amounts.

Transactions of this kind include, for example, lease transactions where, oretb&ttair

initial recognition by the lessee, the lessee recognizes aafiglste asset in an amount

equal to the balance of the lease liabilind situations involving the recognition of

liabilities with respect to liquidation, removal and restoratwamich are recognized against

fixed assets.

The amendment to IAS 21 will be adopted with respect to annual periods beginning on or

after January 1, 2023. In accordance with the provisions of the amendment, early adoption

is permitted. The amendment wikk lapplied to all transactions beginning from the start of
the earliest reporting period which is presented in the financial statements when the
amendment was first appliedAdditionally, in the financial statements where the
amendment is first applied, thentity is required to recognize, at the beginning of the
earliest presented reporting period:

A. Adeferred tax asset, to the extent that taxable income is expected to arise against which
it will be possible to use the deductible temporary difference, addferred tax
liability, with respect to all of the deductible and taxable temporary differences in
connection with:

- Rightof-use assets and lease liabilitiesg

- Liabilities with respect to liquidation, removal and restoration, and similar
liabilities, as well as the corresponding amount which was recognized as part of the
cost of the relevant asset.

B. The cumulative impact of the initial adoption, as an adjustwfehe opening balance
of retained earning®r another component of equity, if releveas at that date.

The initial adoption of the amendment to IAS 12 is not expected to have a significant

i mpact on the Companyds financi al stat eme
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For the list of the main companies in the Group, see Annex A to the financial statements.

A. Composition of investments in investee companies accounted by the equity method
As at December 31

2021 2020
NIS millions

Investment in stock® 3,111 1,551
Loans®@ 56 367
Total 3,167 1,918
@ The aforementioned value includes the balance of excess cost in t

amount of 1,225 643
@ Loans:

As at December 31

2021 2020
Interest rates Total Total
% NIS millions
In USD or linked thereto 0 o6 367

Some of the loans are measured at fair value, see Note abd¥e.

B.Movement in investment in investee companies accounted by the equity meth@a this section: the
fiAssociate Companies )
For the year ended
December 31

2021 2020
NIS millions

Balance at start of year 1,918 3,676
Investment in Gaam 11,005 -
Investments 74 42
Changes in loans, net @) 1
Recognized dividends (78 (102
The Grougs share in the profits of associates, net 339 229
Decrease in investment due to rise to control of Mehadrin - (219
Increase in investments due to the initial consolidation of Mehadrin, which

holds associate companies - 105
Increase in investment due to loss of control of a consolidated company, a

the presentation thereof as an associate company - 42
An increasen investment due to change in classification of an investment i

financial asset through profit or loss, to investment in an associate comp 5 -
Change in investment as a result of sale and issuance to third party 6 (229
Sale of the investment in Shufer¢sde Note 12.B.Jelow) - (1,403
Capital reserves from translation differences with respect to associate

companies 6 (19
The Grouids share in hedging reserves of associate companies - 3
Carried to controlling shareholders reserve - 1
Classified under assets held for sale (96) -
Other changes ©) (8
Balance at end of year 3,167 1,918

@ See Note 3.G.2.A.helow.
@ Includes profit in the amount of NIS 44 million, which is presented under the item for profit from discontinued operations.
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C. Data regarding associate companies and joint venturé€ont.)
1. Summary information regarding material associate companies and joint ventures

This section includes details regarding associate companies and joint ventures which fulfill

one or more of the following tests:

T The Companyds shar e itheastobiae compang & joimieenttire a mc
(through concatenatigrexceeds 10% of the capital attributed to the owners of the
Company in the relevant consolidated statement of financial position;

T The Companyds share i n t he jomteventule(thuglo f t h
concatenationexceeds 10%in absolute valugsof the representative annual profit
during the relevant year, as specified in Note(#)Ebove,;

1 Qualitative considerations.

Summary information regarding Gaam, a material associatempany.

GawYam®
Holding company Property & Building
Operating segment Real estate
Country of incorporation and main place of business activities Israel
Rate of ownership in capital and in voting rights 44519490 29.93%
As at December 31
2021 2020
NIS millions
Current assets 1,211 2,649
Non-current assets 10,595 28,602
Total assets 11,806 11,251
Current liabilities 975 1,043
Non-current liabilities 6,251 26,592
Total liabilities 7,226 7,635
Total assets, net 4,580 3,616
The Groujds share in assets, net 1,605 828
Excess cost, net 1,184 590
Value of the associate company in the Gisumoks 2,789 1,418
Mar ket value of Prope+am@® & 3,666 1,675

(1) Until September 1, 2019, GaXam was a consolidated company in the financial statenfémtsletails regarding
the deconsolidation of Gavyam, see Note 12.B.below.

(2) Reclassified.

(3) The marketvalue of Ga¥ a més h ol di 4v@m as a March 20p 20ZRacwerding to a holding rate of
49.51%) is NIS 4,131 million.

(4) For details regarding the acquisition of approximately 14.61% ofYsavmdés i ssued <capi t al I
Building in April 2021, see Note 3.G.2.A.below.For details regarding the completion of a tender offer for the
acquisition of 5% of Garamdés i ssued capital by Property & Buil di
in a transaction to acquif@avYam shares which constitute approximately 37.22% of@a/més i ssued c a|
after the date of the statement of financial position, see Note 34.B. and Note 3.G&léwZ.respectively.
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C. Data regarding associate companies and joint venturé€ont.)

GawvYam
For the year ended December 31
2021 2020 2019V
NIS millions
Total revenues 1,959 702 941
Income for the year 1,260 331 564
Other comprehensive income - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year 1,260 331 564
Property & Buildings share in the comprehensive income ol
GawYam 427 82 207
Adjustments with respect to excess cost, net 17 25 9
Property & Buildingds shar
GawYam, as presented in the books 444 107 216

@ Until September 2019, Gavam was a consolidated company in the financial statements.

2. Aggregate information regarding immaterial associate companies and joint ventures
Aggregate amounts including adjustment to the ownership rates which are held by the

Group:
As at December 31
2021 20209 20199
NIS millions

Total bookvalue of the investments 378 337 236
The Groujds share in loss for the year from

continuing operations (49 (52 (51
The Groujds share in profit for the year from

discontinued operation8 - 44 -
The Grougs share in total loss for the year (49 (8 (51)
The Grous share in other comprehensive

income(losg from continuing operations 11 (17 2
The Grous share in other comprehensive loss

from discontinued operatios - (©) -
The Groujds share in other comprehensive

income(los9 11 (20 (2
The Grougds share in total comprehensive loss (33 (28 (53

@ In accordance with their determination as immaterial associate companies and joint ventures in the financial stategmaeents for t
years 2020 and 2019, respectively.
@ Not including capital gains from the realization of investments.
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D. Details regarding investments in investee companies directly held by DIC in the
consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2021

Stake in Market value of shares
share listed on the Tel Aviv
capital Stock Exchange as at
andin  Scope of
voting investmen Reserve: Country
rights  ininvestee ® Total 31.12.2021 20.3.2022 of
% NIS millions incorporati
Primary consolidated
companies *
Property & Building 63.2 1,680 312 1,992 2,080 2,145 Israel
Cellcom(In voting
rights- 48.0% 46.0 1,216 2 1,218 1,312 1,344 lIsrael
Elron 60.1 184 108 292 337 312  Israel
Mehadrin 445 339 3 342 268 271  lIsrael
Epsilon 68.8 61 - 61 Israel
Other investee
companies * 27 (6) 21
Total ~ 3,507

* Investments in consolidated companies do not include headquarter companies wholly owned by DIC. The data presentedidgbove incl
investments through a wholly owned headquarter company of DIC. The scopénvititenent in consolidated companies is calculated as the
net total of all assets, less total liabilities, including goodwill, based on the consolidated reports, attributed terthefaha Company.

@ In case of the sale of some of the existingshar i n consol i dated companies, without disconti
statements, of the financial statements of the companies in which the transactions are (edestednostontrolling interests these capital
reserves \ill be charged to the capital reserve with respect to transactions witontmolling interests. In case of the realization of investments
in associates, or in case of the realization of investments in consolidated companies, including throughnliquitziodonment, and in case
the Company does not have plans to restart the activity, those capital reserves will be carried to the statement otineiaieed earnings.
For details regarding the HSBC Tower and IDBG, see also Notes 12.B.1.A2.#n8.A. below, respectively.
@ The Company and some of its investee companies are subject to legal restrictions with respect to the performance ¢feets iovése
increase of new investments in investee companies, in certain cases. Addjtiarallys legal provisions and some of the terms of the licenses
in the telecommunications segment, which were given to Cellcom, include prohibitions against cross ownership, whichiagh#lyerestr
Companyo6s ability to | eweinegnentda ©incease existing ipvesintentsnini thisisegmentt or n
® The Companyd6s investments in investee companies i ncbhjeotdoecertain nt er a
restrictions. Regarding CellcomDIC is especially subject to a restriction on its ability to sell some of its shares in Cellcom lsrawin
entities. See section Fl3elow.
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E.

Data regarding subsidiaries

Details regarding subsidiaries in which the norcontrolling interests are material
This section includes details regarding subsidiaries, as at the date of the relevant statement of financial position;cembs#limg interests
constitute at least 10% of the capital attributed to the owners of the Company and/or where tllegydfitthe relevant year which is
attributed to norcontrolling interests constitutes at least 10foabsolute valugf the representative annual profit in the relevant year, as
specified in Note 1.E4) above.

The data includes adjustments to fair ealu

Sstatements.

goodwi |

and

ot her

adjustments, wh

i ch are

Data from the financial statements of companies whose functional currency is a foreign cumesets and liabilities were translated

according tahe relevant representative exchange rates as at December 31, and resultant and cash flow items were translatedtlaecording to
average exchange rates for the year.
Data for subsidiaries which are held indirectly by the Company are includeddatthéor subsidiaries directly held by the Company.

As at December 31, 2021

For the year ended December 31, 2021

Other
Stake in the comprehen:
share capit: Income ive income
and voting Book Other Total (los9 (losg
rights of value of Sales compreh compreh attributed tcattributed tc Cash flow: Cash flow: Cash flow Netincreas: Dividends
nor Non- Total norx and ensive ensive norr non from from from incashanc  to non
controlling  Current current Current Non-current  assets controlling  services income income controlling controlling operating investing financing cash controlling
interests assets assets liabilities liabilities net interests @ Profit (los9 (los9 interests interests  activities activities activities equivalents interests
% NIS millions
Property & Building 36.8 5,243 2,940 2,151 3,285 2,747 1,067 76 642 (31 611 262 (16) 244 (217 (441) (419 5
Cellcom®@ 54.0 1,800 5,234 1,710 2,992 2,332 1,116 4,108 27 @ 26 15 @ 1,052 (192 (933 (73
Elron 39.9 267 182 23 33 393 209 45 (15 30 34 @ (18 37 136 81
Mehadrin? 55.5 646 816 455 239 768 428 1,225 141 6) 135 79 ® 5) 101 ® 93
Other subsidiaries
which have
immaterial non
controlling interests 36 11 1 8
Tot al in th
consolidated financial
statements 2,856 401 (26) 13
@ Notwithstanding the fact that DIC holds less than half of the voting rights in Cellcom and in Mehadrin, the Company #sdinitshesds effective control of the(nter alia, due to the Grod@phigh holding rate of their voting rights, the
distributionof the other voting rights, and in light of the voting patterns in the general shareholder meetings of those gpmpaniesl t her ef ore, their financi al statements were consol
@ Holding rate of norcontroling i nt erests in €¥®0O%comds voting rights
® sales of the subsidiary, as included under the item for sales and services in the Companyds consolidated
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as Becember 31, 2021

Note 3- Investments in Investee Companie€Cont.)
E. Data regarding subsidiaries(Cont.)
Details regarding subsidiaries in which the norcontrolling interests are material (Cont.)

As at December 31, 2020 For the year ended December 31, 2020
Stake in the Other
share capit: comprehen:
and voting Book Loss ive loss Cash Cash Net
rights of value of Sales Other Total attributed tcattributed t¢  flows flows Cash increase in  Dividends
nor: Non- Total nor: and compreh compreh norr non from from flows for cash and to non
controlling  Current current Current Nonrcurrent  assets controlling  services ensive ensive controlling controlling operating investing financing cash controlling
interests assets assets liabilities liabilities net interests ® Loss loss loss interests  interests  activities  activities activities equivalents  interests
% NIS millions
Property & Building 25.9 3,249 4,718 1,250 4,973 1,744 474 2084 (376 (103 (479 (106) (26) 271 1,044 (1,060 255 47
Cellcom®@ 53.9 2,299 5,322 1,929 3,401 2,291 1,087 3,684 (170 - (170 (92 - 960 (982 (265 (287 -
Elron 38.9 118 154 14 5 253 136 - 73 (20 (93 (36) (11) (41) 40 @) ©)] -
Mehadrif? 55.5 503 824 426 271 630 350 823 4 - 4 (10 - 17 25 (75 67 -
Other subsidiaries
which have
immaterial non
controlling interests 32 2 - 5
Tot al in th
consolidated financial
statements __ 2079 @9 _ @) %
@ Notwithstanding the fact that DIC holds less than half of the voting rights in Cellcom and in Mehadrin, the Company #sdinitatetds effective control of the(inter alia, due to the Gro@phigh holding rate of their voting rights, the
distribution of the other voting rights, and in light of the voting patterns in the general shareholder meetings of those yompanies t her ef ore, their financi al statements were coOnso|
@ Holdingrateoftonrc ont rol I ing interestx8%b.n Cellcombés voting rights
® sales of the subsidiary, as included under the item for sales and services in the Companyés consolidated s

@ Adjusted retrospectively due to the presentation oHBBC Tower activity under discontinued operations, see Note 1h&dw.
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Note 3- Investments in Investee Companie€Cont.)
E. Data regarding subsidiaries(Cont.)
Details regarding subsidiaries in which the norcontrolling interests are material (Cont.)

As at December 31, 2019 For the year ended December 31, 2019
Other
Stake in the comprehen:
share capit¢ Income ive income
and voting Book Total (losy (losg Cash Cash Cash Net
rights of value of Sales Other compreh attributed tcattributed tc ~ flows flows flows increase in  Dividends
nor: Non- Total nor: and Net compreh  ensive norx non from from from cash and to nont
controlling  Current current Current Non-current  assets controlling  services income ensive income controlling controlling operating investing financing cash controlling
interests assets assets liabilities liabilities net interests @ (losg loss (los9 interests  interests  activities acivities activites equivalents interests
% NIS millions
Property & Building 31.2 3,943 5,462 1,272 5,795 2,338 758 5009 1,172 (160 1,012 5064 (50) 642 114 (1,33) (579 1999
Cellcom®® 54.0 2,759 4,867 1,826 3,502 2,298 1,082 3,708 (713 (4) (717 (149 2 1,036 (560 (672 (196 -
Elron 38.9 199 194 31 7 355 193 - (107 (31 (138 (59 17 (53 (59 74 (398 -
Other subsidiaries
which have
immaterial non
controlling interests 34 5 1 2
Tot al in th
consolidated financial
statements 2067 __ %08 __ 69 o
@ Notwithstanding the fact that DIC holds less than half of the voting rights in Cellcom, the Company estimates thaffit¢toldscentrol of it(inter alia, due to the Grod@phigh holding rate of its voting rights, the distribution of the other
votingrights, and in light of the voting patterns int he general meetings of it sharefoldeesn d t her ef ore, its financial statements were consolidated in the Con
@  Holdingrateofnorc ont r ol | i ng i nvotegrightst54.7%.n Cel | comd s
(3; Sales of the subsidiary, as included under the item for sales and services in the Companyds consolidated s

Including profit in the amount of NIS 179 million, which is attributed in the statement of inebRr@perty & Building to norcontrolling interests in subsidiaries of Property & Building.

® Including dividends in the amount of NIS 102 million, which were distributed by subsidiaries of Property & Buildingdontiatiing interests, and including a total of NIS 62 milliothe value of Mehadrin shares which were distributed by
Property & Blilding to norrcontrolling interests.

©®  Adjusted retrospectively due to the presentation of the HSBC Tower activity under discontinued operations. See Ndield®.B.1.
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Note 3- Investments in Investee CompaniefCont.)
F. Additional details regarding the investments of the Company and investee companies

1. In December 2013, The Law to Promote Competition and Reduce Concentration, 5774
2013, was published in the Official Gazgttereinafter, in this section: tlieawo .)

A. According to the provisions of the law, a pyramid structure for the control of
freporting corporatiorts (in general, corporations whose securities have been
offered to the public, and are held by the pylbcrestricted to 2 tiers of reporting
corporatims (where a first tier company may not include a reporting corporation
which does not have a controlling sharehgldend so long as a second tier company
is considered by law to be a second tier company, it may not control reporting
corporations.The law includes provisions in case of control of a reporting
corporation in violation of the law, which mostly include a requirement to deposit
the said means of control with a trustee in order for them to be sold, in accordance
with instructions which the trusé will receive from the court.

B. For details regarding the sale of some
group of investorsled by it he @A Me ga OrseetNotahls @ove.i on o

C. Following the completion of the Mega Or transaction, as dexstrib Note 1.A.
above, DIC is considered a company without a controlling shareholder, and is not
considered a first tier company, and accordingly, its investee companies whose
securities are listed on the stock exchange are not subject to restrictiarenptos
the Concentration Law, in connection with the ability of those companies to hold
control of other tier companies.

2. Various restrictions by virtue of the law, or in accordance with the directives of various
regulatory authorities, as well as vars contractual restrictions and legal proceedings
which are being conducted against the Company and/or its investee companies, may
restrict the ability of the Company and of its investee companies to realize current
investments, or to realize holdingsimvestee companies as a security in favor of the
repayment of their liabilities, and may restrict their ability to take advantage of business
opportunities for new investments, or to increase current investriaidgionally, the
Company and some of itevestee companies are subject to restrictions by law or in
accordance with the directives of various regulatory authorities with respect to their
business activities, and regarding the implementation of new investments or the increase
of current investmestin the investee companies, in certain cases, including the need to
obtain approvals or permits from various regulatory authorities in connection with passing
the threshold of holdings beyond the rates prescribed in law, such as provisions from the
telecanmunications segment, directives pertaining to antitrust issues, directives
pertaining to the oversight of prices of products and services, directives pertaining to
consumer issues and restrictions due to benefits or authorizations from the tax authorities

3. In 2017, Cellcors mobile license was amended such that it includes an obligation for a
reduced Israeli holding of 5% of the issued capital of Cellcom and other means of control,
beginning on January 31, 2018.
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Note 3- Investments inlnvestee CompaniegCont.)
F. Additional details regarding the investments of the Company and investee companies

(Cont.)

I n July 2020, the Ministry of Communicat
that the requirement for a minimum holding 5 of t he | i cense hol c
and each of the means of control by Israeli ent{tégzens and residents of Israatho

are among the founding shareholders or their representatives, and for the appointment of
one tenth of the Board members Isyaeli entities, as stated above, would be canceled,
upon the receipt of alternative instructions to the license holder, from the General Security
Service As at proximate to the publication date of the financial statements, Cellcom had
not yet receivedugh instructionsSee also Note 31.C below. See also Note 1.A above
regarding the Mega Or transaction.

Additionally, various provisions of the law and conditions of some of the licenses in the
telecommunications segment, which were given to severalteezeompanies of the
Company, include restrictions on cross ownersfwdich mean, in general, holdings in

the means of control of competing corporatjorSo me o f the Compan
companies also have activities abroad. These companies are affedtedstate of the
economy(including changes in exchange rates and in inflation );abgsthe political

situation and by legislative and regulatory arrangements in these countries.

4. The Company and some of its investee companies are affected by the Proper Banking
Management Directives which are issued by the Commissioner of Banksaéi, Isr
including, inter alia, restrictions on the scope of loans which a banking corporation in
Israel may provide toisingle borrowed, a singleigroup of borrowerd and to the largest
figroups of borrowersin the banking corporatiofas these terms amefined in the
aforementioned directives The Company and some of its investee companies are
considered a singl@group of borrowersfor this purpose.

These restrictions may impose difficulties on the ability of the Company and some of its
investee cormpanies to borrow additional amounts from banks in Israel, on their ability to
refinance debt through bank credit, on their ability to perform investments for which bank
credit is required, on their ability to invest in companies which have taken outioradit
larger scope than certain banks in Israel, and on their ability to perform certain business
activities in collaboration with entities which have taken credit, as stated above.
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Note 3- Investments in Investee CompaniefCont.)

G. Development of investments in investee companiemain changes in investments in 2021
1. Cellcom

A.

In July 2019, Cellcom and the Israel Infrastructure FHint e )ftdmpléted the
investment transaction in I. B. C. Israel Broadband Comf204/3 Ltd. ( IBCO .)

After the closing of the transaction, Cellcom and the IIF held, jointly and through a
limited partnership which is jointly owned in equal parts, 70% of theestegpital

of IBC, such that Cellcom indirectly held 35% of the voting rights in IBC, and
accounts for the investment using the equity method.

I n February 2021, Hot 6s i nvestment treé
Cellcom, from that date onwards, d i r ect |y hol ds appr oxin
capital and voting rightbue t o t he decrease in Cell
Cellcom recorded nerecurring income in the amount of NIS 11 million, which

was recorded under the item for other income. The@2mys share in the profit

was NIS 5 million. For additional details, see Note 22.B.1.D. below.

In November 2020, Marathon 018 Xfone L{d. X f o) st@pped executing some

of the payments to Cellcom in accordance with the network hosting and sharing
agreenent.In September 2021, Cellcom engaged in an agreement to amend the
terms of its sharing and use agreement with Xfone, with a corporation controlled

by Mr. Yariv Lerner and Klirmark Capitgt h e A C o 1. indcteberi2@h, 0

the Court approved @roposal which the corporation had submitted for the
acquisition of two thirds of Xfoneds s
of Xfoneds creditors which the corpor e

Xfoneds contr ol | iing¢o wkidn Xfone tilb be dhamddy thea ¢ ¢c o
updated sharing agreemelrtr additional details, see Note 22.B.1.C. below.
I n August 2020, the transaction involyv

share capital was completédpon the completion of thecquisition, Cellcom holds

100% of Golan shares, and beginning from the acquisition date, the balance sheet
bal ances and operating results of Gol e
statements.

The Ministry of Communication approved the transactgubject to certain
conditions, including Golan temporarily becoming a virtual ope(&IMNO), and

a demand that Golan reimburse monetary benefits which were received in the past,
according to the Ministry of Communication, in light of the acquisitionthim

amount of approximately NIS 75 milliorit h e ARepay meiilte Amo
transaction was approved in accordance with those teéBwmian recognized a
provision in the financial statemen(grior to its consolidation by Cellcomwith

respect to the repaymesmmountsThe repayment amount was paid to the Ministry

of Communication in accordance, with its demand, in 2@Hlicom filed an

admi ni strative petition against the Mi
Cellcom to repay a part of the repaymemioant.
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G. Development of investments in investee companiemain changes in investments in 2021

(Cont.)
1. Cellcom(Cont.)
C. (Cont)
1. Assets and liabilities which were acquired on the dateitidl consolidation:
Values
recognized in the
initial
consolidation
NIS millions
Non-current assets
Fixed assets and other intangible assets 70
Right-of-use assets 14
Customer relation@ncluded under the item for intangible asyet 110
Brand(included under the item for intangible asyets 35
Current assets
Trade receivables 40
Cash and cash equivalents 5
Other current assets 70
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 11
Deferred tax liabilities 20
Othernon-current liabilities 56
Loan from Cellcom 136
Current liabilities
Lease liabilities 3
Other payables and credit balances 177
Other current liabilities 82
Total identifiable assets, net (141
Goodwill 754
Total consideration 613
2. Change in cash on the date of initial consolidation:
NIS millions
Consideration paid (613
Cash in Golan 5

Total (608
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G. Development of investments in investee companiesain changes in investments in

2021(Cont.)
2.  Property & Building
A. GawYam-

1. On April 18, 2021, Property & Building engaged with three institutional
entities(t h e f $ip dgteememstofor the acquisition of Géaam shares
(t he Tr a)nAs patt bfithe tmadsaction, which was closed on April 27,
2021, Property & Building acquired, in total, from the three sellers,
approximately 14.61% the sellers of
consideration of a cash payment in the amount of NISWiBion (subject to
certain adjustments which were determined with respect to the share price in
connection with certain additional purchases of -®am shares, if any,
during the six month period from the signing date of the agreements, and as
extended irDctober 2021, until December 31, 2021, and as extended again in
February 2022, subject to the completion of the tender offer which Property &
Building published for Gawam shares, as stated in Note 34.B. belbw.
March 2022, after the date of the stagernof financial position, Property &
Building paid to the foregoing institutional entities an additional total of NIS
31 million). In parallel, Property & Building issued to the sellers shares of
Property & Building which constituteghfter their allocatin) approximately
14. 7% of Property & Buildingbs capit
approximately NIS 353 million. Property & Building also sold to one of the
sellers, in consideration of a cash payment of NIS 80 million, all of the
securitienf Sela Capital Real Estate L{dh. S e | a )Qvhighiwéreadwioed
by Property & Building.
The addition to Property & Buildingo
were issued, as stated above, was in
statemats, according to their fair value on the issuance date, and the
derecognition of Sela Capital s secu
value of the securities on the date of their delivery to the sélleesdifference
between their value, asastd above, and the cash amount which was received
with respect to them, was carried as additional consideration with respect to
GawvYam shares which were purchased in the transaction.

On April 29, 2021, Property & Building acquired approximately 0.1286 o
GavrYambés issued share capital, i n con
NIS 7.5 million.

After the completion of the foregoing transactions, Property & Building held

a stake of 44.61%, and as at December 31, 2021, Property & Building held
approximaely 44.51% of GaWwambés i ssDe@Gosapi ahké, in
& Building decreased to approximately 63.2%, and DIC recorded, in the
second quarter of 2021, an increase
owners in the amount of NIS 45 million.

Theinvestment in Gawam is presented in the financial statements according
to the equity method.
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G. Development of investments in investee companiesain changes in investments in
2021(Cont.)
2. Property & Building (Cont.)
A. GawvYam (Cont)
For details regarding Property & Bui
purchase Gawam shares which constitute approximately 37.22% of-Gav
Yamds i s s uup chpital,rfod a tptad comsideration of NIS 3.1 billion,
subject to adjustments, and fogtdils regarding the completion of a special
tender offer which was published by Property & Building for the purchase of
5% of GavYam shares, after the date of the statement of financial position,
see section B2 below.

Property & Building executed a tgrorary project involving the allocation of

the consideration in the aforementioned transactions, with respect to the
acquisition of the aforementioned G#em shares(14.73%), in which
Property & Building recognized fair value adjustments to tangible and
intangible assets and liabilities of Gaam, as follows:

NIS millions
Proceeds from the purchase 1,005
Property & B4i73%lin GagYoasmassh arnr
assets as at the closing date of the transaction 428
Excess cost S77
Excess cost attributed:to
Goodwill 608
Debentures (57
Real estate inventofy 13
Deferred taxes 13
577

The determination of the fair value of thesets and liabilities is subject to a
final assessment of the allocation of the investment, which has not yet been
completed as at the publication date of the reftnt. fair value of the assets

and liabilities can be finally adjusted up to 12 montherdfte purchase date.

@ Does not include the final assessment of the revaluation of real estate inventory, which

is in assessment stagekon the final update to the fair value of the aforementioned real
estate inventory, the value of the attributabledyeitt will be updated accordingly.
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G. Development of investments in investee companiesain changes in investments in

2021(Cont.)

2. Property & Building (Cont.)
B. GawYam(Cont)

2.

On December 25,2021 he @A Agr ek Pnaperty & Buddingeedgaged

i n an agreement, i n accordance with

Board of Directors, with Equity Finance and Investment (g&dcompany

wholly owned and controlled by Mr. Aharon Frankdl h e A)SvehicH er 0

holds shees which constitute approximately 37.22% of &d@a moé s i ssued

paidup capitallt h e @A S o l),dor tehparchass of the sold shaftdse

A Agr e &,nne mdindgrovisions of which are as follows:

In consideration of the sold shares, Property &dng will pay to the seller

a total of NIS 3.1 billion(t h e A Co n ¥ subject ta the fwllowing

adjustments:

1 Insofar as, after the agreement date and until the date of its closing, Gav
Yam distributes a cash dividend, the total dividend per shaukiplied
by the number of sold shares will be subtracted from the consideiation.
February 2022, GaYam distributed a dividend in the amount of NIS 400
mil |l ion. Property & Buildingds sha
NIS 178 million.

1 The FFO aount which will be recorded in Ga&a més r eport s
September 9, 2021 until the closing date, times the rate of the sold shares
outof GavYyamodés i ssued capi t(talhe omAddiet ir
F F O, will be added to the consideratidnsofar aghe closing date takes
place in the months Majune 2022, the additional FFO with respect to
those months will be multiplied by 1.5, and insofar as the closing date is
July 1, 2022 or thereafter, the additional FFO with respect to the
aforementioned adddnal period will be multiplied by 2.

Suspensory conditionsThe closing of the agreement is conditional upon the

fulfilment of the suspensory conditiond h e ASuspenspry C

according to the deadlines specified below and specified in the agrg#meent

ASuspensory Coampditchinduldes De ad|

1 Completion of a special tender offer of Gdam shares Property &

Building will publish a special tender offer, addressed to -%am
shareholders, stating that Property & Building offers to purchase 5% of

the voting rights in Gawam, for a consideration in cash which will be
determined in its discretioft h e A T e n)dTde sellerfirfevocaldly

notified Property & Building that it would not accept the tender offer. In
March 2022, after the date of the statement of financialiposa special

tender offer which was published by Property & Building for the purchase

of 5% of Gavyamdés i ssued share capital ar
For details, see Note 34.B below.
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G. Dewelopment of investments in investee companiesnain changes in investments in
2021(Cont.)
2. Property & Building (Cont.)
C. GawYam(Cont)

1 Approval from the Competition Commissiond?roperty & Building and
GawYam will submit merger notices to tli@mpetition Commissioner,
in order to receive her approval for the transaction addressed in the
agreementOn January 11, 2022, after the date of the statement of
financi al position, t he Competiti
received.

1 Receipt of a letteof intent from the entity that provided financing to the
seller, regarding the removal of the pledge on the sold sharésnuary
2022, a letter was received, the aforementioned letter of intent was
received.

Shortly after the signing of the agreemd®operty & Building deposited with

the trustee for the execution of the transacftorn e i T) B total DfNESO

100 million, and proximate to the publication of the tender offer, Property &

Building deposited with the trustee an additional total d R65 million(a

total of NIS 465 million;j oi nt | y: t he i Albvadvancee P a

payment will be transferred to the seller, in whole or in part, only in the cases

specified in sections in the following sections.

In accordance with the provisionstbke agreement, during the interim period

until the completion or termination of the agreement, as specified below, the

parties will not acquire, and the seller will not sell, &am shares, and the

parties will not make offers to purchase 6ém sharesand will not convene

meetings of Gawam shareholders for the appointment of directors, and will

not contact Gawam with a request to appoint additional directors on their

behalf (except for the replacement of a director serving on behalf of the

orderingparty), and will not engage in voting agreements with respect te Gav

Yam sharesAdditionally, the parties undertook not to cause any significant

change to the managementof6éa més acti vities and b

Deadlines for closing the agreement

1 The closing of the transaction will be executed within two business days
after the date of fulfillment of the suspensory conditions, and Property &
Building has exercised its right to postpone the closing date satlit th
will be no later than 90 days after the completion date of the tender offer.

1 Notwithstanding the foregoing, in case, until the closing date, a
significantly negative economic event occurs, or significant financial
difficulties occur, in Israel or f@ign markets, which have a significantly
adverse impact on Property & Build
Building will be entitled to postpone the closing date by 45 days,
beginning from the aforementioned deadline for completiosofar as
this postponement period is before July 1, 2022, the additional FFO will
be paid from the beginning of the postponement period until June 30,
2022, times 4instead of the multiple of 1.5, as stated ahpaed from
July 1, 2022 until the actual completiontegamultiplied by 2.2%instead
of the multiple of 2, as stated abgve
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G.

Development of investments in investee companiemain changes in investments in
2021(Cont.)
2. Property & Building (Cont.)

A. GawvYam(Cont)

2. (Cont)
Non-completion of the agreement

1 Insofar as the suspensory conditions have been fulfilled, and Property &
Building has not closed the agreement until the deadline for closing
(including the possibilities to postpone it, as stated above and péhawv
advance payment will be transferreg the trustee to the seller, in
accordance with the provisions of the agreem&he transfer of the
advance payment to the seller will constitute liquidated damages, with no
right for any additional remedi¢d@ Li qui dat &d Damageso

1 Notwithstanding the fieegoing, if the completion of the agreement is not
possible, due to the circumstances specified in the agreement
(restriction3, an additional 45 day extension will be given, and insofar as
the restrictions have not been lifted during that time, a mechanes
determined, according to which Property & Building will be entitled to
terminate the agreement by paying the liquidated damages, or to allow the
seller to choose between half of the amount of liquidated damages, or
purchasing the shares which wergghased by Property & Building in
the tender offer / private offer at a price of 90 percent of what was paid by
Property & Buil ding, such that

holdings will fall below 45%.

Property & Building intends to finance the fgaéng transaction using its own
sources, and by taking loans from institutional investors. See Note 34.A

below).

Upon the completion of the tender offer, as stated above, in March 2022, after
the date of the statement of financial position, all of thpesusory conditions
which were determined in the share purchase agreement were fulfilled.
Property & Bui |I-Yin mgedsed ts dpprdkimatdaly M9.5G% v
of GavYamd s i s s Aceaddinglyafpm tha tate onwards, Property

& Building controlsGawvYam, and Property & Building and DIC will begin
consolidatingGaw¥ amés fi nancial statements
As a result, Property & Building is expected to record, in the first quarter of
2022, profit with respect to the differenceween the value of the investment
inGarYam shares in Property & Building:
purchase, and the fair value of the aforementioned investment #Y&awn

the date of rise to contrdDIC is expected to record its share ie foregoing
profit in accordance with its stake in Property & Building, approximately
63.2%.This profit estimate will be calculated based on the difference between
the value of Property -RambBnitheldate ofiriged s
to control, ad the value of that investment according to the last closing price
of GavYam stock on the stock exchange, on the date of rise to cdrdrmol.

additional details, see Note 34.B below.
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G. Development of investments in investee companiesain changes in investments in 2021 (Cont.)
2. Property & Building (Cont.)
A.GawvYam (Cont.)
2. (Cont.)

For details regarding pro forma reports, as defined in Regulatfonod the
Periodic and Immediate Reports Regulations, which are intended to reflect the
Groups operating results, based on the assumption that the abovereferenced
Gav Yam transaction was already executed in January 1, 2019, see Note 33
below.

3. In 2021, GavyYam conducted valuations with respect to all of its revenue
generating propertiesThe increase in fair value was mostly due to the
reduction of the capitalization rates which were used by the external valuers in
the valuations of most@avYamés properties; the re
is collected in its various properties; and the increase of the CPI, since the
previous valuationFair value is estimated using the revenue discounting
method: the valuation model based on the pressdoe of the estimated NOI
from the property. The valuation of real estate is based on the net annual cash
flows, discounted by the discount rate which reflects the specific risks
embodied therein. When rental agreements effectively exist, where the
paymeits with respect to them are different from appropriate rent, adjustments
are implemented in order to reflect the actual rent payments during the period
of the agreement.

The valuations take into account the types of lessees who are actually
occupying thedased property, or who are responsible for fulfilling the rental
obligations, or those who may be in the leased property after the rental of an
available property, and the remaining economic lifetime of the property, in the
cases where those parametersrelevant.

The market value of rental figures includes a wide range, in all areas and all
uses, and was due, inter alia, to the variability in the quality, age and finishing
level of the various leased properti€ae average rent in the different areas in
office and hitech areas are in the range of NIS&®per month per square
meter, and for industrial and logistics uses the range of NIS 284 per
month per square meter. When determining the value of office buildings,
buildings designated for theé-tech industry, and commercial buildingghich

are mostly located in the center areas and-tedh parks, with high quality
lesseek capitalization rates of 5.75%%6 were mostly uses, while workshop,
storage and industrial buildindg/hich are mostiylocated in the periphery
area$ were mostly valued according to capitalization rates of 5/886The
valuatonof Gawamés i nvest ment property unc
the estimated fair value of the investment property after its construction has
been completed, less the present value of the estimated construction costs
which are expected to arise for the purpose of completing it, while taking into
account the capitalization rate, whi
relevant risks and emacteristics, and the timing of the completion of
construction.
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G. Development of investments in investee companiesain changes in investments in 2021 (Cont.)
2. Property & Building (Cont.)

The construction cost per square meter varies from project to project,
depending on the intended use, and is mostly in the range of NIS-% 500

per square meter, on a core and shell basig021 GavYam included in its
financial statements income frothe increase in value of real estate, with
respect to the revaluation of revergenerating properties in the amount of
NIS 1,004 million, the revaluation of land designated for the construction of
revenuegenerating properties in the amount of NIS 237liam| and the
revaluation of properties under construction in the amount of NIS 25 million.
Property & Building attributed a part of the increase in fair value of the
foregoing investment property to Pro
at the acqisition date Gavwyam shares, through allocation of the consideration
which Property &Building paid with respect to Ga¥am shares, as stated in section

labovePr operty & Buildingdés share in the a
to NIS 325 million,wi t h t he Companyds share beingd
included in the Companyb6s statements of

in the net profits of equity accounted investee companies, net.

D. Residential construction in Israel

1.

OnAugust 17, 2021, Property & Buildir
al i a, to instruct Property & Buil di:
evaluating the realization of al/l or

its activity in the residerdl construction segment in Israel, in a single
transaction, or in several transactiofss.at the publication date of the report,

there is no certainty that the process described above will mature into
negotiations, or regarding the signing of a bindiggeament(or binding
agreements or regarding the timing and conditions of the aforementioned
agreemenfor agreemenjs if signed.The aforementioned sale is subject to
the approval of Property & Buildingbo
inter alia, market conditions and the terms of the transatintransactions

in question, if any, and will also be subject to the terms which will be agreed
upon in possible transactions of this kind, and in accordance with the law.

For detail s regarding Pr o(fhreugh yts & B
subsidiary, in March 2022, aér the date of the statement of financial position,

in a sale agreement with a third party which is unaffiliated with Property &
Building, for the sale of all of its interests and liabilities in connection with

land reserves, including with residentiakdgation, located near Mandarin

Hotel in North Tel AvivYafo, in its current conditiorf ds i® ,)for a total
consideration of NIS 347 million, see Note 12.A6low.
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G. Development of investmentsn investee companies main changes in investments in
2021(Cont.)
3. Mehadrin
During the years 2018 and 2019, land recoupment agreements were signed between
Mehadrin and the Israel Land Authority, which included the establishment of binding
provisions regarding the recoupment of land to the Authority, with a total area of
approximately 575 dunams. Due to their change in designation in the preferred residential
housing program in Lod Nir Tzvi-1 nt er nat i onal Quarter, ar
rights to purchase from the Authority the leasing rights with respect to several lots in the
program,for the construction of 750 residential units which are teedempt, and for
the payment of full capitalized leasing fees and development expen8edober 2021,
following a competitive process, Mehadrin signed an agreement with an unrelated third
party, for the sale of all of Mehadrinos
consideration of NIS 181 million.
In December 2021 the agreemergs completed, and the entire consideration was paid
to Mehadrin.With respect to the above, Mehadrin recorded, in 2021, net profit in the
amount of NIS 130 million; the Company?os

4. Elron
A. In April 2021, Elron ssued approximately 8.9 million ordinary shares for a total
consideration, net of issuance costs, in the amount of NIS 110 million. In the
issuance DIC acquired 4.9 million shares at a cost of NIS 62 million. As a result of
the above, DI €iéssed shara ¢agital decreaked by@ppximately
1.0%, to approximately 60.1%, and DIC recorded, in 2021, an increase in capital
attributed to the Companyds owners 1in
B. Cartiheal(2009 Ltd. (A Ca r t)iishaecanipany developing an implant to treat
cartilage and bone injuries at weight bearing joints, such as the Aseat
December 31, 2021, Cartiheal is held by Elron at a rate of approximately 27% of its
issued share capital, and the investment théseancounted by the equity method.
In July 2020, Cartiheal and its shareholders, including Elron, signed binding
agreement§t h e 0 A g ) with Bieveritus 6LC(A Bi o v g which & @
current shareholder in Cartiheal, regarding the investment in aladoption of
Cartiheal, in which the following points were agreed upon:
1. Bioventus will invest in Cartiheal a total of up to USD 20 milli@ntotal of
USD 15 million was invested immediately, and an additional total of USD 5
million is subject to Cartire| 6 s d)i As a result af thenaforementioned
i nvest ment , Elronds stake in Cartihe
approximately 29% to approximately 27%, and to approximately 25% fully
diluted.
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2021(Cont.)
4.  Elron (Cont.)
B. (Cont.)

2. Bioventus was given an exclusive opt
capital(t h e A Ca ), and Captihenl avas given the exclusive option to sell
100% of its share capital to Biovent(ish e i P u X Thé®qgalt optmom i®
exercisable from th date of the investment, while the put option will be
exercisable subject to the success of the pivotal clinical trial, including success
on certain secondary trial goals, and subject to the receipt of FDA approval for
Car t i he-&ldevise, aa defet in the agreementshe call option and
put option will expire 45 days after FDA approval is received and standard
closing terms have been met.

I n case the call option or put optior
total consideration fromhe sale of Cartiheal will amount to a total sum of USD
126 million, comprised ofl) a total of USD 90 million, which will be paid on

the closing date of the acquisition; af&) a total of USD 36 million, which

will be paid on the date when sales of Ag@ili and other income from the
technologies of other Cartiheal technologies, generate revenue of at least USD
100 million, during a period of 12 consecutive months.

In August 2021, Cartiheal announced that it had received the statistical report
which was pepared by an external lender entity, which summarized the final
results of the pivotal clinical trial, which indicated fulfillment of the goal of the
main trial, as well as the four sigwals, which constituted, including
empirically, an indication of swess in the trial, as defined in the agreements.
Additionally, following an evaluation of the statistical report, notified
announced that it had decided to continue with the investment transaction and
the sale option, and in accordance with the agreemedeposited in escrow

a total of USD 50 million, in order to secure the exercise of the call option and
put options.

In September 2021 Cartiheal completed the submission of marketing approval
to the FDA.

There is no certainty regarding teeercise of the call option or put option, or

the timing thereofThe investment is Cartiheal is continuing to be accounted
by the equity methodT he bal ance of the i nvest me
December 31, 2021 was NIS 2 million.

In accordance withhe provisions of IFRS 9, the call option and put option
constitute financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss, which are
of immaterial value as at the signing of the agreements, and whose
measurement did not have a net effect on the @squpfit or loss.
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G. Development of investments in investee companiesain changes in investments in
2021(Cont.)
4.  Elron (Cont.)

C. Alcide.lO Ltd. (i Al c)iisdee aompany developing and providing a security

platform for Kubernetes, from the development stages to the runtime environment.

As at December 31, 2020, Alcide was held by Elron at a rate of approximately 30%

of its issued share capital, and the investtin Alcide was accounted by the equity
method.

In January 2021, Alcide and its shareholdg@nsluding Elror) signed a binding
agreement for the sal e(tdfe AlTaiadesiGnc t e ot
parallel, the transaction was completbdaccordance with the transaction, Elron
received, in February 2021, out of the consideration in the transaction, a total of
USD 12 million. With respect to the foregoing transaction, Elron recognized, in
2021, net profit in the amount of NIS 32 miliohh e Company s shar e
amounted to NIS 20 million.

D. Securedtouch Inc(i Se c ur € dst o eomgary which is developing and
providing a solution which all ows buil
physical interaction with the mokildevice.Until its sale, Securedtouch was held
by RDC (a subsidiary of Elron which is held by it at a rate of 50.a&%a rate of
approximately 28% of its issued share capital, and the investment therein was
accounted for at equity.

In June 2021, the agre me n t for the sale of al |
completedt he ATr ahsaatcondance with the tr;
the consideration amounted to a total of USD 11 millids. a result of the
transaction, in 2021 Elron recognized ptofi at t ri but abl e t o EIr
the amount of NI'S 17 million. The Com
million.

E. Ironscales Ltd(fi | r o n yi€ aadompany which is developing and providing a
cloud-based solution(Saa$ which is intended to protect organizations against
phishing attackdJntil the investment transaction and the partial sale in December
2021 (see beloy Ironscales was accountéal according to the equity method.

After the transaction, Ironscales is held by RDC at a rate of approximately 8% of

its issued share capital, and is accounted for at fair value through profit and loss.

In December 2021, a Ironscales completed a rarsiagd(in which RDC some of

the shares which it held

Following the partial sale of the shares, and the measurement of the balance of the
investment at fair value through profit and loss, Elron recognized net profit
attributable to Elron shareholderssirne amount of NI S 17 mil

share in the profit was NIS 10 million.

95



DIC

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 3- Investments in Investee CompaniefCont.)
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2021(Cont.)

5. Dividendsreceived
Cash dividends which were received by DIC from directly held investee companies:

For the year ended For the year ended
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
The The

Amount  Compat Amount compai
distributed share distributed share

NIS millions
Consolidated companies
Property & Building - - 100 69
Epsilon 12 8 5 3
Associate companies
Shufersal @ @ 80 21@
8 93

(1) Presented under cash flows as a discontinued operation.
(2) The investment in Shufersal was soldlidy 2020, see Note 12.B3elow.

96



DIC

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 3- Investments in Investee Companie€Cont.)

H.

Presented below araletails regarding the liquid resources, the net financial debt of the Grous member companies, and significant restrictions on the transfer

of resources between entities within the Group, which mostly pertain to the restriction orash transfers as at December 31, 20241S millions):

Total liabilities in the
statement of financial
position which are

Financial debt, net

Name of Gross financial debt Total restricted / subject to restrictions
company Liquid resources O Financial debt, net pledged deposits @ Restriction Note
DIC:
Financial debt, net 782 (2,829 (2,043
Restrictions on the 1,917 | Einancialcovenants:
transfer of 1 Grounds for demanding early repayment in cg 15.C.2.
resources of a change in control;
- Restrictions in connection with the creation of 3
general pledge (floating pledge);
- Restrictions on dividend distributions.
- Fulfillment of financialcovenants.
Cellcom: 667 (2,759 (2,089

Restrictions on the
transfer of
resources

2,756

Financial covenants:

- Grounds for demanding early repayment,
including due to a cross default, discontinuatig
of rating, certain financial ratios,fgoing
concerm remark, or real concern of non
fulfilment of material undertakings with resped
to debentures;

- Restrictionson dividend distributions;

- Non-creation of pledges;

- Fulfillment of the financial covenants as a
condition for an issuance of debentures.

In February 2022, after the date of the statemer
financial position, Cellcom engaged with 4§
institutional entity in a framework agreement for |
provision of credit in the amount of NIS 2§
million, including financial covenants, inter alia,
restriction on the creation of pledges, restrictions
profit distribution, and other financial covenan

For additional details, see Note 34.G. below.

15.D.1.

(1) Principal, accrued interest and linkage differentials as at December 31, 2021.

For additionaletails regarding guarantees and pledges, see Note 21 below.
Note 3- Investments in Investee CompaniegCont.)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Presented below are details regarding the liquid resources, the net financial debt of the Graispmember companies, and significant restrigbns on the transfer of resources
between entities within the Group, which mostly pertain to the restriction orcash transfers as at December 31, 20ZlIS millions): (Cont.)

Total liabilities in the
statement of financial
Gross financial debt Total restricted / position which are
Name of company Liquid resources @ Financial debt, net pledged deposits subject to restrictions® Restriction Note
Property & Building:
Financial debt, net
!n Property & Building and 1,288 (3,345) (2,057)
its wholly owned
subsidiaries
Restrictions on the transfer 2,259 | Financial covenants in connection with debentures:
of resources of Property & - Grounds for demanding early repayment, including duetoad 15.D.2.
Building and its wholly default, discontinuation of rating, reduction of rating and cha| 21.C.
owned property companies of control which results in a reduction of rating;
- Fulfillment of minimum equity requirements and certain finang
ratios;
- Restrictions in connection with the creation of pledges;
- Restrictions on dividend distributions.
2,749 1,174 | Financial covenants in connection with a bank loan: 12.B.1.B.
1 A mortgage on the HSBC building, and pledges on re
agreements and rent from the building, etc.;
- Grounds for demanding early repayment, including due to a @
default.
In January 2022, after the date of the statement of fingmsétion,
Property & Building engaged in an institutional loan agreem
which includes financial covenants, inter alia, an undertaking n
perform a distribution in an amount exceeding NIS 100 million i
calendar year-or additional details, seéote 12.A.5below.
Mehadrin: 170 (360 (290 285 | Financial covenants in connection with loans from banks and | 15.D.3.
Financial debt, net financial institutions:
- Grounds for demanding early repayment, including in case
change in control of Mehadrin, and the right to interest in arre
- Fulfillment of minimum equity requirements and certain
financial ratios;
- Restrictions on dividendistributions and on the repayment
shareholder loans;
- Restrictions on the provision of loans and factoring guarante
- Maintaining currency hedges;
- Restrictions on transactions with related parties and on cha|
to structure and control;
- Restrictions in connection with the creation of pledges.
Elron:
Liquid resources
In Elron 149 - 149
RDC Rafael Development
Corporation Ltd® 109 (26) 83
258 (26) 232

@ Principal, accrued interest and linkagjéferentials as at December 31, 2021.
@ Held by Elron at a rate of 50.1%.
For additional details regarding guarantees and pledges, see Note 21 below.
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Note 4- Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
Current investments

As at December 31

2021 2020
NIS millions

Government debentures and short term bills 60 1
Corporatedebentures 102 70
Mutual fund participation certificates 196 59
ETFs 9 -
Stocks 17 140
Options - 25
Derivatives which are not used for hedging ¢

other purposes 15 1

399 296
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 5- Fixed Assets

A. Computers,
Machines, Television office furniture, Installations and
facilities and Telecommunicat equipment and Packaging equipment and leasehold
Buildings equipment ion network infrastructure plants other improvements Total
NIS millions

Cost

Balance as at January 1, 2020 135 58 5,043 409 - 235 90 5,970
Additions 3 - 168 123 6 20 6 326
Additions due to business combination 217 126 78 - 448 38 1 908
Write-offs @ - - 17 (53 (10 (43 (22) (145
Write-offs due to deconsolidation - - - - - (13 Q) 19
Impact of changes in exchange rates - (1) - - - - - @
Balance as at January 1, 2021 355 183 5,272 479 444 237 74 7,044
Additions 7 - 222 114 3 16 3 365
Addition due to business combination - 2 - - - - - 2
Write-offs ® - - 4 - - (15 @) (20)
Impact of changes iexchange rates 2 - - - - - - 2
Classified under assets held for sale (39 (26) - - - (2 - (58
Balance as at December 31, 2021 330 159 5,490 593 447 236 76 7,331

@ The Group derecognizes assets which have been fully depreciated anaér&hich being used by the Group.

100



DIC

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 5- Fixed AssetqCont.)

A. (Cont.)
Computers,
office
Machines, Telecommuni  Television furniture, Installations and
facilities and cation equipment an  Packaging equipment leasehold
Buildings equipment network infrastructure plants and other improvements Total
NIS millions

Accumulated depreciation and

impairment loss
Balance as at January 1, 2020 87 52 3,933 177 - 159 68 4,476
Depreciation for the year 8 1 239 114 6 28 8 404
Additions due to business 133 106 33 -

combination 34 - 252 558
Write-offs - - (17 (53 (10 (43 (22 (145
Write-offs due to deconsolidation - - - - - (10 (D) (11
Impairment loss 1 - - - - - - 1
Impact of changes in exchange rat 1 - - - - (1) 1 1
Balance as at January 1, 2021 230 159 4,189 238 248 166 54 5,284
Depreciation for the year 10 1 221 121 6 25 7 391
Write-offs - - 4 - - (15 () (20
Impact of changes in exchange rat (€0} - - - - - - 1)
Classified under assets held for sa (28 (22 - - - (2 - (52
Balance as at December 31’ 2021 211 138 4,406 359 254 174 60 5,602
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 5- Fixed AssetqCont.)

A. (Cont)
Computers,
Television office
Machines,  Telecommuni  equipment furniture, Installations
facilities and cation and Packaging equipment  and leasehold
Buildings equipment network infrastructure plants and other  improvements Total
NIS millions

Book value:
As at December 31,

2020 125 24 1,083 241 196 71 20 1,760
As at December 31,

2021 119 21 1,084 234 193 62 16 1,729

B. Inthe ordinary course of business, the Group acquires some of the fixed assets on credit. The acquisition cost wliyiehidess npatid
as at December 31, 2021 amounted to NIS 155 mi{@mtember 31, 2020NIS 167 million.

C. For details regardmpledges, see Note 21 below.
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Note 6- Investment Property

A. Composition )
Movement in the book value of investment property

Buildings
for rent
NIS
millions
Balance as at January 1, 2020 3,389
Acquisitions and investments in current assets 9
Additions due to business combination 15
Net translation differences due to the translation of financial
statements of foreign operations (205
Decrease in fair value, net (282
Balance as at January 1, 2021 2,926
Reclassification of amounts from rental income receivable to
investment property 89
Acquisitions and investments in current assets 63
Increase in fair value, net 547
Net translation differences due to the translation of financial
statements dioreign operations (89
Classification as assets of disposal group held fof'sale (3,513
Balance as at December 31, 2021 23

(1) For details regarding the classification of revegeeerating real estate properties in Israel and
the HSBC Tower in New York as assets of a disposal group held for sale, see Notes 12.A and
B below.
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Note 6- Investment Property (Cont.)

B.

Determination of fair value
Data regarding the measurements of fair value of investment property

1.

Significant unobservable inputs

Cash flow discount rat@b per year

2020
Reciprocal relationship between
Property Weighted significant unobservable inputs and
type Valuation techniques for the determination of fair value Range average measurement of fair value
Rental Fair value is estimated using the revenue discounting method Revenue For office purposes 7 39, 7.3% The estimated fair value will increase
properties  yajyation model based on the present value of the estimated NO| 9enerating For _ commercial if i )
theproperty. The valuation of real estate is based on the net annua Properties in purposes 5.3% to 8.9% 71% The cash flow discount rate wil
flows, discounted by the discount rate which reflects the specific 1 'S"a€! For industrial  8.5% 8.5% decrease.
embodied therein. When rental agreements effectively exist, wher purposes ' ’
ggﬁzﬁfm\gngr?s&ﬁ;raoeé?:gq ir? r%rZZfre rgm Tefﬁgzriﬁgat:ctf;t’ Revem:g (F:or offitce purposes ggng) 5.34% "][he estimated fair value will increase
: . generating urrent- .75% if:
payments during the period of the agreement. properties in  Realization The current discount rate and/or tt
the United discount rate in the year of sal
States decrease?
The val_uations take into account the types of Ifessees Wh.O' are ac Value of ren{NIS per square meter per mohth
occupying the leased property, or who i@gponsible for fulfilling the R P NIS 58 o NIS 80 e - o fair val E
rental obligations, or those who may be in the leased property afte evenue For office purposes to NIS 67 e e estimated fair value will increase
rental of an available property, including the division of responsibi generating if
between the Group and the Lessee with respect to holding the prc properties  in .The market value of rent payments
and theemaining economic lifetime of the property, in the cases wt Israel - Increases.
those parameters are relevant. For commercial NIS 63
purposes NIS 11 to NIS 190
For industrial The estimated fair value will increase
purposes if:
The market value of rent paymen
NIS 21 NIS 21 increases?
Revenue For office purposes NIS 320 to NIS 460 NIS 361
generating
properties in
the United
States®

(1) There is no internal reciprocal relationship between the material unobservable inputs.
(2) Including rental income with respect to expenses in the year of sale.
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Note 6- Investment Property (Cont.)

B. Determination of fair value (Cont.)

2.

Valuation processes which are applied in the Group

The fair value of investment property is determined itgependent external

valuers, with the appropriate qualifications and experience for the type of property

involved in the valuation, and its locatidéxternal valuations are performed at least
once per year, or when indications of changes in value (@isthever is earligr

All of the valuations are evaluated by the managements of the Grogmber

companies and are subsequently reported to their financial statements review

committees.

The primary unobservable market inputs refer to the followingfact

71 Discount rates which are based on professional publications in the relevant
markets, if any, and comparison to similar transactions, with the required
adjustments.

1 The market value of rent paymentsarket rent based on professional
publications in the relevant markets and comparison to similar transactions,
with the required adjustments.

1 Construction costs per square meter, based on agreements with performance
contractors and a detailed budget for each project.

Adjustments to book value
Presented below are details regarding significant adjustments to a valuation which
was received for the purpose of presenting investment property in the financial

statements.
As at December 31

2021 20202
NIS millions
Fair value as reported by external valuérs 23 3,035
After deducting amounts applied to income receivable with
respect to rent according to the straight line method - (109
Fair value, as presented in the financial statements 23 2,926

(1)Including fair value which was calculated not by external
valuers, in accordance with observed transactions in an

active market - 13
(2) Including the HSBC Tower activity, which was classified in 2021 as an asset of a disposal group
held for sale.
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Note 6- Investment Property (Cont.)
C. Amounts recognized in the statement of income

For the year ended December 31

2021 20202 20192
NIS millions
Rental income from investment property 40 101 151
Direct operating expenses due to investme
property® 12 27 33
Increase in fair value of investment proper
net 5853 2 67

Profit with respect to revaluations to fair value
For the year ended December 3

2021 20202 2019%
Buildings for rent

NIS millions
Changes in fair value attributed to unrealized investrr
properties, net 5859 2 30
Changes in fair value attributed to realized investmer 37
properties - -
Total 585 2 67

(1) Including expenses in immaterial amounts with respe@bvestment property which did not generate

rental income.
(2) Adjusted retrospectively due to the presentation of the HSBC Tower activity under discontinued

operations, see Note 12.Blielow.
(3) See Notes 12.A.2, 3 and 4 below.
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Note 7- Lease Assets andliabilities

A. Right-of-use assets

Cost

Balance as at January 1, 2020

Additions with respect to new
agreements, changes to
agreements and revaluation

Purchase in business combinatior

Write-offs with respect to

concluded agreements
Write-offs due to deconsolidation

Balance as at January 1, 2021
Additions with respect to new
agreements, changes to
agreements and revaluation
Write-offs with respect to
concluded agreements
Impact of changes in exchange
rates
Transfer tcheld-for-sale assets

Balance as at December 31, 2021

Depreciation
Balance as at January 1, 2020
Depreciation for the year
Purchase in business combinatior
Write-offs with respect to
concluded agreements
Changes to agreements
Write-offs due to deconsolidation

Balance as at January 1, 2021
Depreciation for the year
Write-offs with respect to
concluded agreements
Changes to agreements
Transfer to heldor-sale assets

Balance as aDecember 31, 2021

Book value as at December 31,
2020

Book value as at December 31,
2021

Land for
Telecommunication Buildings orchards
@ ® Vehicles® Total
NIS millions
737 224 - 52 1,013
94 15 11 36 162
- 72 189 5 268
(65) (7) - (10 (82
: (4) : : (4)
766 300 200 83 1,357
88 208 8 20 325
(100 (109 (1) (14 (224
- (1) - - (1)
: (4) : : (4)
754 394 207 89 1,453
169 56 - 14 239
168 66 5 26 265
- 18 35 1 55
(59 (6) - (10 (75
©) ©) - - (6)
- ©) - - ©)
275 128 40 31 475
129 70 9 29 238
(98) (15 - 11) (1249
@ - : : (4)
- 1) - - (1)
302 182 49 49 584
491 172 160 52 882
452 212 158 40 869
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Note 7- Lease Assets and LiabilitiegCont.)

A.

Right-of-use asset¢Cont.)

)

2

3)

(4)

Communication sites-Cel | comés mobil e net wor
sites which are distributed throughout the country, which provide tele
coverage for the vast majority of inhabited regions in Is@ellcom rents from
various entitiegincludingfrom local authorities, government entities such as
Israel Land Administration, and private entijiestes for the constructior
maintenance and operation of base sites which are used for its mobil
network.The lease agreements in this regaedraostly for periods ranging frot
two to five years, with an option to extend for similar periods, and with op
of termination, under certain conditionig. certain agreements, the lessor
entitled to terminate the agreement at any time, and foreaspon whatsoeve
subject to advance notice.

Buildings - The Group leases buildings which include, inter alia, offices in I
and abroad, and leases for agricultural activity which is performed in pack
plants and refrigeration facilities.

Land for orchards - Mehadrin leases orchards with a total area of 11
dunams, of which 11,502 dunams are leased from the Israel Land Authorit
196 dunams are privately ownedut of these agreements, 9,380 duné2@20
- 9,551 dunamjsare leased for 49 year perioasding in 2002021, with an
option to extend by an additional 49 year period, and Z2@20- 1,953 dunams
dunams are leased under 49 year agreements ending ¥r2@969without ar
option to extend the lease period.

Mehadrin also leases holding bezds(holding orchards are customer orcha
which are transferred in their en
year agreement between the pajtiés consideration of the turnover from tl
fruit, Mehadrin covers the operating expensésthose orchards, and if tt
agreement prescribes it, an agrepdn additional sum is paid to the custome

Vehicles- The Group leases vehicles from several different leasing comp:
and from time to time changes the number of vehicles, iordance with its
current needsThe leased vehicles are identified, and the leasing comp
cannot replace them, except in case of defects.
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Note 7- Lease Assets and LiabilitiegCont.)
B. Lease liabilities

Telecommunication Land for
sites Buildings orchards Vehicles Other Total
NIS millions

Balance as at January 1, 2020 571 203 - 39 - 813
Additions with respect to new

agreements, changes to

agreements and revaluation 94 11 4 38 6 153
Purchase in business combinatior - 55 44 4 1 104
Write-offs (6) - - D - @)
Financing expenses with respect t

lease liabilities 21 7 1 1 1 31
Lease payments (168 (79 (@] (26) Q) (275
Write-offs due to deconsolidation - 2 - - - 2
Impact of changes in exchange

rates - - (D) - - (@)
Balance as at December 31, 202C 512 195 47 55 7 816
Current maturities of lease

liabilities 135 69 6 28 2 240
Long term lease liabilities 377 126 41 27 5 576
Book value as at December 31,

2020 512 195 47 55 7 816
Additions with respect to new

agreements, changes to

agreements and revaluation 98 220 - 17 1 336
Write-offs (@D (92 - 3 - (96)
Financing expenses with respect t

lease liabilities 18 9 2 1 - 30
Lease payments (168 (79 (6) (3D 2 (286)
Impact of changes in exchange

rates - 3) - - - 3)
Balance as at December 31, 2021 459 250 43 39 6 797
Current maturities of lease

liabilities 105 69 5 27 2 208
Long term lease liabilities 354 181 38 12 4 589
Book value as at December 31,

2021 459 250 43 39 6 797

* For an analysis of the repayment dates of the Grolepse liabilities, including principal and interest payable, see Note 20.F. be

C. Payments with respect to options to extend leases which were not taken into account

in the calculation of lease liabilities
December 31,

Range of years 2021
NIS millions
Up to 5 years 56
5to 10 years 6
10 to 15 years 5
15 to 20 years 22
Over 20 years 12
Total 101
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Note 8- Trade Receivables and Other Income Receivable
A. Long term trade receivables

As at December 31

2021 2020
NIS millions
Long term trade receivables 410 523
After deducting deferred interest income 9 (13
After deducting the provision for credit losses (8 (20
After deducting current maturities (239 (329
158 176

The balance of long term trade receivables is with respect to equipment sales in payments made by
Cellcom(mainly in 36 paymenjsand whose present values as at December 31, 2021 and as at
December 31, 2020 were calculated according to amiisdunt rates of 3.3%.

B. Current trade receivables

Composition
As at December 31
2021 2020
NIS millions

Trade receivables 708 705
Credit card companies 242 231
Apartment buyers 3 13
Current maturities of long term trade

receivables 235 324
After deducting the provision for credit losse (109 (179

1,082 1,103
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Note 9- Intangible Assets

A.
Informati
on Technology,
systems  development in
Brands and process, Contract
and trade .icenses ai Custome software  franchises and obtaining
Goodwil names frequencie relations programs other costs Total
NIS millions

Cost
Balance as at January 1, 2020 2,698 280 552 264 359 64 396 4,613
Acquisitions and additions - - 38 - 67 - 131 236
Write-offs - 4 - - (70) - - (74)
Impact of changes in exchange rates - - - - - 2 - (2
Deconsolidation - - - - (19 (49 3 (66)
Purchase in business combination 754 36 45 138 22 - 62 1,057
Balance as at January 1, 2021 3,452 312 635 402 364 13 586 5,764
Acquisitions and additions - - - - 61 - 135 196
Write-offs - - - - (25) - - (25
Purchase in business combination 5 1 - - - - - 6

3,457 313 635 402 400 13 721 5,941

Balance as at December 31, 2021

In the ordinary course of business, the Group acquires some of the intangible assets on credit. The acquisition cashotyet been paid as at December 31, 2021
amounted to NIS 29 millioas at December 31, 2020M1S 67 millior).
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Note 9- Intangible Assets(Cont.)

A. (Cont.) Informati
on Technology,
systems  development in
Brands Licenses and process, Contract
and trade and Customer software franchises and obtaining
Goodwil names  frequencie relations programs other costs Total
NIS millions

Amortization and impairment losses

Balance as at January 1, 2020 1,629 48 431 264 158 1 233 2,764
Amortization for the year - 1 16 7 101 - 132 257
Write-offs - (3) - - (69) - - (72
Deconsolidation - - - - (6) - D @)
Purchase in business combination - - 45 26 15 - 43 129
Balance as at January 1, 2021 1,629 46 492 297 199 1 407 3,071
Amortization for the year - - 17 21 74 - 143 255
Write-offs - - - - (259 - - (25
Balance as at December 31, 2021 1,629 46 509 318 248 1 550 3,301
Book value

As at December 31, 2020 1,823 266 143 105 165 12 179 2,693
As at December 31, 2021 1,828 266 126 84 153 12 171 2,640
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Note 9- Intangible Assets(Cont.)

B.

The fair value of intangible assets which were purchased in various business combinations was
estimated on the date efch business combination as follows:

Brands and trade names

Fair value was estimated using the relief from royalty approach, according to which the fair value
of the asset is estimated according to an evaluation of royalties, thkimtetically would have

been paid to a third party with respect to the use of the 8$smeeconomic value of the brand is

due to the fact that the ownership thereof exempts the property owner from the need to pay such
royalties to a third party with rpect to the use of the property. The rate of royalties used in the
determination of the fair value of the brands is 029 (mostly 1%1.5%) of expected income.

Additional details regarding primary cash generating units which include goodwill or an

intangible asset with an undefined lifetime

o Goodwill and brand with undefined lifetimes which are attributed to Cellcom amount, as at
December 31, 2021, to NIS 1,796 million and NIS 231 million, respectively.

Cell combés enterpris€elvhtaoambéswhachei enbhbedst
December 31, 202(with the required adjustments higher than the value of that activity in

the Companydés financial statements as at Dec
o Goodwillisattri buted to the Epsilon activity in

December 31, 2021 in the amount of NIS 37 million. The recoverable amount of Bpsilon
activity, in accordance with an economic paper which was prepared as at December 31, 2021
by an external valuer using the to value in use method, was lower than the value of the
aforementioned activity in these financial statements, and therefore impairment was not
recognized with respect to the aforementioned goodwiill.

Impairment test of investee companies in 2021

In light of that stated in Note 22.B.1.C. below, in connection with insolvency proceedings in
Xfone, the Company performed, in the second quarter of 2021, an impairment test of the goodwiill

and brand, net of tax, attributed tellCom.

The value of the assets attributed to ®ellcom
activity in the Companyds financi al stat ement
is lower than the recoverable value of the Cellcom activity as estimated in the economic paper as

at June 30, 2021, in the amount of NIS 6,536 million asatdate. Therefore, impairment of the
aforementioned goodwill and brand were not recognized.

In accordance with Regulation (@9 of the Reporting Regulations, the aforementioned economic
paper was attached to the ConBoa02tdvhichfwermanci a
published on August 19, 2028eference number 2011-068089.

DIC performed, in the fourth quarter of 2021, an annual test of the impairment of the goodwiill
and brand attributed to Cellcom. The value of the assets attributed teGelmé s act i vi t vy,
liabilities attributedto Cellcots act i vity in the Companyés fina
31, 2021, is NIS 5,578 milliogc al cul at ed according to Cell combd
amount of NIS 1,921 million, plus¢ goodwill and brand, net of tax, which are attributed to

Cell com in the Comp ainthé amountiohM &6 million, andgluse me nt
Cell comés debentures in the amount of NIS 2,8
that datg, lower than the recoverable amount of the Cellcom actimibych was estimated, as at

December 31, 2021, at a total of NIS 5,845 millfoalculated according to the market value of

Cell combs share capital as &NtS 2,8 mikomlplesrthe3 1, 20

mar ket val ue of Cell combs debentures, )in the
Impairment with respect to the aforementioned goodwill and brand was therefore not recognized.
For details regarding the book value and mavketl ue of t he Company6s i n\

as at December 31, 2021, and proximate to the publication date of the report, see Note 3.D. above.
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Note 10- Deposits and Pledged and Restricted Deposits

As at December 31

2021 2020
NIS millions
Deposits in banks 125 402
Pledged and restricted deposits 1752 156V
300 558

(1) Mostly with respect to real estate.

@

GawvYam shares, see Note 3.G.2.AaPove.

Note 11- Inventory and Inventory of Buildings for Sale
A. Inventory

As at December 31

Including NIS 100 million, which are deposited with the trustee for the execution of a transaction involeffeg mpurchase

2021 2020
NIS millions
Telephones and other communication equipnetstly with
respect to Cellcods mobile and internet activitigef Cellcom 98 83
Inventory of fruit, packaging materials and pest control materials 142 136
240 219
B. Inventory of buildings for sale
As at December 31
2021 2020
NIS millions
Invested costs:
Land 29 8
Construction and others 17 27
Amounts carried to the statement of income
accordance with the provisions of IFRS 1 (8) (33
38 2
Inventory of completed buildings 38 60
Provision for impairment of completed
buildings 11) (12
65 50

For the year ended December 31

2021 2020
NIS millions

Movement in inventory of buildings for
sale:
Balance as at January 1 50 105
Additions 47 28
Transfer from fixed assets and real estate 4 -
Write-offs @ (39 (83
Balance as at December 31 65 50

(1) Including with respect to a provision L L

for impairment in the amount of
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Note 12 - Assets and Liabilities of Disposal Groups Held for Sale and Discontinued

Operations
The properties of Pr-gepesating seal &statB activitias inhspdl, she r e v e
HSBC Tower , | DBG, and some of Prdenpabsegmgnt & Bui

in Israel, are presented in the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021 as assets
of disposal groups held for salEhe results of the HSBC Tower, the Gdam activity until
August 31, 2019 and §BR6) 2020 aeapreéestedaas discontindey u n -
operations in the statements of incomhbile the comparative figures with respect to the results
of the HSBC Tower for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were restated separately
from continuing operationdg-or details regarding the results of discontinued operations, see
section B. below.

1 Revenuegenerating properties of Property & Building in Israsée section A.20

section A.4below;

1 IDBG - see section A.Delow; o S _ _

T Some of Pr oper iviyin&e rBsidentiadsegmgndiis Israeded section
A.6. below;

1 HSBC Tower- see section B.helow;

1 GawYam until August 31, 2019see section B.elow;

1 Shufersal until July 26, 2020see section B.&elow.

Presented below is theomposition of assets and liabilities of disposal groups held for sale
with respect to the foregoing companies, and others:

As at December 31

2021 2020
NIS millions

Assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale

Investment in equitaccounted investée 96 -
Investment property 3,513 1,268
Other receivables and debit balances 33 -
Inventory of real estate and buildings for sale 44 -
Other assets 9 -
Total assets of disposal groups held for sale 3,695 1,268
Liabilities of disposal groups held for sale

Other payables and credit balances 171 -
Liabilities to banking corporations and financial institutions 1,173 300
Deferred tax liability - 109
Provisions(see Note 12.B.1.D. belgw 41 -
Other liabilities 3 47
Total liabilities of disposal groups held for sale 1,388 456

@ For details regarding the terms of a loan to an investee, see section 5.E. below.
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A. Assets and liabilities of disposal groups held for sale

1. Ispro

On April 8, 2020, Property & Building entered into an agreement with Messrs.
Kidan Dahari and Yaron Adiv, third parties which are unrelated to Property &
Building(t hBuydi®), under which the buyers wil/l
entire stake in Ispro shares, whi ch <con
will acquire (by way of assignmeptPr operty & Buil dingds r
shareholdes loans which it provided to Ispfthe balance of which, not including
accrued interest, as at December 31, 2020, amounts to approximately NIS 221
mi | | i oSharehold@isd_oaf), in consideratiorof a total of NIS 800 million
the AConyanmeér aheonmdal e Agl aremeditidna , res
consideration which will be calculated according to the cash flow from the Ispro
activity, excluding nofrecurring effect{FFO according to the deftion in the
agreement from the signing date of the agreement until the end of 2020.
On March 24, 2021 the transaction was completed, and Property & Building
transferred all of its rights in Ispro to the buyers, and received the balance of
consideratin, in the amount of NIS 650 million, gra@s addition to a total of NIS
150 million which was received in 20R@&nd Property & Building also received a
total of NIS 18 million, additional consideration which was calculated according to
the cash flowsrbm the Ispro operation, without neacurring effect{FFO, as
defined in the sale agreemgnintil the end of 2020, as a dividend which was
distributed by Ispro, as part of the completion of the transadnoconsideration
of the fact that, as at Decéer 31, 2020, the Company has provided the balance of
| sprods assets and liabilities which ar
sale, including the shareholderloan, in the amount of NIS 818 million, the
Company did not carry profit or losa the financial statements for 2021 with
respect to the completion of the sale transaction.
Concentration of balances as at the date of deconsolidation

As at the date

of
deconsolidation
NIS millions

Cash consideration which was received fiitbwm sale, net of 808Y
transaction costs
Assets and liabilities which were written &%
Assets of disposal groups held for sale 1,254
Liabilities of disposal groups held for sale 443

811

M A total of NIS 150 million was received in 2020.
@ The assets and liabilities were written off according to their values as at March 24, 2021.
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A. Assets and Liabilities of Disposal Groups Held for Sal@Cont.)

1. Ispro (Cont.)

Mega Or claim

Further to that stated in Note 3.G. 2. E. to
regarding Mega Ordés fundament al breaches o
Property & Buildingds engagement, on April

Dahari and Yaron Adiv, in April 2020 Mega Or and Big Shopping Centers(intdhis

note-t h e A P) fiked aatmiafafnst Broperty & Building, its subsidiary and Messrs.

Kidan Dahariand Yaron Adit he fADef endant so an)donghvih ACI ai r
a motion for a provisional injunction on an ex parte basis, in which it was requested, inter

alia, to prevent Property & Building from executingadternativetransactiot he f Mot i on
for a Provis.ional Il njunctiono

In the claim, the Court wasequested to issue a permanent injunction against the
defendants, to prevent the execution of the new agreement, and the signing and execution

of any other transaction for the sale of Ispro shares to the defendants, as well as various
declaratory orders aording to which, as asserted, the plaintiffs had not breached the Mega

Or agreement, Property & Building had performed a fundamental breach of the Mega Or
agreement and the duty of good faith to fulfill it, as well as a declaration that a change for

the worse had occurred, as defined in the Mega Or agreemen€Court was also requested

to issue an order applying the terms of the new agreement to the Mega Or agreement, or
alternatively, to issue any oThhmaotonforamedy t
temporary injunction was dismissed by the
plaintiffs announce whether they insist on their request, and regarding the holding of a
hearing in the presence of the parties, the plaintiffs notified the @a they did not insist

on their request, but insisted on theirclaPhr operty & Buil ding reje
claims in the claim, and will work to protect all of its rights-&isis the plaintiffs.

On August 27, 2020, Property Building and the subsidiary filed a statement of defense,

in which they rejected the assertions in the claim, and brought preliminary assertions for

the summary dismissal of the claifftey also filed a statement of counterclaim against

Mega Or and Bigthe 7 C o u n ). & the downterod@m, Property & Building and the
subsidiary petitioned, inter alia, for the payment of a total of approximately NIS 100 million

to Property & Building and to the subsidiary, with respect to damages which they incurred
dueto material and fundamental breaches of the Mega Or agreement, and due to actions
and omissions of theirs, all without prejudice to the right of Property & Building and the
subsidiary to amend the statement of counterclaim, and to split the remedies aasoay

be necessary, and to file additional claims.

On October 19, 2020, Mega Or notified Property & Building of the termination of the Mega
Oragreementwhi ch, as stated in Note 3.G.2.E. to
2020, had already bed¢erminated by Property & Building and the subsidiary
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1. Ispro (Cont.)
Mega Or claim (Cont.)
On October 20, 2020, and after Mega Or notified Property & Building of the
termination of the Mega Or agreement, the plaintiffs filed with the Court a motion
to amend the statement of claim, in which they stated, interlaiantlight of their
termination of the agreement, they are no longer requesting the remedy involving
adjustment of the agreement and the remedy of preventing the counter transaction,
and instead of they are demanding monetary relief involving reimbunseshe
expenses and legal feés an immaterial amouptand also adding to the current
remedies, that the agreement had been terminated by them la®fulNovember
23, 2020, the Court determined that the amendment to the statement of claim which
had been requested by the plaintiffs should be permitted, subject to the payment of
expenses in favor of the defendafmsan immaterial amouptOn January 6,021,
Mega Or and Big filed an amended statement of claim. On March 17, 2021,
Property & Building filed a revised statement of defense in response to the revised
statement of claim which was filed by Mega Or and Big.
Additionally, further to(A) Property& Bui | di ngds demand towa
the Mega Or agreeme(it h e f T),rtoutransfer ¢od{as partial compensatipn
the first deposit which Mega Or deposited with him, in the amount of NIS 15
million, as part of the Mega Or agreement, BMega Or 6 s obj ecti on
the first deposit to Property & Building as compensation, as stated above, in April
2020 the trustee filed with the Court a motion in which the Court was requested to
issue instructions to the trustee regarding the way to éahdl aforementioned
deposit. Mega Or filed a motion to stay these proceedings until a decision has been
reached regarding its claim, alleging the existence of pending proceedings. Property
& Building objected to the motion to stay the proceedimigghe hearing which
was held on April 11, 2021, in a proceeding which was filed by the trustee, the
Courtés proposal to unify the proceedin
adjudication of the two proceedings.
Further to the Counl 2021, thenrespondertst initiateds o n
mediation proceedings, which have not yet been compléted. precaution, the
required resolutions regarding the management of the proceduohrogairt and in
mediatior) vis-a-vis Mega Or and Big are passed by Propert& Bui | di ngos
Committee.
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2. Nechasim House
On October 19, 2021, Property & Building published a request for offers to
purchase all of its interests in Nechasim House, a revgenerating real estate
property, with potential for betterment, on HaMasger St. in Tel Aafo, which
it held(t h e @ P¥k jorgthe period specified therei@n December 2, 2021,
following a competitive process which Property & Building conducted, Property &
Building engagedi n accordance with the resol ut.i
Board of Directors with a third paty which is unaffiliated with Property &
Building (t h e f)Bruaysale agreemeftt he A Sal e)fohthesaleachent 0O
al | Property & Buil di ngo qincladmg allrostiei p r i ¢
interests and liabilities under the lease agreenamishe management agreement
which applies to the propeijtyfor a total consideration of approximately NIS 390
milion(t he ACon¥i derati ono
In accordance with the provisions of the sale agreement, the consideration will be
paid to Property & Building in two paymertshe first payment in the amount of
approximately NIS 117 milliofapproximately 30% of the consideratjomas paid
to Property & Building on the signing date of the agreemantj the second
payment, in the aount of approximately NIS 273 millio@pproximately 70% of
the considerationwas paid to Property & Building in February 2022, after the date
of the statement of financial position, on the date when the property was transferred
to the buyer.
As a resulof the aforementioned sale, Property & Building determined the value
of the property, in the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021,
according to the sale price in the transactiand recorded, in its financial
statements for 202het profit i n the amount of NI ¢
share in the profit was NIS 178 million.
3. Avgad House
In October 2021 Property & Building engaged in an agreement to sell its holdings
in Avgad House in Ramat Gan to a third pdwich is unafiliated with Property
& Building), for a total consideration of NIS 95 million. The first payment, in the
amount of NIS 29 million(approximately 30% of the consideratfjomas paid to
Property & Building on the signing date of the agreenmamd; the secahpayment,
in the amount of NIS 66 milliofapproximately 70% of the consideratjovas paid
to Property & Building in January 2022, after the date of the statement of financial
position, on the date when the property was delivered to the buyer.
Accordindy, Property & Building included, in 2021, profit from the increase in
value of investment property in the amo
in the profit was NIS 4 million. The aforementioned sale was completed in January
2022, after the datd the statement of financial position.
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A. Assets and Liabilities of Disposal Groups Held for SaléCont.)

4.

Romano House

In February 2022, after the date of the statement of financial position, Property &
Building published a request for offers to purchase all of its interests in Romano
House, a revenugenerating real estate property with potential for optimization on

Yafo St. in Tel AvivYafo(t h e A P) io which Prgpérty & Building holds
approximately 72.2% of the righ@mdirectly, through a subsidiary which is owned

by other shareholders h e f S u)basd irdaccardayae with the resolution of
Property &Buidli ngés Board of Directors, Proper
2022, after the date of the statement of financial position, together with the other
shareholders in the subsidiafy n consi deration of t he s
liquidation) (Property &Building and the other shareholders, as stated abthe

i S e | )lwihrasthird party which is unaffiliated with Property & Buildirfthe

A B u y),enraccale agreemeftt he A Sal e) fok g total eomsaderation of

NIS 371 million(Property & Build n g 6 s- NKS R&8 midlion), plus CPI linkage
differentials, and plus VAT(t h e i C o n ¥ ilnd acco@ande owitld the
provisions of the sale agreement, the s
interests and liabilities in the propefincluding all of the interests and liabilities
according to the lease agreeméniscluding a protected leaseand other
agreements, as well as the management agreement which applies to the)property

in their current conditiof ds i® ,)anddirectly.

The consideration will be paid to the sellers in three paymenhts first payment

in the amount of NIS 37 milliofwhich constitutes approximately 10% of the
consideration, t NI® 27Croliorp was paid 0 Psopeaty &

Building on the signing date of the agreeméh& second payment in the amount

of NIS 37 million (which constitutes approximately 10% of the consideration,
Property & B-WINISRdniilliog wilkbe pald #orthe sellers within 30

days after the signing the sale agreemerhe third payment in the amount of NIS

297 millon@appr oxi mately 80% of the considera
- NIS 214 million) will be paid to the sellers until the date when the property is
transferred to the buyefexcet for certain amounts, the transfer of which to
Property & Building is subject to approval from the Municipality, and approvals

from the Tax Authority regarding the payment of land appreciation tax and purchase

tax, in accordance with the standard prajtido secure the payment of the
consideration, the buyer provided an unconditional autonomous bank guarantee in

the amount of NIS 35 million. In accordance with the foregoing sale agreement, the
closing of the transaction and the transfer of the propétye effected up to 90

days after the signing date of the sale agreemara. result of the aforementioned

sal e, Property & Building determined t
financial position as at December 31, 2021 according to the sak iprthe
transaction, and included, in its financial statements for 2@2%hare in the net

profit with respect to the revaluation of investment property, in the amount of NIS
157 million. The Companyo06s sharebyin net
clarified that there is no certainty regardihg completion of the transaction, due

to factors which are not under Property
breach of the provisions of the sale agreement by the buyer.
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A. Assets and Liabilities of Disposal Groups Held for SaléCont.)

5. IDBG

IDB Group USA Investments In¢. IDBGO Ya company owned by Property &

Building (74.18% and IDB Developmen(25.82%) holds, as at December 31,

2021, all of the interests in Great Wash Park L(BEGG W/.)

A. Sale agreement
Il n March 2021, | DBG6s Board of Direc
continuel i nvestment in the optimization
take the required action to prepare for the sale of its properties, depending on
(among other considerationsarket conditionsAs part of a competitive
process which was held, IDBG engagéd, December 2021, in a sale
agreemenft he @ Sal e)whkhgan enétynenaffiliabed with Property
& Building (t h e A Bforythe sabe of all of its interests and liabilities
(indirectly) in the Tivoli project(a commercial and officprojec) in Las
Vegas, Nevada, and in land reserves adjacent to the Tivoli p(ujentty:
t he Al DBG ) irtheip @menti censlition ds i®,) for a total
consideration of USD 216 milliofhf he A consi derationo and
respectively.
In accordance with the terms of the sale agreement, the buyer deposited with
a trustee a har@rrevocablé deposit in the amount of USD 10 millidthe
A De p h Oricd tide transaction enters into eff@a., as at the date of the
courts approval, & specified beloyy a 30 day due diligence process will
begin. The transaction closing date will be 60 days after the end of the
aforementioned due diligence period.
The closing of the transaction is subject to the condition that, up to 5 business
days béore the closing date, as determined in the sale agreement, IDBG will
transfer to the buyer approvals from 70% of the tenants in the Tivoli project
regarding the transfer of ownership, in accordance with the terms of the sale
agreement, and will not be mdeed the foregoing approvals are not received,
the agreement will be terminated, and the deposit will be returned to the
buyer.
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5. IDBG (Cont.)
A. Sale agreemeriCont.)

Until the closing date of the transaction, and in order to execute the sale
agreement in accordance with its terms, Property & Building and IDBG will
be required to repay a loan from an institutional entity in the amount of NIS
162 million(t h e A Innaslt i)tandailoan which was taken by IDBG
from an American bank, in the amount of USD 73 milllonh e fALoan f r
t he Amer i).EoadetaiB eegakdiag the institutional loan and the loan
from the American bank, see sections B and C below. Inr@dacoe with the
indemnification agreement, as specified in sections @nd. C.4. below,
Property & Building repaid the aforementioned institutional loan in January
2022, after the date of the statement of financial position, and Property &
Building is corsidered as having provided the institutional loan directly to
IDBG, and is entitled to the repayment funds on the transaction closing date.
On February 25, 2022, after the date of the statement of financial position,
IDBG engaged in an amendment to thée sagreement, in which it was
determined that the transaction closing date would be postponed to March 31,
2022;the closing date in connection with some of the land reserves which are
adjacent to the Tivoli project, as stated above, was acceleratedrt@ieb
28, 2022, in a manner whereby IDBG will sell and transfer, on that date, to a
related company of the buyé@r h e A L a n,dll oBitsyinéeresis and
liabilities in some of the land reserves which are adjacent to the Tivoli project
(t he 0)Lfa a tbtal consideration of USD 4.5 million, which will be
credited on account of the consideratonh e A Consi der g.t i on f
As at the publication of the financial statements, the consideration for the land
has been transferred to a trusteeffect the closing, as stated above.
The land buyer deposited with a trustee an additional deposit, which was
provided proximate to the signing of the sale agreement, of an additional USD
5milion(t he f De p o s i)i(sudh that the dioeemdnized dkposit
amounted to a total of USD 15 millipn
Insofar as the transaction is not closed in accordance with the agreed
conditions, the land will be sold back to IDBG by the land buyer, and will be
transferred to IDBG, IDBG will return to the labdyer the consideration for
the land(after deducting expenses which it spent in connection with the
engagement in the amendment to the agregnaerd the deposit for the land
will be returned to it.
Subject to the closing of the transaction, IDBG expéc receive net cash
flows in the amount of USD 91 milliodfter the repayment of the loan from
the American bank, as stated abave repayment of the institutional loan;
and other selling costs.
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5. IDBG (Cont.)
A. Sale agreemeriCont)

In consideration of the expected consideration from the transaction, and in
light of the costs specified above, Property & Building included, in its
financial statements for 2021, net loss in the amount of NIS 62 million, the
Companyo6s s h ass-&NKS 39 mmlliont, reeorded éentthe financial
statements under discontinued operations, which pertains to the decrease in
value of a loan which Property & Building gave to IDBG, and the fair value
adjustment thereof at yeand.
I n consideration of the balance of Pr
as recorded in Property & Buildingo!
(approximately NIS 96 milliop Property & Building is expected to record,
on the transaction closing date, g&iom sale of IDBG properties in the
amount of NIS 115 millioft he Company és shar-BISin the
73 million), which reflects the difference between the net proceeds which are
expected to be received from IDBG, and the value, in Property& B di ng 6 s
books, of the investment in IDBG. The carrying of the aforementioned profit
is attributed, inter alia, to the accounting method with respect to the
investment in IDBG, in accordance with the instructions for implementing
the amendment to Intermamal Accounting Standar@dAS) 28, as stated in
Note 2.A.5.above.
Property & Buildingds investment in |
translation reserve for foreign operatio Tr ans | at i)otke Res er
balance of which, as at December 31,2GZnounted to NIS 156 milligfthe
Companyos s har-eNISi9 miltioh).dn apcordance with &hé

Groupbs accounting policy, as stated
reserve, as at the closing date of the transaction, will be carrieslsas the
Companyb6s statement of i ncome, wi t h

Companyo6s @&ehquiy. ehol der s

As at the publication date of the financial statements, IDBG and the buyer are
working towards closing the transactidrne closing of the saltransaction

in accordance with the amendment to the agreement is uncertain, and it is
possible that it will not be closed, due to factors which are not under the
control of Property & Building and/or IDBG.

In light of the aforementioned sale, the inwesht in IDBG is presented in

the Companyds statement of financi al
asset of disposal groups held for sale.
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5. IDBG (Cont.)

B.

Bank loan

GW, which holds the rights in the Tivoli project, has a loan which was
received from a local bank in the United Stqtehr e fAiBank &nkano
Lender o, )rteesbplancetofi whiehl, a5 at the reporting date, was
approximately USD 72.4 millionThe loan agreement was signed in
December 2018, for a period of three years, repayable on January 1, 2022.
The bank loan bears fixeannual interest at a rate of 5.75%ypon the
provision of the bank loan, the lending bank deposited a total of USD 10
million out of the balance of the loan, in a reserve deposit for leasehold
improvementg(Tl). The balance of the reserve as at December2821
amounted to USD 2.9 millioiThe entire project is pledged in favor of the
lending bank, through a first ranking pledti2BG is a guarantor for the bank
loan.

The bank loan was signed in parallel with a loan which was received from an
Israeli insttutional entity(t h e A1 n st i)tandthe indeanificatiom a n 0
agreement which is described in section C.2. below.

In May 2020, the lending bank approved for GW to finance the interest
payment for the months May, June and July 2020, out of the eedeposit.

In accordance with the loan agreement, GW undertook to fulfill an LTV ratio
(as defined in the loan agreemewhich will not exceed 40%, based on a
valuation which the lender will consider satisfactory, in its exclusive and
absolute discretionfhe loan agreement determines that the evaluation will
be performed only if required by the bank. If the bank requimesvaluation

of this kind, and the ratio is higher than 40%, GW will be required to partially
repay the loan, to a level which will allow it to meet the conditidre LTV

ratio, calculated as at December 31, 2021, based on the valuation of GW and
thecalwu | ati on prepared Property & Buil
The bank loan includes an evaluation mechanism, according to which GW
undert ook, t hroughout the entire |
DSCR at no less than 1Bne evaluation of the covage ratios will begin on
December 31, 2021, in accordance with the operating results in the 12 months
preceding the date of the evaluatitfiithe ratio falls below 1.3, then subject

al

di

0a

to the l endi ng banko&s requi rements,

immediately partially repay the balance of the b@ikan, to a balance which
will allow the borrower to fulfill the aforementioned coverage ratio.

According to the calculation of Prop

December 31, 2021 the DSCR was appr@taty 1.6.
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5. IDBG (Cont.)
B. Bank loan
If GW or IDBG have committed a fundamental breach or fundamental
omission, with respect to any debt in an amount exceeding USD 100.000
thousand, the lending bank will have the option to demand the immediate
repayment of the bank loan, unless GW or IDB4S applicablé have
disputed the occurrence of the breach, and the creditor in question has not
received a ruling allowing it to enforce its rights with respect to the breach.
In August 2021, IDBG signed a third update to the bank loan agreement,
which includes, inter alia, the following main changes:
1. The loan repayment date was extended from January 1, 2022 to January
1, 2023;
2. The interest rate was changed to 4.7%. The balance of the loan, in the
amount of USD 69.3 million, was increased in the amount of USD 4
million, which will be used for leasehold improvements, rental agent fees,
and closing costs. The net balance, in thewmof USD 3.8 million, was
deposited in an account under the
upon the full repayment of the institutional loan.
3. If the loan is repaid before May 1, 2022, a prepayment penalty of 0.5%
will be paid.
4. An option will be given for an additional 12 month extension until
January 1, 2024, in accordance with the terms of the loan agreement.
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C. |Institutional loan
1. On January 6, 2019, IDBG signed an update to an institutional loan
agreement dated January 3, 2017, from an Israeli financing ¢thigty
Al nstitut i)oimthée amownn af eUSO 153 millionthe
Al nstituti on a)lasspecdiedbedogyr e e ment 0
Principal terms of the loan agreement

A. The principal of the institutional loan, in the amount of NIS 153 million,
will be repaid in a single payment at the end of 24 mofahslanuary 6,
2021), and includes an interest reserve cushion in the amount ofllZSD
million. The institutional loan bears fixed annual interest at a rate of
5.93%(thefiL o a n | )ndr atra eagetofd7.93% in case of a default
event, as specified in this section below, to be repaid once every three
months;the loan will be used toirfance the Tivoli project and/or to
finance any action or purpose which is associated with the construction
and rental of the project.

In October 2020, IDBG used NIS 3.1 million out of the interest reserve
to make the current interest payment.

B. Collaterd was provided in favor of the institutional lender as follows:
Single first priority pledge on all of IDB& rights in GW/First priority
mortgage on the land of IDBG with an area of approximately 8 acres,
designated for residential purposes, in Las Ve@H3A; general first
priority pledge on all assets, funds, property and rights, of any kind
whatsoever, which belong to IDBG now or in the futuaepledge on
IDBGG rights to IDB@s bank accountand guarantees, jointly and
severally, which were originally provided by Property & Building and
IDB Development for the entire sum of the guaranteed amdtimés
fiGuarantee ,Jaccompanied by undertakings of Property & Building and
IDB Development not tor&ansfer their holdings in IDBG to third parties,
in any manner which is not in accordance with the provisions of the loan
agreement. The lender will be entitled to forfeit any of the collateral in
accordance with an order which will be determined by it.
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C.

Institutional loan(Cont)

Principal terms of thiban agreemer(Cont)

The guarantee

A. Each of the guarantors, jointly and severally, provided in favor of the
lender a perpetual guarantee to secure the repayment of all amounts which
are owed and/or which will be owed to the institutional lender by IDBG
in connection with the institutional loan agreement, and which will be in
effect until after the repayment of the entire amounts of the loan, or until
the institutional lender has given its approval for the cancellation of the
letter of guarantee.

B. The insttutional lender will be entitled to demand the payment of the
guarantee in any of the following cas€l:If IDBG has not fulfilled the
full and accurate payment of any of the payments in accordance with the
loan agreement when they come daed/or(2) If a demand has been
made for the immediate repayment of the loan in accordance with the
grounds and conditions specified in the institutional loan agreement.

C. The institutional loan agreement includes sections containing standard
representations, grounds fdemanding immediate repayment, provisions
regarding early repayment, and indemnification sections in favor of the
lender.The grounds for demanding repayment in accordance with the
agreement include, inter alia, grounds stipulating that insofar as the
foreign banking corporation has announced a demanding the immediate
repayment of the bank loan to GW, in an amount exceeding USD 1
million, the foregoing will constitute a default event also within the
framework of the loan of the Israeli financing entiyd will allow the
announcement of a demand for the immediate repayment also with
respect to the loan of the Israeli financing entity.

D. In connection with the institutional loan, IDBG undertook to fulfill, at all
times, an LTV ratiqas defined in the ageenenj of no more than 50%,
which i s evaluated accorditisgoted o | DB
that in light of the engagement of IDBG and the institutional lender in a
second addendum to the agreement, there was no need to evaluate this
ratio (seealso section E below

E. IDBGG& undertaking towards the institutional lender will take precedence
over its undertakings to repay the shareholder loans, which were provided
to it Property & Building and IDB Development, including in accordance
with the agreement for the provision of ttredit facility by Property &
Building in the amount of USD 50 millioas specified in section D
below).
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A. Assets and Liabilities of Dispsal Groups Held for SalgCont.)
5. IDBG (Cont.)
C. Institutional loan(Cont)
2. Indemnification agreemeii$ee update in section 3.D. below

A. Property & Building, IDB Development and IDBG engaged in an
indemnification agreement which determines that in case the
guarantee is forfeited in a n@gual manne(i.e., the lender collects
from one of the parties an amount exceeding its relative share i
IDBG), the party which paid more than its share in the forfeiture of
the guarantedt h e @ E x c e pwill haven daghtnof recourse
towards the other party, and priority in receiving the balance of the
excess amount from the receipts of IDBG, in a manviach will
compensate it for each such overpaym@énth e Al ndemni f i
Agreement o

B. In case either of the parties effectively has effectively borne the excess
amount towards the lender, the party which paid a lower part of its
share will indemnify thefirst party for the excess amount, within
seven(7) days after the date of the first parynitial demand, and
with respect to any damage and expense which it has incurred due to
its payment of the excess amount. Beginning from the date of creation
of the excess amount, until its full repayment, the excess amount will
bear annual interest at a rate of the loan plus 3%.

C. Additionally, in case of a distribution or repayment of shareh&der
loans (or any other debt which IDBG will perform to its
sharehdlers, the party which paid the excess amount will have
priority up to the full repayment of the excess amount. The payable
balance of the forfeited guarantee would be in accordance with the
terms of the current sharehol dersbo

On June 27, 2019, Madlo r educed the rating of

debenturegSeries ), which is a guarantofjointly and severally with

Property & Building towards the lender, from BB to Q@& is noted that

the rating was reduced to C in March 228 accordance with thedn

agreement, the aforementioned reduction of rating allowed the lender to

demand the immediate repayment of the loan, and resulted in an increase

of the interest rate to 7.93%.
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A. Assets and Liabilities of Disposal Groups Held for SaléCont.)
5. IDBG (Cont.)
C. Institutional loan(Cont)
3. Second addendum to the institutional loan agreement
On January 6, 2021, a second addendum to the institutional loan
agreemeni{t he A Se c o n § was sighed huhdemwich it was
stated that the total loan amount was increased from NIS 153 million to
NIS 162 million, due in a single payment at the en@izmonthgi.e., on
January 6, 2022The balance of the new loan includes an interest cushion
for current use in the amount of NIS 5.4 million.
The loan will bear fixed annual interest at a rate of 5% and in case of
certain events, as defined in the aufiiem, the interest rate may be
increased up to 7Yxmot including interest in arregrsNo changes were
made to the collateral which has been provided to the lender, except that,
in place of the guaranteéshich were provided by Property & Building
and bylDB Development, jointly and severa)lya guarantee of Property
& Building only will be given, for the entire secured amounts.
A. IDBG undertook to fulfill an LTV ratiqas defined in the institutional
loan agreemehino more than 55%Any increase of % over 55%
will lead to an interest rate increase of 0.25%, up to a cumulative total
of 1%. An increase of the LTV to a level over 75% will signify the
institutional | enderds entitl ement
of the institutional loan.
B.Any reduction of Property (@aBuil di
similar rating by another rating compamwill lead to an increase of
0.35% in the interest ratand an increase of the credit rating will lead
to a corresponding decrease the interest ratg In any case, the
overall interest rate will not exceed 7.@@&cept in case of interest in
arrears,
C.A decrease in Property & Buildingé
a reduction of Property & Buil di
s gnify the institutional l ender 6
repayment of the loan;

n
S

129



DIC

Notes to theConsolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 12 - Assets and Liabilities of Disposal Groups Held for Sale and Results of
Discontinued Operations(Cont.)
A. Assets and Liabilities of Disposal Groups Hd for Sale (Cont.)
5. IDBG (Cont.)
C. Institutional loan(Cont.)
3. Second addendum to the institutional loan agreei@monit.)

D. Indemnification agreement The previous mutual indemnification
agreement between Property & Building, IDB Development and
IDBG was replaced with a new indemnification agreement between
Property & Building and IDBG, according to which, if at any time the
guarantee is forfeited, and the loan amofatitor par) is repaid by
Property & Building, then Property & Building will be considered as
having provided the institutional loan directly to IDBBroperty &
Building will be able to benefit from all of theqwisions which apply
to the institutional lender, as if Property & Building had signed the
second addendum vévis IDBG. Howe v er , the sale
assets will only be done in accord
shareholders, in accordance wiie current shareholders agreement,
and Property & Building will have priority in the receipt of funds from
IDBG. For the avoidance of doubt, all of Property & Buildmgghts
will in any casebe subordinated to the rights of the bank loan.

E. Property & Biilding and IDB Development undertook towards the
institutional lender that so long as the loan agreerfieciuding the
addendurpremains in effect, will not be required to repay funds on
account of the shareholder loans, as defined aldowedebt of IDBG
towards Property & Building and IDB Development will be
subordinated and deferred after the repayment of the debts in
accordance with the institutional loan agreeméntluding the
addendum

F. In August 2021, the parties signed an update to the new
indemnification agreement, in which it was determined, inter alia, that
if, as a condition for the refinancing or the extension of the current
bank loan, the lender demands the repayment of the institutional loan,
Property & Building will repay the loan, nondluding interest
payments and any prepayment pengltiBgpayment in this way by
Property & Building will be considered as if the guarantee which was
given by Property & Building for
institutional loanagreement had been realized, with respect to the
aforementioned amounts which it paid with respect to the guarantee.
Additionally, inter alia, the parties agreed to add the following
conditions:(A) the interest during the first 12 months will be similar
to the current interest on the institutional lo@); After the end of the
period of the first 12 months, if the loan has not been repaid in full by
IDBG, the interest will be updated according to the interest rate
practiced in the market for similar loaf©m third parties. The
agreement also includes a mechanism for determining the interest rate
in case of the parties do not agree.
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A. Assest and Liabilities of Disposal Groups Held for SaléCont.)

5. IDBG (Cont.)

G. As stated in section 5.A. above, in January 2022, after the date of the
statement of financial position, Property & Building repaid the
aforementioned institutional loan in Janua@2?2, after the date of the
statement of financial position, and Property & Building is considered
as having provided the institutional loan directly to IDBG, and is
entitled to repayment amounts on the transaction closing date.

D. Framework agreement
On September 20, 2015, approval was
general meeting, in accordance with section 275 of the Companies Law, after
approval was given by Property & Buil
Directors, for the engagement in anegment(t he A Ag)xfa ¢thement o
provision of a collateral facility in favor of a financing entity and/or for the
provision of credit in the total amount of up to USD 50 millithe
fFacilityo,) of whi ch USD 25 million is wit
shar@ between Property & Buildin¢he lendey and IDBG (the borrowey,
IDB Development and Meniv Investments L¢d. M e n),iwhich is a wholly
owned subsidiary of IDB Development.
The agreement included a conversion mechanism, according to whiuod, at t
end of the loan period, or earlier upon the occurrence of a breach(éneent
ALoan Ter mi)nnsdfar asrther® wilt stillbbe a priority amount
which has not been repaid to Property & Building, the parties will act in
accordance with the conson mechanism specified in the agreement, in a
manner whereby the entire debt balance will be converted to share capital of
IDBG, which will be allocated by IDBG to Property & Building and to
Meniv, and to their transfere€according to their proportiohgart in the
debt balance and in favor of the repayment of sharehaisldoans which
will be allocated by IDBG to Property & Building and to IDB Development
and to their transferees. The value of IDBG and the conversion ratio will be
determined by an ¢arnal valuer in accordance with the mechanism specified
in the agreement.
The entire facility has been used through the provision of credit in the amount
of USD 50 million.
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A. Assets and Liabilities of Disposal Groups Held for SaléCont.)

5. IDBG (Cont.)
D. Framework agreemefi€ont.)

On September 20, 2019, the loan period concluded, and in accordance with
the provisions of théramework agreement, the mechanism specified in the
agreement, according to which IDBG will allocate to Property & Building
additional shares of IDBG, was activatddiditionally, in accordance with
the same mechanism, the terms of the entire balancebbfwdech was
provided by Property & Building in accordance with the framework
agreement will be changed to the same terms as the current shareholder loans,
and Property & Buildingés share in th
shareholder loanswil be i n accordance with Prop
stake in I DBG6s share capital, after
allocation. During the period until the implementation of the update in
practice, the balance of debt in accordance with thedwork agreement
will continue accruing interest in accordance with the provisions of the
agreementOn February 17, 2020, the allocation and the change in the loan
terms, as stated above, were implemented in pradteeratio which was
used to perfornthe allocation was determined according to the average of
three valuations which were prepared by external independent valuers, which
determined that, after the performance of the aforementioned allocation,
Property & Buil di ngodtaof IDBG willameuntso i@ n t |
74. 18 %, and the Companyds interests
amount to 25.82%.
Property & Building continued accounting for its investment in IDBG as a
joint venture accounted by the equity method, due toettistence of a
shareholders agreement between Property & Building and IDB Development
regarding t he paratcordirggdo whiahkkoddngag sachi n | L
of the parties holds at least 25% of the interests in IDBG, no changes will be
madetothecomosi ti on of | DBG6s Board of Di
Until the date of the aforementioned change, the sharel®ldans which
Property & Building had previously given to IDBG were presented at fair
value through profit or loss, and the debt in accordance with threetvark
agreement was presented at amortized cost, which, as at the date of the
change, was identical to its fair vali&ince the date of the aforementioned
change, all of the sharehol@toans which Property & Building provided to
IDBG are presented as fair value through profit or los$n light of the
foregoing, the activation of the mechanism had no effect on results.
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5. IDBG (Cont.)
E. Loans from shareholders
Property & Building and IDB Development provided loans to IDBG for the
purpose of project financingn January 2019 Property & Building and IDB
Development amortized a part of the balance of the loan and the accrued
interest, except for the balance of loan principal in the amount of
approximately USD 100 milliofPr operty & BuUSD®&0 ngods
million). The shareholder loans bear interest of 6.14% beginning from
January 2019, and are repayable on December 31, 83684ection 5.D. of
this note for details regarding the realization of the loan facility.
On March 5, 2021, an additional update te #inareholder loan agreement
(t he AUpdat e t)aovastsigned, iAghicle thenparties amended
the shareholder loan agreemeXd.part of the update to the agreement it was
determined, inter alia, that the only source for the repayment of theigoans
| BDGO6s real éhe Tieoli peojeq), wbigh are heid directly or
through share@ h e @ Re c o ) ltveae claAfisdstieat thee Ghareholder
loans constitute nerecourse loans, such that the borrowers will not have
right of recourse wit respect to the shareholder loémswith respect to any
amount that is owed in accordance with the shareholder loans agrgement
with respect to any other asset of IDBG, except for the recourse assets.
In case IDBG sell¢directly or indirectly all or some of the recourse assets,
the amount of the shareholder loans, and any interest which has not yet been
paid and accrued in respect thereof, up to the amount of the proceeds from
the aforementioned sale, will be demanded for immediate repayment, in
acordance with a decision of Property & Building and IDB Development,
subject to the priority which has been given to the financing entities, and
provided that this does not adversel
payment s, emp | oy esecurrerd pagmenteis cormnaction | DB G
with the assets which it uses for its operating activities.
F. Attachment of financial statements of a material joint venture

Attached to these financial statements are the financial statements as at
December 312021, of IDBG, a material associate which is accounted for at
equity.
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5. IDBG (Cont.)
G. Impact of the coronavirus pandemiDue to the coronavirus crisis, and after

the center in the Tivoli project was mostly closed beginning on March 24,
2020, I n accordance with the authori
following coordination and adjustments, the center wagpened a May
15, 2020, subject to restrictions which were announced by the auth@iies.
June 1, 2021, the authorities lifted all of the restrictions, and on July 20, 2021,
following another wave of coronavirus infections, new restrictions were
imposed inconnection with mask wearing in certain locatioi$iese
guidelines have been updated several times sinceftheraccupancy rate in
the project before the coronavirus crisis began was approximately 73%.
During the closure period, several lessees encmatéfficulties, and some
announced the discontinuation of their activity in the profeeteral tenants
also announced that they would not extend their lease agreements in the
project, which are about to expire. However, during the same period, several
new contracts were signed, such that
78% as at the end of December 2021.
As at proximate to the publication date of the report, approximately 98% of
rent billed with respect to 2021 has been collecdsdat the pblication date
of the financial statements, IDBG is working to complete the sale of its assets,
as stated in section A. above, and it believes that even if the sale is not
compl et ed, based on the aforementi on:¢
flow forecast will allow it to remain with cash inflows in 2022.
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5. IDBG (Cont.)
H. Presented below is a summary of the details of IDBG, a significant joint

venture, as at December 31, 2021 and Z0@6rating results for the years
20192021 (without adjustment for the ownership rates which are held
by Property & Building (NIS millions):

2021 2020

Operating segment Real estate and residentia
Country of incorporation United States
Main location of the business operation United States
Rate of ownership in capitédo) 74.18
Rate in voting right$%o) 50 50
Cash andtash equivalents 26 23
Current assets 718 29
Non-current assets - 770
Current financial liabilitiegexcluding trade

payables, other payables and provisjons 680 153
Total current liabilitiegincluding shareholder 718 196
loang
Noncurrent financial liabilitiegexcluding

trade payables, other payables and provi$ic - 603
Total noncurrent liabilities - 603
Total net asset@iabilities) (total assets less

total liabilities) - -
The Groufis share in net assdtmbilities) - -
Shareholdé&s loans which were given by 211 281
Property & Building
Adjustment for the G (119 (118
Value of the joint venture in the books 96 163

2021 2020 2019
Income 45 38 45
Financing income, né? 66 67 15
Loss from continuing operations and total 3 (16
comprehensive lo§s -
The Grougs share in comprehensive loss - 2 (8)
The Groupbs share in
income with respect to shareholder loans (61 (69 (32

®1ncluding finance income with respect to shareholder loans in the amou 81 88 52
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6. Residential construction in Israel

Further to that stated in Note 3.G.2.Bahove, regarding the resolution of Property
& Buil dingbés Board of Directors to inst
begin the process of evalwuating the dis
all or part of its activity in the residential cgtruction segment in Israel, some of
the residential construction activities in Israel, which Property & Building intends
to reali ze, are presented in the Compa
December 31, 2021, as assets and liabilities of degpoups held for sale.
In February 2022, after the date of the statement of financial position, a wholly
owned subsidiary of Property & Buildifg h e 7 S u)lpublishied sareqyeét for
offers to purchase all of its interests in land reserves, imgubose with residential
designation, located near Mandarin Hotel in North Tel AY¥afo, in which
Property & Building holds, through the subsidiary, approximately 46% of the
interests in a land division with an area of approximately 27 dun@nes
subsd i ar y 6-sappehinztele 13 dunams; h e  0).LOa Mdrah 7, 2022,
Property & Buildingds Boar d (thfougther ect or
subsidiary in a sale agreeme(tt h e fA Sal e)whAhgarthedeparsy,whidh is
unaffiliated with Proprty & Building (t h e f)B forytersale of all of its
interests and liabilities in connection with the land, in its current condit&ni ,)
for a total consideration of NIS 347 million, plus CPI linkage differentials, and plus
VAT (t he @ Co romniihd eonsaldération will be paid in two paymenthe
first payment in the amount of NIS 69 milligqwhich constitutes approximately
20% of the consideratiQrwas paid on the signing date of the sale agreement, in
escrow, t o t he taivwe;lardithd seeaondypéyment iretperamauet n
of NIS 278 million(which constitutes approximately 80% of the consideratiolh
be paid on the date when the land is transferred to the subsith@rgngagement
in the sale agreement, and its entry inte&tffare conditional upon the fulfillment
of suspensory conditions pertaining to registering the subsidiary at the Land
Registry as the owner of the land, following an update, as required, at the Tax
Authority, regarding transfers from a trustee to a bery in accordance with the
provisions of section 69 of the Land Taxation LéBetterment and Purchgse
57231963(t he A Sus pens)dbdyno la@rotimad 12t mowoths @fter the
signing date of the sale agreemedmisofar as the suspensory conditi@annot
fulfilled within the aforementioned time period, the subsidiary will be entitled, in
its exclusive discretion, to extend the deadline for fulfillment of the suspensory
condition by another 90 day period. In accordance with the sale agreemengdas stat
above, the closing of the transaction and the transfer of possession of the land will
be performed by no later than 60 days after the fulfilment date of the suspensory
condition in practice, but no less than 60 days after the signing date of the sale
agreement.Property & Building is expected to record, with respect to the
transaction, on the transaction closing date, p(after tay in the amount of NIS
261 million. DIG3 share in the profit is expected to be NIS 165 million.
It is hereby clarified that there is no certainty regarding the closing of the
transaction, due to the ndulfillment of the suspensory condition, or due to factors
which do not depend on the subsidiary, including due to a breach of the provisions
of thesale agreement by the buyer.
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B. Discontinued operations

1. HSBC Tower
A. Sale agreement

On July 1, 2021, Pr olprectots instréctedRrapdrtgd i n g 0 ¢
& Buil dingdbs management to begin the
Property & Buil di ng 6BorthispurgbsenRyoperty&@ HS B!
Building engaged, in September 2021, with real estate investment bankers,
which accompanied Property & Building through the process of evaluation and
sale of HSBC TowerOn December 2, 2021, Property & Building engaged
(through a wholly owned subsidigryin a sale agreemenft h e ASal e
A g r e e iar the sale of all of its interesand liabilities in the tower, in its
current condition( & s ), isgbject to the repayment of a loan from an
American bank, as stated in section B. below, the balance of which, as at
December 31, 2021, was approximately USD 377 miliora buyer whichs
a third party unaffiliated with Property & Building, for a total consideration of
USD 855 million(t h e A Co n ¥ subjestrtoahte adpstndents which were
determined in the sale agreemeéntaccordance with the provisions of the sale
agreement, @ buyer deposited with a trustee, on account of the consideration,
a hard(irrevocabl@ deposit in the amount of USD 30 millioAdditionally, in
accordance with the provisions of the sale agreement, the transaction closing
date was expected to be April2D22.The buyer was also given the possibility
to postpone the closing date by two periods of 30 days each, in exchange for
increasing the hard deposit in the amount of USD 5 million with respect to
each extensiofi.e., in case of realization of the pimbkty which was given to
the buyer to postpone the closing date, twice, by 30 days each time, the total
deposit amount will be USD 40 millignOn March 20, 2022, after the date of
the statement of financial position, the buyer notified Property & Biglaif
the postponement of the closing date to May 1, 2B22arallel with its notice,
the buyer increased the hdidevocablg deposit which was deposited with
the trustee by USD 5 million, and it now stands at a total of USD 35 million.
Subject to te completion of the transaction, Property & Building expects to
receive net cash flows in the amount of USD 330 million, which are equivalent,
as at proximate to the publication date of the report, to NIS 1.1 bilkdter
the repayment of the aforemenmied bank loan; Estimated payments to tax
authorities; Payments of tax withheld at source; Payment to Rock Real Estate
Partners Limited, as stated in section D. below; Sale costs and fees.
In consideration of the expected consideration from the transaatid in light
of the costs specified above, Property & Building included, in its financial
statements for 2021, net loss in the amount of USD 35 mi(lMi& 108
million), the Companyds share in the | os:
recorded under discantied operations.
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B. Discontinued operations(Cont.)

1. HSBC Tower(Cont.)

Property & Buildingbés investment in ¢
hold the towellt he A Amer i c ainclude®themeagativeebalance of
the translation reserve for foreign operatinsh e A Tr an s l)ahei on Re
balance of which,asatbc e mber 31, 2021, in Proper:
statement s, amounted to NI'S 265 mil/|
principal was NI'S 157 million. Il n acc:
policy, as stated in Note 2.A.8bove, the balance of thmmslation reserve, as
at the closing date of the transactio
statement of income, with no effect on the balance of capital attributable to the
Companys owners.
As at the publication date of the financial statetegProperty & Building and
the buyer are working towards closing the transaciibe. closing of the sale
transaction is uncertain, and it is possible that it will not be closed, due to
factors which are outside of Property
In light of the aforementioned sale, the activity of the HSBC Tower is
presented, in the Companyds statement
31, 2021, as assets and liabilities of disposal groups held for sale, and the
operating results for the year endedcBmber 31, 2021, were classified as a
di scontinued operation i n t hdhe Comp a
comparative figures in the statements of income and in the statement of cash
flows were adjusted retrospectively, in order to also present the adaifvity
HSBC Tower separately from continuing operations.
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Discontinued operations(Cont.)

B.

1.

HSBC Tower (Cont.)

B. Materialcredit- credit for the HSBC Tower in New York

On June 28, 2012, two American corporations which are wholly owned
(indirectly) by Property & Building(452 Fifth Owners LLQ 462 Owners)

and

i ts

whol |y o wn e d Propantyp €amganiesy),y , |

engaged with the American bank J.P. Morgan Chase Bank(tN /A Banki),
in agreements for the provision of a loan in the total amount of USD 400
million, the main terms of which areesgified below:

Name of lender -

Loan receipt date

Original loan
amount

Balance of the loan

as at the date of the

statement of

financial position

Principal

repayment date

Interest rate

Linkage mechanism

Collateral

Right of recourse to

the Company

Cross
mechanism

default -

J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.

June 2012.

USD 400 millionThe loan is comprised of a primary loan in the amour
USD 300 million(t h e A Pr i yaad aysecandaayroan in the amol
of USD 100 milliont he A Secondary Loano

USD 377 million (NIS 1,173 millior).

The principal of the primary loan is repayable beginning from the sixth
after its provision, in accordance with a 30 year amortization schedu
monthly payments. The principal balance bé tloan is due in a singl
payment at the end of the loan period, on July 1, 2022.

Fixed annual interest at an average rate of 5.@4%ulated according to 36
days per year reflects an effective interest rate of 5.23% per y€bne
interest is paid on a monthly basis.

The loan is in USD.

To secure the repayment of the primary loan, a first priority mortgage
recorded on the HSBC Tower and the land on which it was built, as w
additiona pledges according to the conventional practice in re
agreements and the rent due to the property, on the bank accounts as:
with the operation of the property, pledge of insurance receipts, rights
refunds in connection with the propergjc.

To secure the repayment of the secondary loan, a first priority pledg
recorded with respect to all of the rights in 452 Owners.

The loan is nofrecourse towards Property & Building and/or towards
property companiesA wholly owned subsidiary of Property & Building
which wholly owns the property, indirectfghe fiSubsidiary )rovided a
guarantee, unrestricted in amount, for the payment of all losses whicl
be incurred by the bank as a resulspécial cases only which were defin
(carve out guarantgewhich are acceptable cases in agreements of this
(such as fraud, misrepresentation,)eteroperty & Building also provided
carve out guarantee, restricted up to an amount of USD 12®Bmni
Additionally, each of the property companies and the subsidiary unde
to indemnify the bank with respect to any losses which it may incur, wii
restriction as to amount, as a result of cases pertaining to dangerous m
and the environmen

Any breach the primary loan will constitute a breach of the secondary
but not vice versa.
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B. Discontinued operations(Cont.)
1. HSBC Tower
B. Material credit- Credit for the HSBC Tower in New YoilCont)
Presented below are details regarding the main terms of thédoanh)

Additional restrictions 1. All receipt funds which are due the operation of the HSBC Tower are deposi
in designated accounts which are pledged to Morgan Bank. These funt
transferred throughout the lifetime of the loan to the 452 Owners following
routine repayment of the loan principal and the intengdt respect to itln the
following cases, the receipt of funds held in the designated accounts be
increased until the event has been corrected or discontinued:

1 Any breach of the agreement will constitute grounds for demandirighthediate
repayment of the loan.
1 Any insolvency and/or bankruptcy proceedings of 452 Owners.

1 In the event that the quarterly debt service coverage(thtaatio between the ne
operating income for the period and the total principal and inteagshgnts with
respect to the loan in the same peyisdower than 1.05.

o In case of nosrenewal of the lease agreement by HSBC I{#imk primary lessee ir
the building, or the vacation of the area of the leased property before the end
lease period, without replacement with another lessee, in accordance with the
which were specified in the agreement.

2. Acceptance of loans and additional debts by the property company requir

bankds approval; h o w e v kerreceivadd slibjecti t th

fulfillment of certain criteria as determined in the agreement.

Additional pledges on or in connection with the HSBC Tower may not be crea

4. The ownership rights with respect to the HSBC Tower and the assodgdteslare
transferable subject to the assignt
consent will not be required in case of a transfer of rights, insofar as Prope
Building (directly or indirectly continues holding at least 25% of the HS®@er
and its associated rights, and continues holding the control of 452 Owners. Th
no restrictions on a change in the holdings of Property & Building, so lon
Property & Building remains a public company.

w

5. Engagements with materil@ssees, related parties or in connection with main |
of the HSBC Tower are subject to approval from the bank.

6. Securities of the 452 Owners cannot be sold, transferred, pledged or issued,
stated above, and excluding other permitted trassfe

7. The form of incorporation of the property companies may not be changed, an

undertook to operate in a single area of engagement as the building corporatir

not to change the operating segment.
Grounds for demanding In case of a breach of the aforementioned restrictions in connection with a pledge
the immediate Pui lding or a transfer of the rights t
fulfillment of certain conventionalrgunds in agreements of this kind, the bank will
entitled to demand the immediate repayment of the loan, to make use of the funds wt
deposited in the aforementioned designated accounts, to seize the control of the builc
to manage it, andtwork to forfeit the guaranteeBhe property company fulfills all of the
aforementioned restrictions.

Compliance with covenants and restrictions on distribution

the borrower undertook that ¢tDSERwilnotfakbelowl®ds, debt s
according to a quarterly assessméinthe property companies does not fulfill this test, a cash sweep
mechanism will be activated, under which the lbavill now allow distributions from the property

(A L o0l P e)rTheocdsh flows from operating activities which will arise for the borrower during

the lockup period will be deposited in a separate account, and will be used by the borrower for the
purpose of its operating activities, without the possibility of distributing it to the parent compaay.

loan agreement includes a mechanism for releasing the cash sweep.

repayment of the credit

As at December 31, 2021, the lender is fulfilling the required (&®CR for the burth quarter of
2021- 1.38.
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Note 12 - Assets and Liabilities of Disposal Groups Held for Sale and Results of

Discontinued Operations(Cont.)

B. Discontinued operations(Cont.)

1. HSBC Tower(Cont.)
C. Fair value update
In the second quarter &#021 the value of HSBC Tower was updated in
accordance with a valuation prepared by an independent valuer in the United
States, to USD 865 milliomue to the update to the valuation of HSBC Tower,
net profit arose for Property & Building in the secondrtgraof 2021 in the
amount of NIS 10 million, with the Col
million, mostly due to the reduction of the capitalization rate by 0.25%, the
increase in the growth forecasts and rental prices in the coming years, relative
to the decrease in the probability of the renewal of new contracts, and the
decrease in the effective occupancy rate over the y€hesvaluation was
prepared by discounting the future cash flows which are expected to arise from
the propertyThe capitalzation rate which was used by the valuer was 6%, and
assumed NOI during the realization year was USD 58.5 million.
As at December 31, 2021, the toweros
expected consideration from the transaction, as stated inrsécéibove.
D. Provision with respect to agreement with Rock Real

In 2009, the Audit Committee and Board of Directors of Property & Building
approved the engagement of Property & Building in an agreement with Rock
Real Estate Partners LimitddRock Reab,)under which Rock Real will
initiate and offer to Property & Building, from time to time, to acquire rights
to real estate properties outside of Isiadadal estate properties)will assist
in negotiations in connection with the acquisition of the retdte properties
and in the receipt of financing to acquire them, will accompany and coordinate
the acquisition until its completion, will provide strategic consulting services
with respect to the management and betterment of real estate properties, and
will assist in the identification of transactions for the sale of the real estate, and
the implementation thereof, in accordance with the requirements of Property
& Building (thefiAgreemend .)In consideration of each of the transactions for
the acquisitionof real estate properties in which Property & Building will
engage and which have been offered to it by Rock Real, and accompanied by
it, as stated above, Property & Building will pay to Rock Real a consideration
at a rate of 12% of the profit which will aterialize for Property & Building
with respect to the real estate propdityg., total income after deducting all
investments and expenses with respect to the property
Payment will be effected only upon the sale of the real estate property or if,
befae the sale of the real estate asset, Property & Building recoups its entire
investment and expenses with respect to the purchase of the real estate asset
and its management in real values, including from current revenues and from
refinancing as part of merecourse loans to Property & Building, all in
accordance with the conditions and in the manner of the accounting set out in
the aforesaid agreement.
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Note 12 - Assets and Liabilities of Disposal Groups Held for Sale and Results of

Discontinued Operdions (Cont.)

B. Discontinued operations(Cont.)

1. HSBC Tower(Cont.)
D. Provision with respect to agreement with Rock R€aint)

The agreement was approved in the gen:i
& Building in December 2009, for a period of five years; however, upon the
entry into effect of Amendment 16 to the Companies Law, and in accordance
with transitional provisions #rein, the agreement expired in December 2012
(three years after the date of its initial appryval
In January 2017, the Board of Directors of Property & Building adopted a legal
opinion(t h e f O)mécarding to which, inter alia, in light of Amendment
16 to the Companies Law, which requires the ratification of transactions which
were approved in aocdance with section 274 of the Companies Law once
every three years, the agreement expired three years after its original date of
approval, i.e., in December 2012, and therefore, Property & Building contacted
Rock Real in order to determine the congidien which Rock Real will be
entitled to receive in light of the expiration of the agreement, with respect to
the HSBC Tower. Rock Real rejected the assertions of Property & Building
and requested the appointment of an arbitrator to resolve the dispute.
In March 2021, after arbitration proceedings were conducted between the
parties for the purpose of reaching a determination regarding the disputes
between the parties, the arbitration decision was given, which was approved
by the Court, which acceptetht er al i a, Property & Bui
and determined that the agreement had expltedas therefore ruled that
Rock Real is not entitled to the full fee which was specified in the agreement
(12% of profit arising for Property & Building withespect to the
aforementioned propentybut rather to a fee at a rate of 6% of the profit from
the real estate property, to be paid in accordance with the provisions of the
agreement, and according to the calculation method and payment method
defined therm, if and when profit has arisen from the real estate property,

until the date of the propertyds sal e
In accordance with the provisions of IAS 37, Property & Building adopted the
arbitration decision, in the calculation of the provision as at DeceBiher

2020. Property & Building recorded income / expense and a liability with
respect to Rock Real 6s services, in p
decrease in the assetodos fair value, a
The balance of th@rovision as at December 31, 2021 is NIS 41 million
(December 31, 2020NIS 53 million).

For the year ended December :
2021 2020 2019
NIS millions

Income with respect to decrease of the provisic
for Rock Real services 11 96 11
TheCompanydés share inc 7 71 8
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Note 12 - Assets and Liabilities of Disposal Groups Held for Sale and Results of

Discontinued Operations(Cont.)

B. Discontinued operations(Cont.)

1. HSBC Tower(Cont.)
E. Impact of the coronavirus pandemic

In accordance with the instructions of the United States government, the
management of HSBC Tower is continuing to closely monitor the impact of
the coronavirus crisis on its business activities, and it has been in direct contact
with its lessees since thediening of the coronavirus crisis. All of the office
tenants in the tower have paid all of their liabilities in accordance with the lease
agreements in 202As at the reporting date, the collection rate in 2021 was
100% of total rent. The management ofB{STower is unable to estimate the
duration of the effects of the coronavirus pandemic on its activity, since it
depends on future developments which cannot be predicted at thi§ hime.
management of HSBC Tower believes that its financial strengthdiigand
current cash flows will allow it to continue financing its activity and service
its liabilities.

2. Gav-Yam
On July 1, 2019 and September 1, 2019, Property & Building sold approximately
11.7% and approximately 5.1%, respectively, of Gaa m 6ssied share capital,
such that its stake in Ga&am decreased from approximately 51.7% to
approximately 34.9%The net consideration with respect to the aforementioned
sales amounted to a total of NIS 678 million. The aforementioned sales of Gav
Yam sharesaused Property & Building to lose control of Géam. As a result of
the loss of control, as stated above, beginning on September 1, 2019, DIC
discontinued consolidating the reports of &&m in its consolidated financial
statements, and is presenting thvestment in GaYam according to the equity
method.
As a result of the above, profit was recorded in the consolidated report for 2019 in
the amount of NIS 834 million, under the item for profit from discontinued
operations, after tax. The Comp@pghare in the aforementioned profit is NIS 557
million. Due to the sale of Gav Yam shares by Property & Building, as stated above,
Gav Yamdébs operating results until Augus
operation.

3.  Shufersal
On July 26, 2020, DIC sold its entire stake in Shufdieggproximately 26% of its
issued capitd) for a total net consideration of approximately NIS 1,447 million.
Due to the sale, DIC included in 2020 profit in the amount of approximately NIS

39 million. This profit was included under tF
operations, after taxo.
Foll owing the sale of the Companyds ent

Shufersal operation is presented as a discontinued operation.
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Note 12 - Assets and Liabilities of Disposal Groups Held for Sale and Results of
Discontinued Operations(Cont.)
B. Discontinued operations(Cont.)

4. Presented below are details regarding discontinued operations
For the year

ended
December
31, 2021
HSBC Tower
"NIS millions
Income
Sales and services 241
Other income 11
Financing income 1
253
Expenses
Cost of sales anskrvices 114
Decrease in fair value of investment property 145
Financing expenses 66
________________________ 325
Loss before taxes on income (72
Taxes on income (29
Loss from discontinued operations for the year (96)
Loss from discontinued operations for thear attributable to:
The Companyds owner s (57
Non-controlling interests (39
(96)
Other comprehensive loss for the period from discontinued operation
attributed to:
The Companyds owner s (23
Non-controlling interests I ¢ )

(40
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Discontinued Operations(Cont.)
B. Discontinued operations(Cont.)

4.  Presented below are the results of discontinued operatio€ont.)

For the year ended December 31, 2020

HSBC Tower
@ Shufersal TotalV
NIS millions
Income
Sales and services 251 - 251
The Grougis share in the profit of investee companies
accounted by the equity method, net - 44 44
Profit from realization and increase in the value of
investments and assets, and dividends - 39 39
Other income 96 - 96
Financing income 3 - 3
350 83 433
Expenses
Cost of sales and services 111 - 111
Decrease in fair value @rivestment property, net 279 - 279
Financing expenses 72 - 72
462 - 462
Profit (losg before taxes on income (112 83 (29
Taxes on income 42 - 42
Profit (losg from discontinued operations for the
year (70 83 13
Profit (losg from discontinued operations for the year
attributed to:
The Companyds owner s (52 83 31
Non-controlling interests (18 - (18
(70 83 13
Other comprehensive inconfless for the year from
discontinued operations attributable to:
The Companyds owner s (66) 3 (63
Non-controlling interests (23 - (23
(89 3 (86)

(1) Adjusted retrospectively due to the presentation of the HSBC Taetwity under discontinued
operations, see Note 12.Babove.
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B. Discontinued operations(Cont.)

4. Presented below are the results ofiscontinued operations(Cont.)

For the year ended December 31, 2019

HSBC
Tower®  GawYam Shufersal Total?
NIS millions
Income
Sales and services 270 359 - 629
Increase in fair value of investment property, net 39 231 - 270
The Groupbés share in t
companies accounted by the equity method, 1 - 8 56 64
Profit from realization and increase in the value «
investments and assets, and dividends - 8342 - 834
Other income 11 - - 11
Financing income 2 28 - 30
322 1,460 56 1,838
Expenses
Cost of sales and services 121 41 - 162
Selling and marketing expenses - 5 - 5
General and administrative expenses - 18 - 18
Financing expenses 75 106 - 181
196 170 - 366
Profit before taxes on income 126 1,290 56 1,472
Taxes on income (43) (103) - (146)
Profit from discontinued operations for the year 83 1,187 56 1,326
Profit from discontinued operations for the year
attributed to:
The Companyds owner s 57 653 56 766
Non-controlling interests 26 534 - 560
83 1,187 56 1,326
Other comprehensive loss for the year from
discontinued operations attritea to:
The Companyds owner s (94) - (9) (103)
Non-controlling interests (43) - - (43)
(137) - (9) (146)

(1) Adjusted retrospectively due to the presentation of the HSBC Tower activity under discontinued operations, see Note
12.B.1.above.
(2) Capital gains from loss of control of Gaam

146



DIC

Notes to theConsolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2021

Note 12 - Assets and Liabilities of Disposal Groups Held for Sale and Resaltof
Discontinued Operations(Cont.)

B. Discontinued operations(Cont.)
5. Presented below are data regarding net cash are attributed to discontinued

operations:
For the year ended December 31
2021 20209 20199
NIS millions

Net cash from operating activities 153 182 443
Net casHused in) from investing activities (33 1,446 (56)
Net cash used in financing activities (81 (85 (581
Change in cash and cash equivalents from
discontinued operations 39 1,543 (199

(1) Adjusted retrospectively due to the presentation of the HSBC Tower activity under discontinued operations, see
Note 12.B.1above.

Note 13- Cash and Cash Equivalents

As atDecember 31

2021 2020
NIS millions
Balances in banks 727 442
Demand deposits 2,013 3,479
2,740 3,921

For details regarding linkage bases of cash and cash equivalents, see Note 20.E. below.

Note 14- Capital
A. Share capital, in thousands of shares with a par value of NIS 1 each

Ordinary shares

2021 2020

Issued and paidp share capital as at

January 1 153,732 153,653
Exercise of share warrants during the

year - 79
Issued and paidp share capital as at

December 31 153,732 153,732
Treasury shares (12,209 (22,209
Listed equity 141,523 141,523
Registered capital as at January 1 an
December 31 200,000 200,000
Al l of the Companyds ordinary shares ar

Exchange, and are registered by name.
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Note 14i Capital (Cont.)

Capital management policy

The policy of DIC management and of the management of its subsidiaries is to maintain
a stable capital base in order to maintain their ability to continue their activities, in order
to allow them to generate returns for theirrehalders, service their liabilities to other
interested parties therein, such as credit providers and their employees, and in order to
support their future business development.

The Board of Directors of DIC and the boards of directors of its subselsugervise

the amounts of dividend distributions to their shareholders, while evaluating their ability
to fulfill their current and expected liabilities when they come due. As part of the above,
an evaluation is conducted, inter alia, regarding the caghirements of the Groap
member companies, and their potential to generate cash, as reflected in certain financial
ratios and financial covenants, and an evaluation is also performed regarding the
fulfillment of financial covenants which the Graspmemier companies are obligated to

fulfill within the framework of financing documents and issued debentures, as specified
in Note 15 above.

B. For details regarding options which were
General Manager, see N@#.B.4.and Annex B below.

C. In May 2019, DIC published a shelf prospectus based on its financial statements as at
December 31, 2018, according to which DIC will be entitled to offer to the public, inter
alia, shares, debentures convertible into shares,convertible debentures, warrants
exercisable into shares and into debentures, and marketable securities. In May 2021, the
| srael Securities Authority approved an e
dated May 22, 2019, for one additional ye&rcordingly, the Company will be able to
offer securities in accordance with the shelf prospectus until May 21, 2022.

D. 1 The Company did not distribute dividends in 2021 and 2020.

T On January 17, 2019, DI Cés Board
distribution in cash in the amount of NIS 0.275 per share, reflecting a to
approximately NIS 40 million, as well as a payment in kind dividend of 0.58!
value, persharf | DB Dev el op (Peried)dreflectthg dtetal of
NIS 64 million, according to the market value of the debent{8eses ) on the
distribution date. The total sum of the distributed dividend amounted to NI¢
million, which was paid ofrebruary 3, 2019.

E  For details regarding subsidiaries in which the-nontrolling interests are material, see
Note 3.E above.

F.  For details regarding the options plans of subsidiaries, see Annex B below.
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G. Earnings (los9 per share
1. Basic earnings(los9 per share, based on the following figures:

For the year ended December 3:
2021 2020V 20199

NIS millions
A. Earnings (los9 attributed to holders of ordinary shares
Profit (losg attributable to holders of ordinary shares from
continuing operations 266 (586) (752
Difference with respect to the Compdeghare in the results o
investee companies - - (3)
Profit (los9 attributable to holders of ordinary shares from
continuing operations 266 (589 (759
Profit (los9 attributed to holders of ordinary shares from
discontinued operations (57) 31 766
B. Weighted average of number of ordinary shares, in
thousands of shares with a par value of NIS 1 each
Balance as at January 1 141,523 141,444 151,477
Impact of warrants exercised into shares - 73 -
Impact of the acquisition of treasury shares - - (9,59)
Weighted average of number of ordinary shares used to
calculate basic earnings per share 141,523 141,517 141,886

(1) Adjusted retrospectively due to the presentation of the HSBC Tower activity under
discontinued operations, see N@&B.1.above.

2. Diluted earnings (los9 per share, based on the following figures:

For the year ended December 31
2021 20209 20199
NIS millions
A. Earnings (los9 attributed to holders of ordinary shares(diluted)
Profit (losg attributable to holders of ordinary share

from continuing operations 266 (586 (752
Difference with respect to the Compdshare in

the results of investee companies - - ©)
Profit (los9 attributed to holders of ordinary shares

(diluted) from continuing operations 266 (586 (759
Profit (losg attributed to holders of ordinary shares

(diluted) from discontinued operations (57) 31 766

B. Weighted average of number of ordinary shares, in
thousands of sharegdiluted)

Weighted average of number of ordinary shares u

to calculate basic earnings per share 141,523 141,517 141,886
Impact of warrants 673 - 835
Weighted average of humber of ordinary shares u

to calculate diluted earnings per share 142,196 _ 141,517 142,721

The average mar ket value of the Company
the diluting effect of the warrants for shares, Wwased on quoted market prices for
the period during which the warrants were outstanding.

(1) Adjusted retrospectively due to the presentation of the HSBC Tower activity under
discontinued operations, see Note 12.BHove.
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H.

Movement in comprehensive incomégloss

Net profit (losg for the year

Other components of comprehensive incomgoss
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign

operations, net of tax

The Groujds share in other comprehensive incqines
with respect to investee companies accounted by the el

method

Other items of other comprehensive loss
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive incoméloss for the year

For the year ended December 31

2021 2020 2019
Total Total Total
capital capital capital
attributed attributed attributed
to the Non- to the Non- to the Non-
Companycontrolling Total Companycontrolling Total Compangcontrolling Total
sowners interests capital s owners interests capital s owners interests capital
NIS millions
266 401 667 (555 (242 (797 14 303 317
(30) (28) (58) (67) (37) (109 (99 (66) (169
3 2 5 ()] - a7 (38) - (38
: : : : : : ¢ 2 (4)
(27) (26) (53 (84 (37 (121 (139 (68 (207)
239 375 614 (639 (279 (918 (129 235 110
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Note 15- Debentures, Loans from Banks and Other Financial Liabilities at Amortized Cost

A. Non-current liabilities

1. Debentures

As at December 31

2021 2020
NIS millions
Debentured 8,956 10,230
After deducting current maturities (1,422 (1,489
7,534 8,741
(A) Debentures:
As at December 31, 2021
Stated Principal
interest pa Par value Book value
repayment
Series Linkage base % date NIS millions
1. Company
(see also section C. belpw Series F CPI 495 20252017 734 901
Series J Unlinked 4.80 20262021 1,417 1,430
Series K Unlinked 3.40 20272023 500 497
2,651 2,828
Current maturities (519
2,317
2. Property & Building
(Seealso section D.2 below  Series D CPI 495 20252020 878 1,091
Series F CPI 4.95 20232015 247 263
Series G Unlinked 7.05 20252015 264 278
Series H CPI 2.85 20292018 66 68
Series | Unlinked 3.95 20292018 1,669 1672
3,124 3,372
Current maturities (528
2,844
3. Cellcom
(See also section D.below) Series H CPI 1.98 20242018 456 450
Series | Unlinked 4.14 20252018 450 442
Series J CPI 2.45 20262021 88 90
Series K Unlinked 3.55 20262021 604 601
Series L Unlinked 2.50 20282023 1,225 1.173
2,823 2,756
Current maturities (383
2,373
Total Debentures 8,956
Current maturities (1,422
7,534
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Note 15- Debentures, Loans from Banks and Other Financialiabilities at Amortized Cost (Cont.)
A. Non-current liabilities (Cont.)
1. Debentures(Cont.)

As at December 31, 2020
Stated -
- Principal
Linkage interest repayment Par value  Book value
Series base % date NIS millions
4. Company
(see also section C.
below) Series F CPI 495 20252017 1,079 1,291
Series J Unlinked 5.05 20262021 1,955 1,975
3,034 3,266
Current maturities (587
2,679
5. Property & Building
(See also section D.2
below) Series D CPI 495 20252020 1,098 1,334
Series F CPI 4.95 20232015 371 387
Series G Unlinked 7.05 20252015 330 351
Series H CPI 2.85 20292018 68 68
Series | Unlinked 3.95 20292018 1,721 1,725
3,588 3,865
Current maturities (526)
3,339
6. Cellcom
(See also section D.1.
below) Series H CPI 1.98 20242018 608 579
Series | Unlinked 4.14 20252018 563 550
Series J CPI 2.45 20262021 103 104
Series K Unlinked 3.55 20262021 711 707
Series L Unlinked 2.50 20282023 1,225 1,159
3,210 3,099
Current maturities (376)
2,723
Total Debentures 10,230
Current maturities (1,489
8,741
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A. Non-current liabilities (Cont.)

2. Loans from banks and other financial liabilities:

As at December 31

2021 2020
NIS millions
Loans from banks and financial institutiofs 202 1,637
Loans from others 26 -
After deducting current maturities (82 (230
146 1,407
Liabilities with respect to combination
transaction®’ 9 14
Other liabilities 1 42
After deducting current maturities 9 (15
1 41
Total 147 1,448
(1) Loans from banks and financial institutions
Interest
As at December
Linkage 31 As at December 31
base 2021 2021 2020
% NIS millions
Cellcom Unlinked - 188
Property & Building (see also
section D.2.C. beloy uUsD - 1,227
Mehadrin Unlinked 2554 152 159
EUR 0.935 40 53
Others Unlinked 2.93.3 10 7
usD - 3
202 1,637
(2) Liabilities with respect to combination transactions
As at December 31
2021 2020
NIS millions
Balance of thdiability with respect to
construction services* 15 14
* Includes a balance which is presented under
non-current liabilities, in the item for other
nonfinancial liabilities 6 -
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Note 15- Debentures, Loans from Banks and Other Financial Liabilities at Amortized Cos(Cont.)

B. Current liabilities

As at December 31

2021 2020
NIS millions

Current maturities of debentures 1,422 1,489
Credit from banking corporations and current
maturities of loans
from banks and others
Loans from banks and financial institutions
and current maturities
Current maturities of loans banks and financial
institutions 82 230
Shortterm loan& 177 128

259 358
Other short term liabilities and current maturities
Current maturities of other liabilities 9 15
Other short term liabilities - /

9 22
268 380

(1) Interest rate as at December 31, 20212%2.3%.

C. Main changes in 2021 in the long term liabilities and financial covenants of DIC

1.

In September 2021, DIC issued NIS 500 million par value of deber{tteess K, a new

series which was listed on the stock exchange, by way of an exchange offer, against
approximately NIS 162 million par value of DIC debentu(8gries fr and against
appoximately NIS 254 million par value of DIC debentu(&eries )l The debentures
(Series F and Serieg which were purchased according to the exchange offer were
canceled and delisted from the stock exchange.

The exchange of some of the debent&ezies F and Serie$ @ith debenture¢Series

K), which have significantly different terms, was accounted for as the settlement of the
original existing financial liabilitfdebenture¢Series F and Serie} Jandthe recognition

of a new financial liability at fair valugdebenture¢Series K). The difference between

the settlement of the liability and the recognition of the liability, as stated above, in the
amount of NIS 38 million, was recorded as +fuash lossn 2021.

The debenture@vhich are not CRlinked) bear fixed(unlinked annual interest at a rate

of 3.4% (effective interest rate of 3.5%r he interest will be paid in two payments each
year, on December 31, 2021 and on June 30 and December 31 of each of the years 2022
to 2027(inclusive). The principal of the debentures is repayable in five annual payments,
four payments at a rate of 10%tbe principal will be paid on December 31 of each of

the years 2023 to 20ZBhclusive, and one payment at a rate of 60% of the principal will

be paid on December 31, 2027.
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Note 15- Debentures, Loans from Banks and Other Financial Liabilities at Amorized Cost(Cont.)

C. Main changes in 2021 in the long term liabilities and financial covenants of DIGCont.)

2.

Terms of the debenturéSeries Yand(Series K (theiDebentures )

Presented below are details regarding the main terms of the debéBenies J and K

which were issued by DI€debentures which are not secured by any collateral.

In accordance with the provisions of the deeds of trust, the interest rate whichpaiitibe

to the debenture holde¢Series J and Kwill be adjusted in the following cases: in case

of a reduction in the rating given for the debentures by one notch or more below a rating

of iIBBB, the stated interest rate will be increased by 0.25% pet ged by a rate of

0.25% per year with respect to each additional reduced rating notch, up to a maximum

cumulative interest addition of 1% and 0.75% for the debentBeges Jand(Series K,

respectively, for one year, at the most.

Additionally, theinterest rate will be adjusted in case of +iolillment by DIC of the

financial covenants, if DIC fails to meet any of the financial covenants specified below:

A. DICG net asset value falls below NIS 1.1 billion, and additionally, the ratio between
the netfinancial debt and DI asset value increases beyond 75% and 70% of the
debenture¢Series Jand(Series K, respectively.

B. The ratio between DI net financial debt and its asset value exceeds 85% and 82.5%,
with respect to the debenturg&eries Jarnd (Series K, respectively.

C. The ratio between DI@ capital and DIG total balance sheet falls below 12.5% and
16% with respect to the debentu(8gries Jand(Series K, respectively.

Insofar as DIC deviates from any of the financial covenants, which will be evaluated as at
the date of the financial statemefqsiarterly and/or annuglthe stated interest rate will
increase at a rate of 0.25% per year with respect to a deviation fisoof ¢he financial
covenants specified in sections A and C abfgfvéhe covenant specified in section C
above is canceled, the interest rate with respect to the deviation from the provisions of
section A above will be updated to 0.5%nd a rate of 0.5%er year with respect to any
deviation from the financial covenant specified in section B above.

The additional interest with respect to a deviation from the financial covenants referenced
in sections AC above will be at a maximum additional interesitf per year.

It is hereby clarified that if and insofar as an adjustment of the interest rate is required, in
accordance with the mechanism described in sectie@saBove, and in accordance with

the mechanism described regarding a change in the detsémaineg, as stated above,
then in any case, the maximum joint cumulative rate of the additional interest will not
exceed 1.75% per year above the original stated intere¢4r@% and 3.4% with respect

to the debenturg$Series Jand(Series K, respetively).

Additionally, with respect to the debentures (Series K), DIC undertook to fulfill a
financi al covenant which stipulated that
balance sheet, on a standalone basis, will be no less than 15%, fimdeopévo

consecutive quarters. Failure to fulfill the foregoing covenant will constitute grounds for
demanding immediate repayment of the debentures (Series

K).
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